International Ph.D. Program in Neuroscience XXXIV Cycle

Novel Psychometric tools for the diagnosis and treatment of Mild Cognitive Impairment and Alzheimer's Disease

Ph.D. Thesis

Giovanna Furneri

Coordinator: Prof. Claudio Bucolo Tutor: Prof. Filippo Drago Co-Tutor Prof. Filippo Caraci



Department of Biomedical and Biotechnological Sciences University of Catania – Medical School

2022

Table of contents

List of abbreviations

Abstract

Introduction

- 1. Alzheimer's disease (AD)
- 2. Mild Cognitive Impairment (MCI)
- 3. Neuropsychological evaluation in MCI and AD
- 4. Current pharmacological treatment
- 5. Non-pharmacological treatment
- 6. The role of apathy

Chapter I

Cognitive dysfunction in late life depression and Alzheimer Disease: the impact of physical activity.

Chapter II

The link between Apathy and Alzheimer's Disease: the role of psychometric tools and the possible implications for the treatment

Chapter III

The Apathy Evaluation Scale (AES-C): Psychometric properties and invariance of Italian version in Mild Cognitive Impairment and Alzheimer's disease

Chapter IV

The combined use of Mini-Mental State Examination with Montreal Cognitive Assessment to evaluate the clinical efficacy of cholinesterase inhibitors in Mild Alzheimer's disease patients

General discussion and conclusions

References

List of abbreviations

AD	Alzeimer Disease		
ADL	Activities of Daily Living		
AES	Apathy Evaluation Scale		
ALS	amyotrophic lateral sclerosis		
aMCI	Amnestic mild cognitive impairment		
APOE	Apolipoprotein E		
APP	β-Amyloid Precursor Protein		
Αβ	Amyloid peptide		
BDM	Battery for Mental Deterioration		
BPSD	Behavioral and Psychological Symptoms of Dementia		
CBI	Caregiver Burden Inventory		
CBS	Cornell-Brown Scale for Quality of Life in Dementia		
ChEIs	cholinesterase inhibitors		
СРМ	Coloured Progressive Matrices		
CTE	chronic traumatic encephalopathy		
DMT	Disease modifying therapies		
DSM-5	Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders, Fifth		
	Edition		
FAB	Frontal Assessment Battery		
FTD	Frontotemporal Dementia		
GPCOG	General Practitioner Assessment of Cognition		
HDRS	Hamilton Psychiatric Rating scale for Depression		
IADL	Instrumental Activities of Daily Living		
ICD	International Classification of Diseases		
LLD	Late-life depression		
MCFA	Multiple group confirmatory factor analysis		
MCI	Mild cognitive impairment		
MDD	Major Depressive Disorder		
MMSE	Mini-mental State Examination		
MoCA	Montreal Cognitive Assessment		
MS	multiple sclerosis		

naMCI	Non-amnestic mild cognitive impairment	
NFT	Neurofibrillary tangles	
NIA-AA	National Institute in Aging - Alzheimer's Association	
NMDA	N-methyl-D-aspartate	
NPS	Neuropsychiatric symptoms	
NPT	Non-pharmacological treatment	
PM	Progressive Matrices	
PSEN1	Presenilin 1	
PSEN2	Presenilin 2	
P-tau	phosphorylated tau	
QOL-AD	Quality of life in Alzheimer's disease	
RCT	randomized controlled trial	

ABSTRACT

Alzheimer's is characterized by cognitive and affective symptoms with several challenges regarding its early diagnosis and the intervention to be implemented. Given the recent focus on apathy as a marker of cognitive decline and the transition to dementia, we examined the psychometric properties and the invariance of the Italian Version of the AES-C conducted on a sample composed of an experimental group of amnestic MCI and AD patients (N = 107) and a control group (N = 107) constituted by Age- and Sex-matched healthy controls. Results confirm the goodness of the scale. Confirmatory factory analysis confirmed that the AES-C Italian Version presents the same stability of one second-order factor and three first-order factors identified in the original version, and all items are predicted by a single general factor; the scale was found to be invariant across both populations and reliability and discriminant analysis showed good values. Our data demonstrated the validity of the Italian version of the AES-C for the assessment of apathy both in MCI and in AD patients. Then we focused our attention on measuring the impact of Cholinesterase Inhibitors (ChEIs) on the progress of cognitive decline in AD patients in an early phase of the disease. In our study we assess the validity of MMSE compared to MoCA for monitoring the impact of ChEIs treatment on cognitive decline in a sample of 33 mild AD patients. We therefore examined the impact of ChEIs treatment on global cognitive function in AD patients both at 6 months (Group1=17 patients) and at 9 months (Group2=16 patients) by using a psychometric approach including MMSE, MoCA, Frontal assessment Battery (FAB), Hamilton Depression Rating Scale (HDRS). Overall, our data suggest that the combined use of MMSE with MoCA can improve the evaluation of clinical efficacy of ChEIs in clinical practice. We believe that nowadays, when the challenge is to arrive at the earliest possible diagnosis of this disease, the use of new psychometric protocols can become essential to intervene promptly and start with an early treatment finally improving the quality of life of patients with AD.

INTRODUCTION

1. Alzheimer's disease

Alzheimer's disease (AD), is a chronic neurodegenerative disease characterized by an irreversible deterioration of cholinergic neurons, in particular in the cerebral cortex and hippocampus (Albert, 2007) and by the presence of β -amyloid in the senile plaques, intracellular aggregates of tau protein in the neurofibrillary tangles (Hardy, 2009). In general, the first symptoms manifest themselves in the cognitive sphere with memory alterations and behavioural problems and there is an increasing neuropsychological impairment with progressive decline of memory, language, executive function and visuospatial skills, able to interfere with the quality of life and normal daily activities (Cummings, McPherson, 2001). In particular short-term memory deficit is the pre-eminent characteristic of the disease of which it constitutes the real clinical onset. The autobiographical memory and that relating to historical, not recent and long-term events are initially unaffected. Disorientation occurs constantly during the course of the disease and tends to worsen. Among the earliest symptoms we should also consider concentration and attention deficits. Furthermore, in AD there is often also the presence of language impairments, with the appearance of anomies, paraphasias, and late aphasias too. AD patients may also present a clinical phenotype with gnotic, praxic, and visuospatial disorders. Finally, executive disorders and alterations in abstract thinking, which in some cases are already present at the onset of symptoms, compromise the ability to plan, criticize and judge as the disease progresses. (Berardelli, Cruccu, 2019). AD is characterized also by neuropsychiatric symptoms, such as anxiety, delusions, hallucinations, aggression (verbal and physical), irritability, inappropriate social behavior, disinhibition, sleep disturbances, eating disorders (Berardelli, Cruccu, 2019), depression, psychosis and agitation and evidence demonstrated that they are a common precipitant of institutional care (Ballard et al., 2008). Recently, particular attention has been paid to the construct of apathy, understood as a loss of will, interest and motivation in acting, emotional dulling and affective flattening. Apathy can be considered as a prodromal sign of AD and it has been shown to have a strong impact on its course as it accelerates cognitive decline (Perri et al. 2018) AD represents the first cause of dementia and in Italy there are about 600,000 patients who are affected by this disease (Berardelli, Cruccu, 2019).

According to the studies conducted in the last 30 years, it has been possible to identify different pathologic findings that characterize AD. First of all, the presence of amyloid plaques (A β) (Selkoe, 1994). It depends on the abnormal cleavage of the amyloid precursor protein (APP) resulting in A β monomers which aggregate to form oligomeric Aβ and eventually aggregate into Aβ fibrils and plaques (Tiwari, 2019; Chen, et al. 2017). The normal processing of the APP sequence consists of the nonamyloidogenic proteolysis of APP via α -secretase and λ -secretase, producing soluble fragments When APP is cleaved by λ -secretase and erroneous β -secretase, it leads to amyloid peptides insoluble that aggregate in the brain to form -amyloid plaques (Selkoe, Hardy, 2016; Kinney et al., 2018), characterized by an excess of deposition of A β -42. The pathogenetic role of A β -42 in the development of AD disease has been confirmed by the study of the genetically determined forms of the disease (Berardelli, Cruccu, 2019). In fact, the presence of mutations in one of three genes have been identified as factors causing the development of AD: amyloid precursor protein (APP), presenilin 1, (PSEN1) or presenilin 2 (PSEN2) (Bateman et al., 2011). The role of $A\beta$ in this pathologic condition still remains an issue to be explored, as several studies have shown that AB plaques can accumulate up to 10 years before the onset of clinically-relevant symptoms (Kinney et al. 2018).

Another pathologic hallmark that characterised AD is the hyperphosphorylation of tau protein. Normally, tau phosphorylation plays a critical role in intracellular trafficking to remove tau from microtubules, allowing for transport, followed by dephosphorylation to return tau to microtubules. In Alzheimer's disease, on the other hand, the tau protein is phosphorylated in a greater number of sites with consequent removal of tau from the microtubules; this causes the collapse of microtubule structures and destruction of a series of cellular processes ranging from protein trafficking to overall cell morphology. Furthermore, the hyperphosphorylated tau (p-tau) aggregates into coupled helical fragments which form neurofibrillary tangles. Accumulation of such p-tau tangles and impaired cell function leads to loss of neuronal function and ultimately to neuronal apoptosis (Sadigh-Eteghad 2015; Kinney et al., 2018; Chen et al., 2017; Šimić et al. 2016).

Several studies have shown that $A\beta$ deposits are already present in a substantial number of subjects yet in the preclinical phase of the disease. This means that despite subjects appear cognitively healthy they have an increased grey matter brain atrophy, especially within the hippocampus, a key region affected in AD dementia (Ewers et

al. 2011, Villemagne et al., 2013). Consequently, although clinically the first symptoms tend to appear after the age of 65, there is increasing evidence that AD pathology starts depositing in the brain in midlife.

Recently, literature have led to a third characteristic concerning the pathogenesis of AD: the neuroinflammatory hypothesis (Calsolaro, Edison, 2016; Breijyeh, Karaman, 2020), according to which an inflammatory response is activated in the brains of AD patients. This acute inflammatory response would be similar to the sustained immune responses already present in other diseases (Parkinson's disease, traumatic brain injury associated with chronic traumatic encephalopathy (CTE), amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (ALS) and multiple sclerosis (MS) (Kinney et al., 2018) and could contribute to neuronal death over time, facilitating A β and NFT- related diseases (Kinney et al. 2018).

According to these evidences, it is possible to consider AD as a pathology that develops along a temporal continuum that also includes a long asymptomatic (preclinical) phase in which neuropathological changes occur without compromising normal cognitive functioning (Dubois, et al., 2010). Then there is a symptomatic phase (prodromal or pre-dementia) of progressive cognitive decline, and finally in the last phase a functional impairment and real overt dementia (Amieva, 2008).

In 2011 biomarkers for the diagnosis of AD have been introduced in the most recent diagnostic criteria proposed by the National Institute in Aging - Alzheimer's Association (NIA-AA) (Jack Jr, et al., 2018). This allowed to increase the diagnostic accuracy and to identify three different degrees of clinical expression of the disease (Berardelli, Cruccu, 2019):

- Preclinical AD: asymptomatic phase of the disease; all the pathogenic mechanisms are in place, but the extent of the damage is not such as to determine the development of symptoms. In clinical practice it is difficult to identify this phase; however, it can be recognized in those who are asymptomatic, but carry the mutations that cause AD.
- Prodromal AD: initial symptomatic phase of the disease; the damage induced by the disease slightly compromises some cognitive functions, but without interfering in the overall functioning of the individual. This phase includes a clinical picture called Mild Cognitive Impairment which we will analyse shortly.

- Clinical AD: full-blown phase of the disease. The level of neuropathological alteration is severe and impairs autonomy and many cognitive functions.

However, it is important to underline that, despite these diagnostic categories reflect the continuum of AD, their use is only recommended in the context of research. (Ibidem)

Currently, according to the diagnostic criteria of the DSM-5, we can find two cognitive syndromes: major neurocognitive damage and mild neurocognitive damage. The diagnosis of severe neurocognitive impairment requires objective cognitive decline that interferes with activities of daily living and is not attributable to delirium or other neurological, medical, or psychiatric disorders. Patients with mild neurocognitive impairment have a milder symptom picture of cognitive decline: they are still able to lead an independent lifestyle and carry out complex daily activities (DSM-5, 2013). It is important to emphasize that in DSM-5 the criteria no longer require the presence of memory disturbances to establish the diagnosis of neurodegenerative dementia, as was the case in previous editions. We are therefore witnessing the recognition of other types of dementia in which memory deterioration is not considered an early symptom (Apostolova, 2016). This facilitates the clinician even more in the specific diagnosis of Alzheimer's disease.

Diagnostic Criteria	Major Neurocognitive Disorder	Minor Neurocognitive Disorder
Α	<i>Significant</i> cognitive decline in one or more cognitive domains, based on:	<i>Modest</i> cognitive decline in one or more cognitive domains, based on:
	1. Concern about <i>significant</i> decline, expressed by individual or reliable informant, or observed by clinician.	1. Concern about <i>mild</i> decline, expressed by individual or reliable informant, or observed by clinician.
	2. <i>Substantial</i> impairment, documented by objective cognitive assessment.	2. <i>Modest</i> impairment, documented by objective cognitive assessment.
В	Interference with independence in everyday activities.	No interference with independence in everyday activities, although these activities may require more time and effort, accommodation, or compensatory strategies.

С	Not exclusively during delirium.
D	Not better explained by another mental disorder.
E	 Specify one or more etiologic subtypes, "due to": Alzheimer's disease Cerebrovascular disease (Vascular Neurocognitive Disorder) Frontotemporal Lobar Degeneration (Frontotemporal Neurocognitive Disorder) Dementia with Lewy Bodies (Neurocognitive Disorder with Lewy Bodies) Parkinson's disease Huntington's disease Traumatic Brain Injury HIV Infection Prion Disease Another medical condition Multiple etiologies

Adapted from: American Psychiatric Association: Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders, Fifth Edition. Arlington, VA, American Psychiatric Association; 2013

2. Mild Cognitive Impairment

The term "Mild Cognitive Impairment" has generally been used to identify individuals who have some cognitive impairment, but not so severe to constitute dementia. In particular, it is based on the finding of a mild cognitive deficit which is greater than what would be expected for the age and education level of the individual, but which does not cause any interference in the performance of the activities of daily life. (Berardelli, Cruccu, 2019). It was introduced in the International Classification of Diseases (ICD-10) of the OMS to indicate a deterioration of cognitive functions that do not meet the criteria for dementia (Petersen, 1995). Often the symptoms that characterize these individuals are so mild that it is very difficult for the clinician to distinguish these functional problems from those that characterize age-related cognitive decline (Petersen, 2004). For this reason, MCI can be considered as an intermediate state between normal aging and dementia and as a prodromal disorder for the transition to AD. But, it does not only concern memory disorders, but it could affect various aspects of cognitive functioning such as language, executive functioning, visuospatial abilities (Petersen, 2004).

There are in fact two subtypes of MCI. Amnestic MCI (aMCI) is characterized by memory impairment, especially episodic; Non-amnestic MCI (naMCI) is characterized by the absence of memory impairment, but the presence of impairment

in one or more of the other domains, such as executive functions / attention, language, visuospatial skills (Petersen et al., 2014). Furthermore, MCI can manifest itself as impairment in a single domain or in multiple cognitive domains. The extent of impairment across domains is critical to understanding both the severity of the disease and the likelihood of progression to dementia (Roberts, Knopman, 2013). There is a hypothesis that single- or multiple-domain aMCI progresses into AD if there is an underlying degenerative etiology. (Petersen, et al. 2009). In contrast, naMCI can progress to other forms of non-AD dementia, based on the impairment of one or more domains.

It is possible to find in the literature multiple studies that investigate MCI and the risk factors involved in the transition to AD. In particular, if we focus on the pathogenesis of MCI, it is possible to state that among the main risk factors associated with mild cognitive decline, we find advanced age and a low level of education (Yaffe, 2018). Regarding genetic studies, an overlap was found in the results of the alleles of the APOE-4 gene with studies focusing on the pathogenesis of AD, suggesting common causes for both the diseases (Boyle et al., 2010; Lopez, et al. 2003). Several studies also examined the comorbidity between MCI and vascular diseases, demonstrating the increased probability of MCI onset in the presence of cerebrovascular diseases (Roberts, et al., 2010; Di Carlo, et al. 2000). As regards the cognitive functions, the disorder most commonly attributable to MCI concerns prospective and episodic anterograde memory, especially for the amnestic subtype (Spindola, Brucki, 2011; Wang, et al. 2012). Impairment of executive functions is found in both forms of amnestic and non-amnestic MCI (Aretouli, Brandt, 2010), in particular for working memory skills, planning and problem solving, but not for judgment skills that remains preserved (Brandt, et al. 2009).

There is a vast literature regarding the role of neuropsychiatric symptoms, especially in relation to depression. Depression is associated with a risk of progression to MCI, especially of the amnestic type, in the population with normal cognition (Hu, et al. 2020)

A systematic review by Ma (Ma, 2020) on neuropsychological characteristics and conversion rates to dementia among MCI patients, identified among the most frequent disorders besides depression, anxiety and apathy. Anxiety is common in MCI patients; the prevalence varies between 9.9% and 52%. Furthermore, there is a high comorbidity with depression in MCI patients. The symptoms of anxiety can represent a diagnostic

indicator of MCI as they are closely correlated with executive and cognitive dysfunction (Ma, 2020). The prevalence of apathy in MCI subjects is between 10.7% and 44.8%, with a difference based on the type of MCI: amnestic of 6.9% and multidomain of 14.7% (Ma, 2020). Chilovi and colleagues (Chilovi et al. 2009) identified several neuropsychiatric symptoms in MCI patients so as to categorize four subgroups: normal MCI, depressed MCI, depressed-apathetic MCI and apathetic MCI. It was found that the latter subgroup had the highest percentage of conversion to AD, around 60%. Martin and Velayudhan (2020), through a longitudinal study with 397 MCI patients without major depression, found that the prevalence of apathy was 44.8% and that they had a higher risk of progression to AD. Therefore, today the focus of attention has shifted towards apathy especially in the attempt to identify specific treatments in early AD patients (Gallagher, et al, 2017).

The conversion rate to dementia for MCI patients is a controversial topic as prevalence and incidence rates of dementia depend on multiple factors.

Several studies confirm that patients diagnosed with MCI have a greater risk of developing various types of dementia, including AD, with an annual conversion rate of 10-20% against 1-2% of subjects cognitively healthy (Amieva et al. 2004; Mitchell, Shiri-Feshki, 2009). In particular, aMCI seems to be the phenotype that evolves more frequently towards Alzheimer's dementia, while the other types of MCI seem to evolve towards other forms of dementia (such as frontotemporal dementia, Lewy body dementia or Parkinson's dementia) (Albert, et al. 2011; Subramanyam, Singh, 2016; Geda, 2012).

Based on this evidence, Mild Cognitive Impairment is identified as a precursor of AD, although not all patients progress to dementia within 5-7 years (Petersen, 2004). Many MCI patients can remain stable and do not develop dementia (Gomersall, et al. 2017), but there are also patients who may return to normal (Petersen, 2010).

So, when planning a timely diagnosis of AD, the focus of intervention is now focused from the moderate and severe stages of dementia to the early phases of the disease, in particular the stage of mild AD, but above all of MCI due to AD; in fact, the prevalence of MCI ranges from 16% to 22.2% worldwide, and approximately 10% -15% of older adults with MCI progress to dementia annually (Song, et al. 2021). The overall annual conversion rate to dementia is approximately 1% -3% in the elderly. Given the lack of effective pharmacological treatments for dementia, i.e. that have a regressing effect on the disease, the clinician's top priority is to improve or preserve the residual cognitive

function of older adults with MCI (Song et al. 2021). To reach this clinical outcome, it is certainly necessary to take the first step of a correct diagnosis of cognitive decline so as to be able to prevent or delay the transition from MCI to dementia, through an adequate neuropsychological examination (Di Nuovo, Vianello, 2013).

3. Neuropsychological Evaluation in MCI and AD

When referring to neuropsychological evaluation, it is essential to discuss the use of various psychometric tools that we will shortly present, but we cannot ignore the clinical interview with the patient who must be evaluated. The neuropsychological examination has the objective of obtaining a global assessment of the patient that allows the detection of residual and impaired cognitive functions, allowing the construction of diagnostic hypotheses. This aim cannot be reached exclusively on the basis of the score on a psychological test, since it is that same score that will be interpreted and examined in order to make the right diagnosis, with any further details of the case or pharmacological prescriptions and so on. It is therefore essential that during the neuropsychological interview with the patient, the degree of impairment of the subject should be investigated in order to understand how to set up the assessment (i.e. what type of tools to use) through the formulation of very specific questions that investigate the different cognitive abilities that they could be impaired by pathology, such as verbal comprehension, disease awareness, critical sense, general knowledge and motivation, and so on. Often, the presence of a family member is useful for the neuropsychological examination, both for verifying the reliability of the information provided by the patient, and for collecting additional information and investigating the degree of compliance and support for any treatment.

When considering AD patients, but especially patients with amnestic MCI at increased risk of developing AD, neuropsychological tools in combination with biological markers play a central role in early diagnosis (Caraci et al. 2013).

There is no standardized procedure with respect to the tools to be used to diagnose AD or MCI. The tools used in the diagnostic process of dementia should include informative questionnaires on autonomy in the activities of the subject's daily life such as the Activities of Daily Living / Instrumental Activities of Daily Living (ADL / IADL) tests through which discrimination can be established between dementia and mild neurocognitive disorder, or mild cognitive decline, as indicated in the DSM-5.

Clearly, in the case of these pathologies it is certainly important to investigate the general cognitive level (in particular executive functions, attention, language, memory and visuospatial skills). For the assessment of cognitive function, it would be optimal to use global cognitive function tests, in paper form and as short as possible, which allow the evaluation of the general mental state.

Among the main tools of global cognitive assessment, we should consider:

- 1. The Battery for Mental Deterioration (BDM: Caltagirone, et al., 1979), an instrument developed in Italy that includes 7 tests that require approximately 45 to 75 minutes for the administration. The battery evaluates different aspects of memory (short and long term, semantic-lexical), praxic-constructive skills, and linguistic skills. 8 scores are obtained, four for the processing of verbal material and four for the processing of visual-perceptual material (Caltagirone, et al., 1979).
- 2. Mini Mental State Examination (MMSE: Folstein, et al., 1975; Italian version: Measso, et al. 1993; Magni et al. 1996) screening tool for AD. The MMSE represents one of the most used tools, about 60%, in the diagnosis of MCI, followed by the clinical interview around 54%, within primary care (Pirani, et al. 2020). The test consists of 11 items, which investigate different cognitive areas (space-time orientation, language through naming tests, repetition, writing and understanding and execution of oral and written commands, immediate and recall memory, attention and calculation, praxia visual-constructive). However, although it is very widespread, it has some limitations: it does not consider the multidimensional structure of cognitive functions, for example memory, for which it evaluates areas less sensitive to deterioration than others and underestimates the visual-spatial areas; moreover, it appears not very sensitive in the evaluation of MCI, especially in the case of patients with high cognitive reserve (Pirani, et al. 2020).
- 3. Montreal Cognitive Assessment (MoCA: Nasreddine, et al. 2005; Italian version: Santangelo, et al., 2015; Conti et al. 2014) was created for rapid screening and early detection of mild cognitive impairment. It can be used as an alternative or in addition to MMSE and evaluates different cognitive domains such as attention and concentration, executive functions, memory, language, visual-constructive skills, abstraction, calculation and orientation. It appears to be the best screening tool for MCI detection, showing a sensitivity

of 83-97% (Abd Razak, et al. 2019). The MoCA shows better performance than the MMSE with a sensitivity of 89% and a specificity of 75% (Abd Razak, et al. 2019). Moreover, Pinto et al. highlighted that out of 34 articles, more than 80% showed that MoCA is superior to MMSE in discriminating individuals with Mild Cognitive Impairment from cognitively healthy individuals (Pinto, et al. 2019). Furthermore, the MoCa allows a differential diagnosis, as it contains items that investigate the functions of the frontal lobe, which in AD and Frontotemporal Dementia (FTD) patients obtain very different scores. The results of tests such as verbal fluency and speech production, orientation and delayed recall also allow to differentiate AD patients from FTD patients (Larner, 2018).

4. The General Practitioner Assessment of Cognition (GPCOG) is a short screening test for cognitive impairment introduced by Brodaty and colleagues in 2002, it represents a very short and easy to use screening tool (Brodaty et al. 2002).

In addition to tools for assessing global cognitive functioning, there are numerous neuropsychological tests to assess specific cognitive functions. Some of these are described below:

- Frontal Assessment Battery (FAB: Dubois, et al. 2000; Italian version: Appollonio et al. 2005): It proposes a simple and rapid protocol through six cognitive and behavioral tests including: conceptualization, cognitive flexibility, motor programming, sensitive to interference, control of inhibition, environmental autonomy.
- 2. Raven Progressive Matrices (PM), which with elderly subjects has a simplified colored version (CPM, Raven, 1947, 1954; Italian version: Spinnler & Tognoni, 1987). The test is made up of incomplete figures in which the subject must identify the figure that completes the drawing among the alternatives proposed. It highlights analytical ability independent of previously learned concepts, analysing the cognitive domains of spatial skills and reasoning.
- 3. Rey's 15-word test: explicit verbal memory test (Rey, 1958); has the objective of quantifying the capacity for immediate and delayed recall.
- 4. Rey-Osterrieth Complex Figure Copy Test (Rey, 1959; Italian calibration: Caffarra, et al., 2002). The figure of Rey foresees the copy of the figure and then its reproduction by heart after a few minutes, thus allowing to evaluate the

"loss" of memory with respect to the efficiency of the visual-perceptual reproduction, its perceptual organization, the visual memory and the working memory.

In addition to the psychological tools that evaluate cognitive functions, there are tests that evaluate the neuropsychiatric symptoms, fundamental in the case of MCI and AD since in addition to being a risk factor for these disorders, they represent one of the causes of conversion to dementia. For this purpose, it is possible to use different psychometric tools, among the most used we should consider:

- 1. Hamilton Psychiatric Rating scale for Depression (HDRS: Hamilton, 1960).
- 2. Apathy Evaluation Scale (AES) (Marin, 1991)
- 3. Cornell-Brown Scale for Quality of Life in Dementia (CBS: Ready et al., 2002)
- 4. Quality of life in Alzheimer's disease (QOL-AD: Logsdon et al., 2002)
- 5. Caregiver Burden Inventory (CBI: Novak and Guest, 1989).

4. Current pharmacological treatment

To date, there are no effective drug therapies available for AD and MCI, which remain incurable diseases. The authorized treatments involve the use of "symptomatic" drugs, which act on symptoms of cognitive decline without intervening, on the pathogenic mechanisms. Between these drugs we can find cholinesterase inhibitors (ChEIs) (donepezil, galantamine, rivastigmine) and the NMDA antagonist (memantine) (Atri, 2019). An early impairment of cholinergic pathways has been demonstrated in AD; AChEIs seem to improve central cholinergic neurotransmission thus tending to reduce cognitive decline, at least during the first year of treatment. However, once treatment with these drugs is stopped, it is possible to see rapid cognitive decline as well as rapid deterioration leading to a greater risk of autonomy loss (Howard et al., 2015) ChEIs have been shown to be efficacious in delaying cognitive decline, stabilizing cognition or maintaining daily living activities in RCT placebo studies for up to 52 weeks (Atri 2019, Rountree 2019). In particular, donepezil and rivastigmine have been approved for mild and moderate AD, while memantine has been approved for moderate and severe AD (Yiannopoulou, Papageorgiou, 2020).

Memantine is a non-competitive low-affinity open-channel blocking NMDA receptor and affects glutamate transmission (Yiannopoulou, Papageorgiou 2013). Memantine is used for moderate and severe AD, either as monotherapy or in combination with an ChEIs (Scheltens, et al. 2016) When given as monotherapy, different studies have shown that memantine has long-term benefits for patients with moderate and severe AD (Tricco, et al. 2018). However, scientific evidence shows that when administered in combination with ChEIs, AD patients show an increased benefit compared to monotherapy (Na, et al. 2019; Kishita et al., 2019) also showing an improvement in global functions and daily activities (Calvo-Perxas, 2017) As discussed above, neuropsychiatric symptoms can occur both before and after the onset of MCI or AD; often these symptoms also require specific and validated pharmacological treatments. Antidepressants and antipsychotics are the main treatment for BPSD (Bessey, 2019).

5. Non-pharmacological treatment

As already discussed, the pharmacological therapies currently approved and available for the treatment of Alzheimer's have a reduced clinical effectiveness, as demonstrated in several studies, and cannot always guarantee a long-term effect and certainly cannot lead to a regression of the disease. The treatment of AD must therefore be understood as aimed at managing the disease and improving or maintaining the best quality of life for the patient. For this reason, recently, the attention of researchers has also focused on different types of interventions, that is the non-pharmacological treatment (NPT) also defined as "ecopsychological intervention" (Zeisel, et al., 2016). Nonpharmacological treatment includes interventions on the cognitive, social, psychological and relational aspects of the subject, using different modalities such as group activities, therapeutic dialogues, meditation, sensory, physical and physiological stimulation. The goal of this type of intervention is to improve the quality of life through the strengthening of cognitive, psycho-affective and social skills, reducing neuropsychiatric symptoms, preserving the patient's social activity, restoring confidence and self-esteem and promoting autonomy (Zuchella, et al., 2018).

According to the American Psychiatric Association, non-drug treatments for AD can be divided into 4 groups: cognition-oriented treatments; emotion-oriented treatments; behaviour treatment; stimulation-oriented treatment (i.e. art and music therapy, physical exercise). Cognition-oriented treatments are the most studied and used in the treatment of Alzheimer's since they aim at the maintenance and exercise of cognitive functions. Carrion and colleagues (2018) conducted a systematic review with the aim of investigating the scientific evidence supporting the efficacy of cognitive therapies in dementia. The results showed that stimulation of cognitive functions among people with dementia through skills training or a mix of reality orientation and skills training is effective in increasing cognitive functioning. However, no evidence was found to support the effectiveness of reality orientation. However, the authors highlighted many limitations of their research. Great attention has recently been given to physical activity for the prevention of cognitive decline and therefore as a novel nonpharmacological treatment for MCI and AD. In fact, it seems that physical activity has the ability to improve cognitive and functioning plasticity; promote cardiovascular health; increasing dopamine and acetylcholine levels, which play a key role in cognitive functions (Szeto, Lewis, 2016). Fonte et al. (2019) conducted a study on cognitive treatment and physical activity in MCI and AD patients with the aim of comparing the two types of treatment. They found that both cognitive treatment and physical activity have a positive effect in reducing the cognitive decline that characterizes MCI and AD; they have also shown that both treatments are able to maintain cognitive functions. Also, occupational therapy has been demonstrated to have a good effect on autonomy, improvement in quality of life and decrease of psychological symptoms, although the effect that occupational therapy may have on depressive and anxious symptoms is still unclear (Bennett, et al., 2018). Finally, it is also shown that art therapy, in particular music therapy, has a positive effect on patients suffering from dementia. In their meta-analysis Moreno-Morales et al. (2020) investigated the effect of music therapy on cognitive functions, quality of life and the depressive state of subjects with dementia. The results showed an improvement in cognitive function and a positive outcome for the long-term treatment of depression. Furthermore, music therapy appears to improve the quality of life of people with dementia when evaluated immediately after surgery. However, it does not have a longlasting effect.

6. The role of apathy

Apathy can be defined as a specific dimension of behavior characterized by a lack of motivation (Marin, 1993) in which motivation is a superordinate concept referring to the psychological structure and the determinants of goal-directed behavior (Bindra, 1959; Madsen, 1973). Apathy in often associated with poor treatment response, reliance on caregivers to initiate activities, more rapid cognitive and functional decline and increased mortality (Ruslan, L. et al., 2013). For clinical purpose apathy is often considered as a symptom of other syndromes, such as depression or dementia. (Marin, 1993). However, it can be considered as a syndrome itself and conceptualized as a

syndrome of diminished motivation in which the lack of motivation is not attributable to diminished level of consciousness, emotional distress, or cognitive deficits (Marin, 1991).

The prevalence of apathy is well documented in different neuropsychiatric disorders (Padala, 2005), especially in MCI and AD.

Apathy is a multidimensional construct that can include both the emotional and the social sphere and presents three separate dimensions consisting of cognitive, affective and behavioural symptoms. (Robert, 2009) although there is heterogeneity in the degree in which each dimension could be present. As stated above, Marin standardized the concept of apathy and proposed a three-dimensional model (Marin, 1991) that includes emotional responsiveness, goal-directed cognition and purposeful behaviour, which can be detected with the Apathy Evaluation Scale (AES) (Marin, 1990; Marin, 1991) and animated the 2009 International Apathy Workgroup Consensus Diagnostic Criteria (Robert, 2009) which considered the decrease of motivation as a central feature of apathy and provided operational definition of the affective, cognitive, and behavioral dimensions and asserted time and impact criteria. These rules allowed to discriminate apathy from pathologies with similar symptoms (Lanctôt, 2017). In fact, the differential diagnosis of apathy is not simple since some of its characteristics are similar to those of other NPS. In particular, depressive disorders are frequent in patients with AD, (Novais,2015). but its clinical phenotype is different from that of major depressive disorder. In fact, in AD-related depression, the symptomatology is milder and less persistent compared to major depression (Olin, 2002) and includes anhedonia, psychomotor retardation, fatigue / hypersomnia and lack of insight (Ishii, 2009). Somatic symptoms in AD-related depression are associated with the severity of cognitive impairment (Troisi, 1993).

Recent studies have shown that the higher the level of apathy, the more it is a predictor of the transition to dementia (Lanctot, 2017). Most of the epidemiological studies on apathy in the AD context refer to studies on the prevalence or change of apathy symptoms over time (Brotady, 2010). Apathy is predominant both in MCI and dementia. This prevalence is positively related to the severity of dementia (Lanctôt, 2017). A 3-year observational study of 332 MCI subjects has shown a higher incidence of dementia in subjects with apathy ([HR] =1.62) (Pink, et al. 2015). A more recent investigation using the Apathy Evaluation Scale (AES) in elderly with normal

cognition and MCI showing that apathy progression over time predicted transition from MCI to dementia (Guercio, et al. 2015).

On the basis of this evidence apathy can be considered as a marker of cognitive decline and transition to dementia. This has prompted the field to flag it as a high-value neuropsychiatric risk state in the latest guidelines for preclinical AD from the National Institute on Aging (Sperling, et al. 2011). An unresolved question is to understand whether apathy can be considered as a psychological marker of preclinical AD in amnestic MCI patient and the neurobiological and clinical links between apathy and depression in AD. Furthermore, it is not clear whether apathy can influence the rate of cognitive deterioration or the response to cholinesterase inhibitors in MCI and mild AD independently from the presence of depressive disorders.

Dysfunction in dopaminergic system seems to play a central role in the pathophysiology of apathy (D'Amelio, et al. 2018). Dopaminergic dysfunction might be caused also by a progressive loss of cholinergic neurons in strict compliance with the cholinergic hypothesis (D'Amelio, al. 2018). Pharmacologic challenge has shown that AD patients with apathy have a blunted subjective reward after administration of the dopaminergic agent dextroamphetamine (Lanctôt et al. 2008). A recent 6-week multicenter, double-blind, placebo-controlled RCT investigating the treatment of low-dose methylphenidate (20 mg/day) for apathy in patients with mild-moderate AD reported significant improvement in apathy and on a modified Alzheimer's Disease Cooperative Study–Clinical Global Impression of Change in the active treatment group versus placebo (Rosenberg, et al. 2013).

Antidepressant drugs have not been found to improve apathy (Berman, et al. 2012) although not specific studies have been conducted with second-generation antidepressant drugs such as fluoxetine and bupropione. Evidence from RCTs suggests that cholinesterase inhibitors can improve apathy (Winblad et al.1999; Cummings et al. 2005) and delay its onset (Waldemar et al. 2011), although further studies are needed to better understand how apathy can influence the rate of cognitive decline both in MCI and mild AD as well as the response to cholinesterase inhibitors and second-generation antidepressant drugs.

Chapter I

Cognitive dysfunction in late life depression and Alzheimer Disease: the impact of physical activity.

In recent years, an increased attention has been given to therapies other than pharmacological ones in the treatment of various psychiatric disorders. This new interest may have been stimulated by the evolution of the concept of health that no longer sees the healthy subject as a person without physical symptoms, but who instead enjoys psychological health as well. Indeed, it has been clearly established that pharmacological treatment have positive effects on mental health, but several studies have also shown the effectiveness of new methods and non-pharmacological approaches to treat CNS pathologies. Among these, one of the most studied and observed is physical activity and its potential benefits for the cognitive functions and mood of depressed and AD subjects. For this reason, we conducted the following review on the possible links between physical activity and the reduction of depressive symptoms to examine the possible synergy between pharmacological and nonpharmacological treatment to rescue cognitive function both in depressed and AD patients.

Antidepressant Drugs and Physical Activity: A Possible Synergism in the Treatment of Major Depression?

Claudia Savia Guerrera^{1,2†}, Giovanna Furneri^{1,2†}, Margherita Grasso^{3,4†}, Giuseppe Caruso³, Sabrina Castellano², Filippo Drago¹, Santo Di Nuovo² and Filippo Caraci^{3,4*}

¹ Department of Biomedical and Biotechnological Sciences, University of Catania, Catania, Italy, ² Department of Educational Sciences, University of Catania, Catania, Italy, ³ Department of Laboratories, Oasi Research Institute – IRCCS, Troina, Italy, ⁴ Department of Drug Sciences, University of Catania, Catania, Italy

Abstract

Major depressive disorder (MDD) is a severe mental illness that affects 5–20% of the general population. Current antidepressant drugs exert only a partial clinical efficacy because approximately 30% of depressed patients failed to respond to these drugs and antidepressants produce remission only in 30% of patients. This can be explained by

the fact that the complex pathophysiology of depression has not been completely elucidated, and treatments have been mainly developed following the "monoaminergic hypothesis" of depression without considering the key role of other factors involved in the pathogenesis of MDD, such as the role of chronic stress and neuroinflammation. Chronic stress acts as a risk factor for the development of MDD through the impairment of neurotrophins signaling such as brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF) and transforming-growth-factor-b1 (TGF-β1). Stress-induced depressive pathology contributes to altered BDNF level and function in MDD patients and, thereby, an impairment of neuroplasticity at the regional and circuit level. Recent studies demonstrate that aerobic exercise strongly increases BDNF production and it may contribute as a non-pharmacological strategy to improve the treatment of cognitive and affective symptoms in MDD. Here we will provide a general overview on the possible synergism between physical activity and antidepressants in MDD. Physical activity can synergize with antidepressant treatment by rescuing neurotrophins signaling in MD patients, promoting neuronal health and recovery of function in MDD-related circuits, finally enhancing pharmacotherapeutic response. This synergism might be particularly relevant in elderly patients with late-life depression, a clinical subgroup with an increased risk to develop dementia.

Keywords: depression, physical activity, stress, affective symptoms, cognition, brainderived neurotrophic factor, transforming-growth-factor-b1 **published in Front. Psychol. 2020, 11:857.*

Introduction

Major depressive disorder (MDD) is a severe and a common mental illness affecting more than 264 million people worldwide (Gbd 2017 Disease and Injury Incidence and Prevalence Collaborators, 2018). The World Health Organization (WHO) describes depression, also indicated as MDD or clinical depression, as a mental disorder characterized by sleep and appetite disturbances, variation of mood, loss of energy, and psychomotor retardation¹.

Among the different hypotheses that have been proposed to explain MDD pathophysiology, the "monoaminergic hypothesis" has been initially validated with the development of monoaminergic antidepressants. Based on this hypothesis an impairment of monoaminergic systems [serotonin (5-HT), noradrenaline, and

dopamine] has been considered a primary event for the onset of affective and cognitive symptoms in MDD (Hirschfeld, 2000; Hamon and Blier, 2013). Therefore, the majority of antidepressant drugs have been developed according to this hypothesis, representing a useful therapeutic tool (Lopez-Munoz and Alamo, 2009); unfortunately around 30% of depressed patients are considered treatment resistant (Caraci et al., 2018a), probably because emerging additional factors involved in the pathophysiology of MDD, such as chronic stress and neuroinflammation, should be considered (Caraci et al., 2018b). The pathological effects of stress on hippocampus have contributed to the development of the so-called "neurotrophic hypothesis" according to which neurotrophic factors play a key role in the etiology of depression (Altar, 1999; Duman and Li, 2012; Jaggar et al., 2019). This hypothesis suggests that depression derives from decreased neurotrophic support resulting in neuronal atrophy, decreased hippocampal neurogenesis, and loss of glial cells (Duman and Monteggia, 2006). A hyperactivation of the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal (HPA) axis has been found in the 50% of depressed patients (Krishnan and Nestler, 2008) and several evidences identify chronic stress, linked to an impairment of neurotrophins such as brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF) and transforming-growth-factor-b1 (TGF-b1) (Caraci et al., 2018b), as a risk factor for the development of MDD (Pittenger and Duman, 2008; Caraci et al., 2010). A significant decrease of BDNF levels has been demonstrated in animal models of depression stress-induced (Berry et al., 2012) as well as in depressed patients (Angelucci et al., 2005). Likewise, a decrease of TGF-b1 levels has been observed in hippocampus and cortex of animal models of depression (Yu et al., 2011); furthermore, several studies carried out in depressed patients have demonstrated that plasma TGF-b1 levels are reduced and correlate with depression severity (Myint et al., 2005; Rush et al., 2016). A chronic treatment with first- and second-generation antidepressants rescues BDNF levels in different preclinical models of depression (Duman and Monteggia, 2006), while selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors (SSRIs) drugs and the new multimodal antidepressant vortioxetine are able to reverse the depressive-like phenotype and memory deficits induced by amyloid-b (Ab) in mice by the rescue of TGF-b1 (Torrisi et al., 2019). Furthermore, antidepressant drugs exert immunoregulatory effects reducing the production of proinflammatory cytokines and stimulating the synthesis of TGF-b1 in depressed patients (Sutcigil et al., 2007).

Noteworthy, it has been shown that epigenetic mechanisms such as DNA methylation, microRNAs, and histone modifications are able to influence the

development of depression (Lin and Tsai, 2019) and, with specific regard to BDNF, their altered activity can in turn affect the expression and the activity of this neurotrophic factor (Hing et al., 2018).

Several studies have demonstrated that aerobic exercise (AE) could represent a non-pharmacological strategy to improve the treatment of depression, decreasing, at the same time, the burden of somatic comorbidity of this pathology (Mura and Carta, 2013; Josefsson et al., 2014). Since the 1980s, several papers have reported on the beneficial effects played by exercise and physical activity in the treatment of depression, effects comparable to those of antidepressants (Martinsen et al., 1985; Babyak et al., 2000; Belvederi Murri et al., 2018; Lopez-Torres Hidalgo, 2019). This increased interest in this field has led to the proposal that physical exercise may serve as an alternative or integrative approach in combination with monoaminergic drugs for the treatment of MDD (Martinsen, 2008).

In the present review we will provide a general overview on the possible synergism between physical activity and antidepressants in treatment of MDD, analyzing the possible benefits of physical activity both at a neurobiological level and clinical level focusing in particular on the treatment of affective and cognitive symptoms in MDD.

The Pathophysiology of Depression: the role of Neurotrophic factors and the possible impact of physical activity

MDD shows a complex pathophysiology that has been only partially elucidated in the last 10 years (Caraci et al., 2018a). Chronic stress, reduced synaptic plasticity, impairment of adult hippocampal neurogenesis, and hippocampal neurodegeneration along with the well-known dysregulation of the monoaminergic system contribute to explain the pathophysiology of MDD (Jaggar et al., 2019; Vu, 2019). Epidemiological studies support the pivotal role played by chronic stress in MDD (Pittenger and Duman, 2008); in fact, the exposure to stressful life events contributes to the development of this disease (Czeh and Lucassen, 2007). Chronic stress leads to an impaired negative feedback of glucocorticoids (GR) on the activity of HPA axis,

which results in elevated cortisol levels (de Kloet et al., 2005). Excess of GR is able to induce neuronal death at hippocampal level (Yu et al., 2008) as well as dysfunctional changes in the prefrontal cortex (PFC), two regions critically involved in the cognitive symptoms of depression (Krishnan and Nestler, 2008). Stress also exerts its effects by

reducing the synthesis of factors essential for neuronal homeostasis such as BDNF (Nowacka and Obuchowicz, 2013), a neurotrophin fundamental for the maintenance of dendritic spines (Vigers et al., 2012), the regulation of adult hippocampal neurogenesis (Vilar and Mira, 2016), cognitive and mood-related behavior and aging (Castren and Kojima, 2017). Reduced levels of BDNF have been connected to dendritic atrophy, neuronal apoptosis, and inhibition of neurogenesis in MDD (Nowacka and Obuchowicz, 2013). Stress decreases BDNF concentrations in hippocampus and PFC of animal models of depression (Smith et al., 1995; Duman and Monteggia, 2006; Filho et al., 2015), in line with the reduced expression of this neurotrophic factor observed at cortical, hippocampal, and peripheral level of depressed patients (Thompson Ray et al., 2011; Reinhart et al., 2015). Stress exposure also leads to an impairment of TGF-b1 signaling in different brain regions (hippocampus, cortex, and hypothalamus) (You et al., 2011; Caraci et al., 2015). This impairment has been connected to the onset of a depressive-like phenotype in mice (Torrisi et al., 2019). Lastly, a correlation between reduced TGF-b1 plasma levels, depression severity, and treatment resistance in MDD has been proved (Sutcigil et al., 2007; Caraci et al., 2018a).

In addition to HPA axis hyperactivation, immune system dysregulation and neuroinflammation play a central role in the pathophysiology of depression (Caraci et al., 2010), underlining the great impact of immune system activation on the central nervous system and in particular on the overall activity of

monoaminergic systems (Caraci et al., 2018a). An increase of two well-known proinflammatory cytokines, called interleukin (IL)-1b and tumor necrosis factor-a (TNFa), as well as a decrease of anti-inflammatory cytokines (e.g., IL-10, IL-4, and TGFb1) have been observed in hippocampus and cortex of animal models of depression (You et al., 2011) and MDD patients (Farooq et al., 2017; Caruso et al., 2019).

Antidepressant drugs, such as sertraline and fluoxetine, exert immunomodulatory effects, reducing the production of proinflammatory cytokines and stimulating the synthesis of TGF- b1 in depressed patients (Sutcigil et al., 2007; Maes et al., 2016; Caraci et al., 2018a). Furthermore, the ability of some antidepressant drugs to induce the synthesis and the release of BDNF and TGF-b1 has been demonstrated both in vitro and in vivo studies (Caraci et al., 2010), suggesting that the long time required for BDNF restore could, at least in part, contributes to explain the therapeutic latency (2–4 weeks) of these drugs (Racagni and Popoli, 2010). Recent

studies have demonstrated the rapid and long-lasting antidepressant effects of TGF-b1 as well as the key role of TGF-b1 released from microglia in mediating the antidepressant activity of (R)-ketamine (10 mg/kg) in a mouse model of depression (Zhang et al., 2020). (R)-ketamine is a novel drug under study for treatment-resistant MDD patients. Interestingly this drug rescued the expression of TGF-b1 and its receptors in the PFC and hippocampus, whereas inhibition of TGF-b1 signaling (i.e., SB431542) or neutralizing antibody of TGF-b1 blocked the antidepressant effects of (R)- ketamine, thus suggesting the essential and novel role of TGF-b1 as antidepressant.

According to the neurotrophic hypothesis of depression, which could be the impact of physical activity on the neurobiology of depression considering recent evidence in MDD patients?

Physical activity as an add-on strategy to the traditional treatment of depression is able to reduce the relapse risk, increase adherence to pharmacological treatment, and promote the management of side effects with a 60–80% of success (Neumeyer-Gromen et al., 2004; Silveira et al., 2013; **Figure 1**).

Interestingly a recent study conducted by Murri et al. (2018), has demonstrated that physical exercise, in combination with the SSRI sertraline, reduces affective symptoms and psychomotor retardation in MDD. Furthermore, the beneficial effects of AE as an add-on strategy in the treatment of moderate to severe depression has been shown in a study carried out by Imboden et al. (2019), considering different psychological and biological variables (e.g., BDNF, HPA axis activity, cognitive symptoms) besides depression severity.

Physical activity exerts beneficial effects on pre- and postnatal brain development (Gomes da Silva and Arida, 2015), stimulates neurogenesis and synaptic plasticity by increasing BDNF synthesis and release (Walsh and Tschakovsky, 2018), and reduces HPA axis hyperactivation (Nabkasorn et al., 2006). In particular, it has been proposed, as a proof of musclebrain crosstalk, that irisin, produced during exercise through the cleavage of fibronectin type III domain-containing protein 5 (FNDC5) membrane protein and able to cross the bloodbrain barrier, induces BDNF expression at brain level, which in turn will lead to an increased hippocampal neurogenesis, and therefore to enhanced learning, memory, and mood (Pedersen, 2019). With regard to TGF-b1, the plasma concentration of this neurotrophin increases in response to exercise (1 h of treadmill running) (Heinemeier et al., 2003). In a

different study enrolling healthy people and Parkinson subjects. the immunomodulatory effects of moderate intensity on plasma neurotrophins levels was investigated (Szymura et al., 2020). Szymura et al. (2020) demonstrated that after completion of the 12 weeks training program the concentration of TGF-b1 as well as of other neurothophic factors (nerve growth factor and BDNF) were found to be increased only in training groups. Furthermore, in a study considering a total of 29 athletes, the serum levels of TGF-b1 were higher in athletes with high relative Vo2peak (relVo2peak) values, a measure of the athletes' cardiovascular fitness and aerobic endurance, compared to low relVo2peak (Weinhold et al., 2016). No studies have been conducted yet in MDD patients to assess whether SSRIs can synergize with AE to increase TGF-b1 signaling, although preliminary available evidence suggests the existence of common biological targets.

All together, the above mentioned evidence suggests a synergistic effect between AE and antidepressant drugs for the treatment of depression (Figure 2), reducing the cognitive deficits that compromise the working activities of MDD patients and influence their relapse risk (Albert et al., 2016). This synergism might be particularly relevant in elderly patients with late-life depression (LLD), a clinical sub group with an increased risk to develop dementia, improving patients' cognitive outcomes (Neviani et al., 2017).



✓ Reduce the relapse risk and increase adherence to pharmacological treatment

FIGURE 1 | Physical activity as an add-on treatment strategy to antagonize stress-induced depression.



FIGURE 2 | Synergic effect between physical activity and antidepressants: positive modulation of neurotrophic factors.

Impact of physical activity on affective symptoms in MDD

Apart from biological and genetic risk factors (Hammen, 2018), physical inactivity has been identified as a risk factor for the development of depression (Adamson et al., 2016; Hammen, 2018). Along this line different studies have shown that physical activity is able to provide mental health benefits in patients with severe mental illness, reducing depressive symptoms and improving social and cognitive functions (Rosenbaum et al., 2014). In a recent global systematic review and meta-analysis including 69 studies, Vancampfort et al. (2017) have examined sedentary behavior and levels of physical activity in patients with MDD or other severe mental disorders. After the analysis of the studies, it was clear as the physical activity was connected to health benefits in healthy controls while the level of activity as well as the related benefits were low in people with severe mental illnesses (Vancampfort et al., 2017). Indeed, as confirmed in different studies, regular physical activity of moderate intensity, such as walking or cycling, is enough to give significant benefits for health and plays a protective role in preventing different mental disorders (Ashdown-Franks et al., 2019); whereas lack of exercise represents a major cause of chronic diseases, including depression (Booth et al., 2012). Several studies have focused their attention on the potential benefits of physical activity to prevent the development of this disease. The "HUNT Cohort Study" investigated whether exercise provides protection against newonset depression, the importance of both intensity and amount of physical activity and existing associations between them (Harvey et al., 2018). The results based on a healthy cohort of 33,908 adults followed for 11 years suggested that regular leisuretime exercise of any intensity provides protection against future depression development. Very recently Bennie et al. (2020) showed in a study employing a large sample (23,635) of German adults that AE is associated with a lower likelihood of depressive symptoms severity, as assessed by eightitem Patient Health Questionnaire depression scale (PHQ-8). In a case report published by Büyükturan et al. (2017), AE was able to improve physical conditions and to dramatically decrease depressive symptoms (sadness, anhedonia, reluctance to getting out of house, memory complaints) in a 76 years old female patient. Before enrolment in the study, she followed a 6-months treatment with antidepressants without getting any improvement. She followed a special 4-weeks exercise program consisting of 10 min warm-up (jogging, breathing, upper, and lower extremity active exercises), 20-25 min flexibility, balance and strengthening exercise, and 10 min cool-down exercise periods.

It has been shown that regular physical activity is able to reduce sleep disturbances (Chen et al., 2010) and improve somatic, affective, and cognitive symptoms in depressed patients, especially by enhancing the psychological health and social relationships (Babyak et al., 2000). Netz (2017), by the analysis of different randomized controlled trials in which physical exercise and pharmacologic treatment were compared, found in all studies considered, except one, that patients performing physical activity as an adjunctive treatment for depression have a significant improvement of depressive symptoms and a better clinical response after the exercise period.

An additional meta-analysis, carried out by Kvam et al. (2016), shows as different types of exercise (e.g., walking, running, cycling) could represent a viable adjunct treatment in combination with antidepressants. They demonstrate that the effects of exercise as an independent treatment were evident, with maximum efficacy showed when compared to no intervention, suggesting that physical activity may represent an alternative approach in non-responder patients. As discussed above, a regular physical activity is also able to reduce depressive symptoms by different neurobiological mechanisms. In fact. it monoaminergic can increase neurotransmission (Stenman and Lilja, 2013), reduce cortisol levels simultaneously increasing hippocampal neurogenesis (Rethorst et al., 2009; Blake, 2012; Niwa et al., 2016), and increase b-endorphin and BDNF levels (Ernst et al., 2006). Since in the brain, neurons are a significant source of BDNF, whose synthesis occurs in regions fundamental for emotional and cognitive functions (Sasi et al., 2017), these preliminary evidence suggests that physical activity, when performed in combination with pharmacological antidepressant treatment, may improve affective symptoms in MDD patients.

Impact of physical exercise on cognitive symptoms in MDD

MDD could be considered as the most common mental illness among elderly people with an estimated prevalence ranging from 4.6 to 9.3% (Luppa et al., 2012). Rates of MDD are by and large lower in healthy community-dwelling elderly people than in younger adult populations, in a range from 1 to 3% (Kessler et al., 2010). However, these rates can increase on the basis of increasing medical and psychiatric comorbidity as well as in relation to various social conditions (Espinoza and Kaufman, 2014). LLD, occurring in people with an age ≥ 60 years, is often associated to cognitive dysfunction (Taylor, 2014). Cognitive dysfunction can affect one or multiple cognitive domains such as attention, working memory, verbal fluency, visuospatial abilities, and executive function (Murrough et al., 2011). Furthermore, this clinical sub-group presents a higher risk to develop dementia, in particular Alzheimer's disease and vascular dementia (Caraci et al., 2010; Diniz et al., 2013). LLD clinical manifestations are individual suffering, increased morbidity, premature mortality, and greater healthcare utilization (Diniz et al., 2013; Meijer et al., 2013), compromising the geriatric patients' life quality (Morimoto et al., 2015). Moreover, LLD is a condition often accompanied by significant impairment in physical and social functioning as well as disability (Blazer, 2003; Chang et al., 2016). Longitudinal studies have shown that LLD worsens the outcomes of physical illnesses and the likelihood of frailty in elderly people (Butters et al., 2008; Vaughan et al., 2015). Research community has focused its attention on physical exercise as a potential non-pharmacological treatment to improve cognitive function in depressed elderly patients. Since 1990s, several studies have been carried out to demonstrate the efficacy of physical exercise as an intervention for clinical depression in these patients (Dupuis and Smale, 1995; Blumenthal et al., 1999). In a randomized controlled trial, Singh et al. (2001) demonstrated the effectiveness of a 20 weeks physical exercise program as a long-term

treatment for clinical depression in elderly patients. The same year, in a different study, the effectiveness of a structured exercise program on specific areas of cognitive functioning (e.g., attention, concentration, executive processes, figural memory) compared to antidepressants treatment has been proved (Khatri et al., 2001). In 2012, Bridle et al. (2012) showed that structured physical exercise tailored to individual ability reduces depression severity in older people with clinically significant symptoms of depression. More recently, Heinzel et al. (2015) demonstrated that all investigated types of physical exercise, such as AE, resistance training, dancing, and alternative forms of exercise (Qi Gong and Tai Chi), may serve as a feasible and additional intervention for depression in elderly people. This preliminary evidence was strengthened by a meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials carried out by Schuch et al. (2016), suggesting that previous meta-analyses have underestimated the benefits of exercise and therefore structural physical exercise should be considered as a routine component of the management of depression in older adults.

This evidence shows how physical exercise could improve the effectiveness of pharmacological treatments in elderly depressed patients (Mura and Carta, 2013; Murri et al., 2015). An improvement in memory and executive functions that persists for up to 24 months was demonstrated in elderly depressed patients who followed an integrative approach consisting of combined physical activity and pharmacological treatment (Bragin et al., 2005). Murri et al. (2015), in a study of 24 weeks employing 121 primary care patients (>65 years) with major depression, demonstrated the synergism between the antidepressant sertraline and two different types of physical exercise in improving the outcomes related to LLD. In particular, a higher remission rate (primary outcome) was observed for the higher intensity, progressive AE plus sertraline group (81%), showing an increment of +8% (and shorter time to remission) and +36% compared to lower-intensity, non-progressive exercise plus antidepressant and sertraline alone, respectively.

Neviani et al. (2017) performed secondary analyses on data from the Safety and Efficacy of Exercise for Depression in Seniors study, a trial comparing the effectiveness of sertraline, in the absence or in the presence of progressive or nonprogressive exercise. The results of 121 patients (mean age 75 years) showed improvements of Montreal Cognitive Assessment (MoCA) total scores and visuospatial/executive functions for sertraline plus progressive exercise group, showing how the addition of aerobic, progressive exercise to antidepressant drug treatment may offer significant advantages over standard treatment with regard to cognitive abilities and disability (Neviani et al., 2017).

Conclusion

Physical activity stimulates neurogenesis and synaptic plasticity through BDNF synthesis and release, induces physiological changes in endorphine and monoamine levels, increases the plasma concentration of TGF-b1, and reduces cortisol levels; it can also act as an "anti-inflammatory factor" increasing IL-10 levels and suppressing TNF-a production, thus exerting "antidepressant-like effects". Therefore, we can assert that physical activity modulates many mechanisms and systems involved in the pathophysiology of depression. Physical activity has also proved able to act on the core symptoms of depression, decreasing sadness, anhedonia, and sleep disturbances, improving metabolic control and cognitive functions such as attention and concentration, and also decreasing the risk of depression and dementia development. Lastly, different clinical trials have highlighted the effects of physical activity as add-on treatment for MDD patients with moderate to severe depression, underlining the existing synergism between AE and the traditional pharmacological treatment. This synergism might be particularly relevant in elderly patients with LLD, a clinical sub-group characterized by an increased risk to develop dementia.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

All authors listed have made a substantial, direct and intellectual contribution to the work, and approved it for publication.

FUNDING

This work was supported by PRIN2017 (Program of Relevant National interest-2017AY8BP4_004) from the Italian Ministry of University and Research.

References

Adamson, B. C., Yang, Y., and Motl, R. W. (2016). Association between compliance with physical activity guidelines, sedentary behavior and depressive symptoms. *Prev. Med.* 91, 152–157. doi: 10.1016/j.ypmed.2016.08.020

Albert, U., Brugnoli, R., Caraci, F., Dell'Osso, B., Di Sciascio, G., Tortorella, A., et al. (2016). Italian psychiatrists' perception on cognitive symptoms in major depressive disorder. *Int. J. Psychiatry Clin. Pract.* 20, 2–9. doi: 10.3109/13651501.2015.1093147

Altar, C. A. (1999). Neurotrophins and depression. Trends Pharmacol. Sci. 20, 59–61. doi: 10.1016/s0165-6147(99)01309-1307

Angelucci, F., Brene, S., and Mathe, A. A. (2005). BDNF in schizophrenia, depression and corresponding animal models. *Mol. Psychiatry* 10, 345–352. doi: 10.1038/sj.mp.4001637

Ashdown-Franks, G., Sabiston, C. M., and Stubbs, B. (2019). The evidence for physical activity in the management of major mental illnesses: a concise overview to inform busy clinicians' practice and guide policy. *Curr. Opin. Psychiatry* 32, 375–380. doi: 10.1097/yco.00000000000526

Askari, J., Saberi-Kakhki, A., Taheri, H., Yassini, S. M., and Hassanbeigi, A. (2019). Theeffect of aerobic exercise on various symptoms of depression: the mediating role of quality of life. *Sport Sci. Health* 1–8. doi: 10.1007/s11332-019-00601-w

Babyak, M., Blumenthal, J. A., Herman, S., Khatri, P., Doraiswamy, M., Moore, K., et al. (2000). Exercise treatment for major depression: maintenance of therapeutic benefit at 10 months. *Psychosom. Med.* 62, 633–638. doi: 10.1097/00006842-200009000-200009006

Belvederi Murri, M., Ekkekakis, P., Magagnoli, M., Zampogna, D., Cattedra, S., Capobianco, L., et al. (2018). Physical exercise in major depression: reducing the mortality gap while improving clinical outcomes. *Front. Psychiatry* 9:762. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2018.00762

Bennie, J. A., Teychenne, M., and Tittlbach, S. (2020). Muscle-strengthening exercise and depressive symptom severity among a nationally representative sample of 23,635 German adults. *J. Affect. Disord.* 266, 282–287.

Berry, A., Bellisario, V., Capoccia, S., Tirassa, P., Calza, A., Alleva, E., et al. (2012). Social deprivation stress is a triggering factor for the emergence of anxiety- and depression-like behaviours and leads to reduced brain BDNF levels in C57BL/6J mice. *Psychoneuroendocrinology* 37, 762–772. doi: 10.1016/j.psyneuen.2011.09.007

Blake, H. (2012). Physical activity and exercise in the treatment of depression. *Front. Psychiatry* 3:106. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2012.00106

Blazer, D. G. (2003). Depression in late life: review and commentary. *J. Gerontol*. Ser. A 58, M249–M265.

Blumenthal, J. A., Babyak, M. A., Moore, K. A., Craighead, W. E., Herman, S., Khatri,P., et al. (1999). Effects of exercise training on older patients with major depression.*Arch. Intern. Med.* 159, 2349–2356.

Booth, F. W., Roberts, C. K., and Laye, M. J. (2012). Lack of exercise is a major cause of chronic diseases. *Compr. Physiol.* 2, 1143–1211. doi: 10.1002/cphy.c110025

Bragin, V., Chemodanova, M., Dzhafarova, N., Bragin, I., Czerniawski, J. L., and Aliev, G. (2005). Integrated treatment approach improves cognitive function in demented and clinically depressed patients. *Am. J. Alzheimer Dis. Dement.* 20, 21–26.

Bridle, C., Spanjers, K., Patel, S., Atherton, N. M., and Lamb, S. E. (2012). Effect of exercise on depression severity in older people: systematic review and metaanalysis of randomised controlled trials. *Br. J. Psychiatry* 201, 180–185. doi: 10.1192/bjp.bp.111.095174

Butters, M. A., Young, J. B., Lopez, O., Aizenstein, H. J., Mulsant, B. H., Reynolds,C. F. III, et al. (2008). Pathways linking late-life depression to persistent cognitive impairment and dementia. *Dialog. Clin. Neurosci.* 10:345.

Büyükturan, Ö, Naharcı, M., and Kırd, N. (2017). Effects of aerobic exercise in an older adult with chronic major depressive disorder who untreated with pharmacotherapy. *Ann. Yoga Phys. Ther.* 2:1019.

Caraci, F., Calabrese, F., Molteni, R., Bartova, L., Dold, M., Leggio, G. M., et al. (2018a). International union of basic and clinical pharmacology CIV: the neurobiology of treatment-resistant depression: from antidepressant classifications to novel pharmacological targets. *Pharmacol. Rev.* 70, 475–504. doi: 10.1124/pr.117.014977

Caraci, F., Spampinato, S. F., Morgese, M. G., Tascedda, F., Salluzzo, M. G., Giambirtone, M. C., et al. (2018b). Neurobiological links between depression and AD: the role of TGF-beta1 signaling as a new pharmacological target. *Pharmacol. Res.* 130, 374–384. doi: 10.1016/j.phrs.2018.02.007

Caraci, F., Copani, A., Nicoletti, F., and Drago, F. (2010). Depression and Alzheimer's disease: neurobiological links and common pharmacological targets. *Eur. J. Pharmacol.* 626, 64–71. doi: 10.1016/j.ejphar.2009.10.022

Caraci, F., Gulisano, W., Guida, C. A., Impellizzeri, A. A., Drago, F., Puzzo, D., et al. (2015). A key role for TGF-beta1 in hippocampal synaptic plasticity and memory. *Sci. Rep.* 5:11252. doi: 10.1038/srep11252

Caruso, G., Fresta, C. G., Grasso, M., Santangelo, R., Lazzarino, G., Lunte, S. M., et al. (2019). Inflammation as the common biological link between depression and cardiovascular diseases: Can carnosine exert a protective role?. *Curr. Med. Chem.* doi: 10.2174/0929867326666190712091515 [Epub ahead of print].

Castren, E., and Kojima, M. (2017). Brain-derived neurotrophic factor in mood disorders and antidepressant treatments. *Neurobiol. Dis.* 97(Pt B), 119–126. doi: 10.1016/j.nbd.2016.07.010

Chang, S. C., Pan, A., Kawachi, I., and Okereke, O. I. (2016). Risk factors for latelife depression: a prospective cohort study among older women. *Prev. Med.* 91, 144–151. doi: 10.1016/j.ypmed.2016.08.014

Chen, K. M., Chen, M. H., Lin, M. H., Fan, J. T., Lin, H. S., and Li, C. H. (2010). Effects of yoga on sleep quality and depression in elders in assisted living facilities. *J. Nurs. Res.* 18, 53–61. doi: 10.1097/JNR.0b013e3181ce5189

Czeh, B., and Lucassen, P. J. (2007). What causes the hippocampal volume decrease in depression? Are neurogenesis, glial changes and apoptosis implicated? *Eur. Arch. Psychiatry Clin. Neurosci.* 257, 250–260. doi: 10.1007/s00406-007-0728-720

de Kloet, E. R., Joels, M., and Holsboer, F. (2005). Stress and the brain: from adaptation to disease. *Nat. Rev. Neurosci.* 6, 463–475. doi: 10.1038/nrn1683

Diniz, B. S., Butters, M. A., Albert, S. M., and Dew, M. A. (2013). Late-life depression and risk of vascular dementia and Alzheimer's disease: systematic review and metaanalysis of community-based cohort studies. *Br. J. Psychiatry* 202, 329–335. doi: 10.1192/bjp.bp.112.118307

Duman, R. S., and Li, N. (2012). A neurotrophic hypothesis of depression: role of synaptogenesis in the actions of NMDA receptor antagonists. *Philos. Trans. R. Soc. Lond. B Biol. Sci.* 367, 2475–2484. doi: 10.1098/rstb.2011.0357

Duman, R. S., and Monteggia, L. M. (2006). A neurotrophic model for stressrelated mood disorders. *Biol. Psychiatry* 59, 1116–1127. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsych. 2006.02.013

Dupuis, S. L., and Smale, B. J. (1995). An examination of relationship between psychological well-being and depression and leisure activity participation among older adults. *Soc. Leisure* 18, 67–92.

Ernst, C., Olson, A. K., Pinel, J. P., Lam, R. W., and Christie, B. R. (2006). Antidepressant effects of exercise: evidence for an adult-neurogenesis hypothesis? *J. Psychiatry Neurosci.* 31, 84–92.

Espinoza, R., and Kaufman, A. H. (2014). Diagnosis and treatment of late-life depression. *Psychiatric Times* 31, 18–18.

Farooq, R. K., Asghar, K., Kanwal, S., and Zulqernain, A. (2017). Role of inflammatory cytokines in depression: Focus on interleukin-1beta. *Biomed. Rep.* 6, 15–20. doi: 10.3892/br.2016.807

Filho, C. B., Jesse, C. R., Donato, F., Giacomeli, R., Del Fabbro, L., da Silva Antunes, M., et al. (2015). Chronic unpredictable mild stress decreases BDNF and NGF levels and Na(+),K(+)-ATPase activity in the hippocampus and prefrontal cortex of mice: antidepressant effect of chrysin. *Neuroscience* 289, 367–380. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroscience.2014.12.048

Gbd 2017 Disease and Injury Incidence and Prevalence Collaborators (2018). Global, regional, and national incidence, prevalence, and years lived with disability for 354 diseases and injuries for 195 countries and territories, 1990-2017: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2017. *Lancet* 392, 1789–1858. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(18)32279-7

Gomes da Silva, S., and Arida, R. M. (2015). Physical activity and brain development. Expert. Rev. *Neurother*. 15, 1041–1051. doi: 10.1586/14737175. 2015.1077115
Hammen, C. (2018). Risk factors for depression: an autobiographical review. *Annu. Rev. Clin. Psychol.* 14, 1–28. doi: 10.1146/annurev-clinpsy-050817-084811

Hamon, M., and Blier, P. (2013). Monoamine neurocircuitry in depression and strategies for new treatments. *Prog. Neuropsychopharmacol. Biol. Psychiatry* 45, 54–63. doi: 10.1016/j.pnpbp.2013.04.009

Harvey, S. B., Overland, S., Hatch, S. L., Wessely, S., Mykletun, A., and Hotopf, M. (2018). Exercise and the prevention of depression: results of the HUNT cohort study. *Am. J. Psychiatry* 175, 28–36. doi: 10.1176/appi.ajp.2017.161 11223

Heinemeier, K., Langberg, H., and Kjaer, M. (2003). Exercise-induced changes in circulating levels of transforming growth factor-beta-1 in humans: methodological considerations. *Eur. J. Appl. Physiol.* 90, 171–177. doi: 10.1007/s00421-003-0881-888

Heinzel, S., Lawrence, J. B., Kallies, G., Rapp, M. A., and Heissel, A. (2015). Using exercise to fight depression in older adults. *Geropsychiatry* 28, 149–162.

Hing, B., Sathyaputri, L., and Potash, J. B. (2018). A comprehensive review of genetic and epigenetic mechanisms that regulate BDNF expression and function with relevance to major depressive disorder. *Am. J. Med. Genet. B Neuropsychiatr. Genet.* 177, 143–167. doi: 10.1002/ajmg.b.32616

Hirschfeld, R. M. (2000). History and evolution of the monoamine hypothesis of depression. *J. Clin. Psychiatry* 61(Suppl. 6), 4–6.

Imboden, C., Gerber, M., Beck, J., Eckert, A., Pühse, U., Holsboer-Trachsler, E., et al. (2019). Effects of aerobic exercise as add-on treatment for inpatients with moderate to severe depression on depression severity, sleep, cognition, psychological well-being, and biomarkers: study protocol, description of study population, and manipulation check. *Front. Psychiatry* 10:262. doi: 10.3389/ fpsyt.2019.00262

Jaggar, M., Fanibunda, S. E., Ghosh, S., Duman, R. S., and Vaidya, V. A. (2019). The neurotrophic hypothesis of depression revisited: new insights and therapeutic implications. *Neurobiol. Depress* 367, 43–62.

Josefsson, T., Lindwall, M., and Archer, T. (2014). Physical exercise intervention in depressive disorders: meta-analysis and systematic review. *Scand. J. Med. Sci. Sports* 24, 259–272. doi: 10.1111/sms.12050

Kessler, R. C., Birnbaum, H., Bromet, E., Hwang, I., Sampson, N., and Shahly, V. (2010). Age differences in major depression: results from the national comorbidity survey replication (NCS-R). *Psychol. Med.* 40, 225–237. doi: 10. 1017/s0033291709990213

Khatri, P., Blumenthal, J. A., Babyak, M. A., Craighead, W. E., Herman, S., Baldewicz, T., et al. (2001). Effects of exercise training on cognitive functioning among depressed older men and women. *J. Aging Phys. Activ.* 9, 43–57.

Krishnan, V., and Nestler, E. J. (2008). The molecular neurobiology of depression. *Nature* 455, 894–902. doi: 10.1038/nature07455

Kvam, S., Kleppe, C. L., Nordhus, I. H., and Hovland, A. (2016). Exercise as a treatment for depression: a meta-analysis. *J. Affect. Disord.* 202, 67–86. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2016.03.063

Lin, E., and Tsai, S. J. (2019). Epigenetics and depression: an update. *Psychiatry Investig.* 16, 654–661. doi: 10.30773/pi.2019.07.17.2

Lopez-Munoz, F., and Alamo, C. (2009). Monoaminergic neurotransmission: the history of the discovery of antidepressants from 1950s until today. *Curr. Pharm. Des.* 15, 1563–1586. doi: 10.2174/138161209788168001

Lopez-Torres Hidalgo, J. (2019). Effectiveness of physical exercise in the treatment of depression in older adults as an alternative to antidepressant drugs in primary care. BMC *Psychiatry* 19:21. doi: 10.1186/s12888-018-1982-1986

Luppa, M., Sikorski, C., Luck, T., Ehreke, L., Konnopka, A., Wiese, B., et al. (2012). Age- and gender-specific prevalence of depression in latest-life–systematic review and meta-analysis. *J. Affect. Disord.* 136, 212–221. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2010.11.033

Maes, M., Nowak, G., Caso, J. R., Leza, J. C., Song, C., Kubera, M., et al. (2016). Toward Omics-based, systems biomedicine, and path and drug discovery methodologies for depression-inflammation research. *Mol. Neurobiol.* 53, 2927–2935. doi: 10.1007/s12035-015-9183-9185

Martinsen, E. W. (2008). Physical activity in the prevention and treatment of anxiety and depression. *Nord. J. Psychiatry* 62(Suppl. 47), 25–29. doi: 10.1080/08039480802315640

Martinsen, E. W., Medhus, A., and Sandvik, L. (1985). Effects of aerobic exercise on depression: a controlled study. *Br. Med. J.* 291:109. doi: 10.1136/bmj.291.6488.109

Meijer, A., Conradi, H. J., Bos, E. H., Anselmino, M., Carney, R. M., Denollet, J., et al. (2013). Adjusted prognostic association of depression following myocardial infarction with mortality and cardiovascular events: individual patient data metaanalysis. *Br. J. Psychiatry* 203, 90–102. doi: 10.1192/bjp.bp.112.111195

Morimoto, S. S., Kanellopoulos, D., Manning, K. J., and Alexopoulos, G. S. (2015). Diagnosis and treatment of depression and cognitive impairment in late-life. *Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci.* 1345:36.

Mura, G., and Carta, M. G. (2013). Physical activity in depressed elderly. A systematic review. *Clin. Pract. Epidemiol. Ment. Health* 9, 125–135. doi: 10.2174/1745017901309010125

Murri, M. B., Amore, M., Menchetti, M., Toni, G., Neviani, F., Cerri, M., et al. (2015). Physical exercise for late-life major depression. *Br. J. Psychiatry* 207, 235–242.

Murri, M. B., Ekkekakis, P., Menchetti, M., Neviani, F., Trevisani, F., Tedeschi, S., et al. (2018). Physical exercise for late-life depression: effects on symptom dimensions and time course. *J. Affect. Disord.* 230, 65–70. doi: 10.1016/j.jad. 2018.01.004

Murrough, J. W., Iacoviello, B., Neumeister, A., Charney, D. S., and Iosifescu, D. V. (2011). Cognitive dysfunction in depression: neurocircuitry and new therapeutic strategies. *Neurobiol. Learn. Mem.* 96, 553–563.

Myint, A. M., Leonard, B. E., Steinbusch, H. W., and Kim, Y. K. (2005). Th1, Th2, and Th3 cytokine alterations in major depression. *J. Affect. Disord.* 88, 167–173. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2005.07.008

Nabkasorn, C., Miyai, N., Sootmongkol, A., Junprasert, S., Yamamoto, H., Arita, M., et al. (2006). Effects of physical exercise on depression, neuroendocrine stress hormones and physiological fitness in adolescent females with depressive symptoms. *Eur. J. Public Health* 16, 179–184. doi: 10.1093/eurpub/cki159

Netz, Y. (2017). Is the comparison between exercise and pharmacologic treatment of depression in the clinical practice guideline of the american college of physicians evidence-based? *Front. Pharmacol.* 8:257. doi: 10.3389/fphar.2017.00257

Neumeyer-Gromen, A., Lampert, T., Stark, K., and Kallischnigg, G. (2004). Disease management programs for depression: a systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. *Med. Care* 42, 1211–1221. doi: 10.1097/00005650-200412000-200412008

Neviani, F., Belvederi Murri, M., Mussi, C., Triolo, F., Toni, G., Simoncini, E., et al. (2017). Physical exercise for late life depression: effects on cognition and disability. *Int. Psychogeriatr.* 29, 1105–1112. doi: 10.1017/s1041610217000576

Niwa, A., Nishibori, M., Hamasaki, S., Kobori, T., Liu, K., Wake, H., et al. (2016). Voluntary exercise induces neurogenesis in the hypothalamus and ependymal lining of the third ventricle. *Brain Struct. Funct.* 221, 1653–1666. doi: 10.1007/s00429-015-0995-x

Nowacka, M., and Obuchowicz, E. (2013). BDNF and VEGF in the pathogenesis of stress-induced affective diseases: an insight from experimental studies. *Pharmacol. Rep.* 65, 535 546. doi: 10.1016/s1734-1140(13)71031-71034

Pedersen, B. K. (2019). Physical activity and muscle-brain crosstalk. *Nat. Rev. Endocrinol.* 15, 383–392. doi: 10.1038/s41574-019-0174-x

Pittenger, C., and Duman, R. S. (2008). Stress, depression, and neuroplasticity: a convergence of mechanisms. *Neuropsychopharmacology* 33, 88–109. doi: 10. 1038/sj.npp.1301574

Racagni, G., and Popoli, M. (2010). The pharmacological properties of antidepressants. *Int. Clin. Psychopharmacol.* 25, 117–131. doi: 10.1097/YIC. 0b013e3283311acd

Reinhart, V., Bove, S. E., Volfson, D., Lewis, D. A., Kleiman, R. J., and Lanz, T. A. (2015). Evaluation of TrkB and BDNF transcripts in prefrontal cortex, hippocampus, and striatum from subjects with schizophrenia, bipolar disorder, and major depressive disorder. *Neurobiol. Dis.* 77, 220–227. doi: 10.1016/j.nbd. 2015.03.011

Rethorst, C. D., Wipfli, B. M., and Landers, D. M. (2009). The antidepressive effects of exercise: a meta-analysis of randomized trials. *Sports Med.* 39, 491–511. doi: 10.2165/00007256-200939060-200939064

Rosenbaum, S., Tiedemann, A., Sherrington, C., Curtis, J., and Ward, P. B. (2014). Physical activity interventions for people with mental illness: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *J. Clin. Psychiatry* 75, 964–974. doi: 10.4088/JCP. 13r08765

Rush, G., O'Donovan, A., Nagle, L., Conway, C., McCrohan, A., O'Farrelly, C., et al. (2016). Alteration of immune markers in a group of melancholic depressed patients and their response to electroconvulsive therapy. *J. Affect. Disord.* 205, 60–68. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2016.06.035

Sasi, M., Vignoli, B., Canossa, M., and Blum, R. (2017). Neurobiology of local and intercellular BDNF signaling. *Pflugers. Arch.* 469, 593–610. doi: 10.1007/ s00424-017-1964-1964

Schuch, F. B., Vancampfort, D., Rosenbaum, S., Richards, J., Ward, P. B., Veronese, N., et al. (2016). Exercise for depression in older adults: a meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials adjusting for publication bias. *Braz. J. Psychiatry* 38, 247–254.

Silveira, H., Moraes, H., Oliveira, N., Coutinho, E. S., Laks, J., and Deslandes, A. (2013). Physical exercise and clinically depressed patients: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Neuropsychobiology* 67, 61–68. doi: 10.1159/000345160

Singh, N. A., Clements, K. M., and Singh, M. A. (2001). The efficacy of exercise as a long-term antidepressant in elderly subjects: a randomized, controlled trial. *J. Gerontol. A Biol. Sci. Med. Sci.* 56, M497–M504. doi: 10.1093/gerona/56.8. m497

Smith, M. A., Makino, S., Kvetnansky, R., and Post, R. M. (1995). Stress and glucocorticoids affect the expression of brain-derived neurotrophic factor and neurotrophin-3 mRNAs in the hippocampus. *J. Neurosci.* 15(3 Pt 1), 1768–1777.

Stenman, E., and Lilja, A. (2013). Increased monoaminergic neurotransmission improves compliance with physical activity recommendations in depressed patients with fatigue. *Med. Hypotheses* 80, 47–49. doi: 10.1016/j.mehy.2012.10.007

Sutcigil, L., Oktenli, C., Musabak, U., Bozkurt, A., Cansever, A., Uzun, O., et al. (2007). Pro- and anti-inflammatory cytokine balance in major depression: effect of sertraline therapy. *Clin. Dev. Immunol.* 2007:76396. doi: 10.1155/2007/76396

Szymura, J., Kubica, J., Wiecek, M., and Pera, J. (2020). The immunomodulary effects of systematic exercise in older adults and people with Parkinson's Disease. *J. Clin. Med.* 9:184. doi: 10.3390/jcm9010184

Taylor, W. D. (2014). Clinical practice. Depression in the elderly. *N. Engl. J. Med.* 371, 1228–1236. doi: 10.1056/NEJMcp1402180

Thompson Ray, M., Weickert, C. S., Wyatt, E., and Webster, M. J. (2011). Decreased BDNF, trkB-TK+ and GAD67 mRNA expression in the hippocampus of individuals with schizophrenia and mood disorders. *J. Psychiatry Neurosci.* 36, 195–203. doi: 10.1503/jpn.100048

Torrisi, S. A., Geraci, F., Tropea, M. R., Grasso, M., Caruso, G., Fidilio, A., et al. (2019). Fluoxetine and vortioxetine reverse depressive-like phenotype and memory deficits induced by abeta1-42 oligomers in mice: a key role of transforming growth factor-beta1. *Front. Pharmacol.* 10:693. doi: 10.3389/ fphar.2019.00693

Vancampfort, D., Firth, J., Schuch, F. B., Rosenbaum, S., Mugisha, J., Hallgren, M., et al. (2017). Sedentary behavior and physical activity levels in people with schizophrenia, bipolar disorder and major depressive disorder: a global systematic review and meta-analysis. *World Psychiatry* 16, 308–315. doi: 10. 1002/wps.20458

Vaughan, L., Corbin, A. L., and Goveas, J. S. (2015). Depression and frailty in later life: a systematic review. *Clin. Intervent. Aging* 10:1947.

Vigers, A. J., Amin, D. S., Talley-Farnham, T., Gorski, J. A., Xu, B., and Jones, K. R. (2012). Sustained expression of brain-derived neurotrophic factor is required for maintenance of dendritic spines and normal behavior. *Neuroscience* 212, 1–18. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroscience.2012.03.031

Vilar, M., and Mira, H. (2016). Regulation of neurogenesis by neurotrophins during adulthood: expected and unexpected roles. *Front. Neurosci.* 10:26. doi: 10.3389/fnins.2016.00026

Vu, D. (2019). Molecular mechanism of depression: a narrative review of the leading neurobiological theories of depression. *Austr. Med. Stud. J.* 9.1.

Walsh, J. J., and Tschakovsky, M. E. (2018). Exercise and circulating BDNF: Mechanisms of release and implications for the design of exercise interventions. *Appl. Physiol. Nutr. Metab.* 43, 1095–1104. doi: 10.1139/apnm-2018-2192

Weinhold, M., Shimabukuro-Vornhagen, A., Franke, A., Theurich, S., Wahl, P., Hallek, M., et al. (2016). Physical exercise modulates the homeostasis of human regulatory T cells. J. Allergy Clin. Immunol. 137, 1607–1610. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci. 2015.10.035

You, Z., Luo, C., Zhang, W., Chen, Y., He, J., Zhao, Q., et al. (2011). Pro- and antiinflammatory cytokines expression in rat's brain and spleen exposed to chronic mild stress: involvement in depression. *Behav. Brain Res.* 225, 135–141. doi: 10.1016/j.bbr.2011.07.006

Yu, S., Holsboer, F., and Almeida, O. F. (2008). Neuronal actions of glucocorticoids: focus on depression. *J. Steroid Biochem. Mol. Biol.* 108, 300–309. doi: 10.1016/j. jsbmb.2007.09.014

Yu, T., Guo, M., Garza, J., Rendon, S., Sun, X. L., Zhang, W., et al. (2011). Cognitive and neural correlates of depression-like behaviour in socially defeated mice: an animal model of depression with cognitive dysfunction. *Int. J. Neuropsychopharmacol.* 14, 303–317. doi: 10.1017/s1461145710000945

Zhang, K., Yang, C., Chang, L., Sakamoto, A., Suzuki, T., Fujita, Y., et al. (2020). Essential role of microglial transforming growth factor-beta1 in antidepressant actions of (R)-ketamine and the novel antidepressant TGF-beta1. *Transl. Psychiatry* 10:32. doi: 10.1038/s41398-020-0733-x

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2020 Guerrera, Furneri, Grasso, Caruso, Castellano, Drago, Di Nuovo and Caraci. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Chapter II

The link between Apathy and Alzheimer's Disease: the role of psychometric tools and the possible implications for the treatment

Giovanna Furneri^{1,2}, Grazia Razza³, Mario Santagati³, Filippo Drago¹, Santo Di Nuovo² & Filippo Caraci^{4,5}

¹ Department of Biomedical and Biotechnological Sciences, University of Catania, Catania, Italy.

² Department of Educational Sciences, University of Catania, Catania, Italy.

³ ASP3 Catania, Department of Mental Health, Alzheimer Psychogeriatric Center, Catania, Italy.

⁴ Department of Drug Sciences, University of Catania, Catania, Italy. 5 Oasi Research Institute – IRCCS, Troina, Italy.

Correspondence to: Giovanna Furneri, Department of Biomedical and Biotechnological Sciences, University of Catania, Via Santa Sofia 97, 95123 Catania, Italy. E-mail: giofurneri@gmail.com.

Abstract

Abstract Alzheimer's Disease (AD) represents a critical challenge because of its increasing neuropsychological impairment with progressive cognitive decline accompanied by Behavioral and Psychological Symptoms of Dementia (BPSD) in almost 90% of patients. BPSD represent relevant clinical problems, leading to a worsening in the general conditions of patients. More specifically, apathy is often associated with a poor response to treatment, a faster cognitive and functional decline and an increased mortality rate.

Apathy can be considered as a common symptom of AD and as an early marker of cognitive decline and transition from mild cognitive impairment to dementia. Recent studies have shown different neurobiological and clinical links between apathy and AD. Evidence discussed in the present article suggests a strong clinical link between apathy and AD as well as the relevance of psychometric tools, such as the Apathy Evaluation Scale (AES), to better diagnose and treat apathy in patients with AD. The

aim of this review was thus to provide a general overview of the neurobiological and clinical links between apathy and AD, with the purpose of evaluating the impact of apathy on the health of AD patients, focusing on the role of psychometric tools and the possible implications for treatment. A multimodal intervention should be promoted as an innovative approach for the future treatment of apathetic AD patients.

Keywords: Apathy; Alzheimer; Psychometric tools; Treatment.

*published in Life Span and Disability XXIV, 1 (2021), 85-111

1. Introduction

Alzheimer's Disease (AD) can be defined as a progressive and remediless neurodegenerative disease that affects an increasing number of subjects over the age of 65 (Albert, 2007). It is the most common form of dementia (Herrera, Caramelli, Silveira, & Nitrini, 2002; Hirtz, Thurman, Gwinn-Hardy, Mohamed, Chaudhuri, & Zalutsky, 2007) and in recent years it has been demonstrated (Isaacson, Ganzer, Hristov, Hackett, Caesar, Cohen et al., 2018) that late-onset AD begins decades before a diagnosis, with a long preclinical and prodromal phase often beginning in midlife (Frisoni, Winblad, & O'Brien, 2011). AD represents a critical challenge to the health care system with the aging population (Robert, Ferris, Gauthier, Ihl, Winblad, & Tennigkeit, 2010) because of its increasing neuropsychological impairment with a progressive decline of memory, language, executive function and visuospatial skills (Cummings & McPherson, 2001). The characteristics of the disease, of cognitive and functional decline, are accompanied by Behavioral and Psychological Symptoms of Dementia (BPSD) in almost 90% of patients (Guimarães, Levy, Teixeira, Beato, & Caramelli, 2008). BPSD are symptoms of disturbed perception, thought content, mood, and behavior that occur frequently in patients with dementia; they are common precipitators of institutional care (Mitchell, Herrmann, & Lanctôt, 2011) and significantly contribute to decreasing the quality of life of caregivers (Lyketsos, Lopez, Jones, Fizpatrick, Breitner, & Dekosky, 2002; Banerjee, Smith, Lamping, Harwood, Foley, Smith et al., 2006). BPSD, including apathy, agitation, delusion, irritability, anxiety, disinhibition and hallucinations (Cummings & McPherson, 2001), represent significant clinical problems, leading to an accelerated functional decline, the distress

of caregivers and aggression towards patients and possibly to an increased mortality rate, as reviewed by Guimarães and colleagues (2008).

Apathy can be defined as a specific dimension of behavior, characterized by a lack of motivation (Marin, Firinciogullari, & Biedrzycki, 1993), in which motivation is a superordinate concept referring to the psychological structure and the determinants of goal-directed behavior (Bindra, 1959; Madsen, 1973). Apathy in often associated with a poor response to treatment, the reliance on caregivers to start activities, a more rapid cognitive and functional decline and an increased mortality rate (Ruslan, Teerenstra, Smalbrugge, Vernooij-Dassen, Bohlmeijer, Gerritsen et al., 2013). For clinical purposes apathy is often considered as a symptom of other syndromes, such as depression or dementia (Marin et al., 1993). However, it can be considered as a syndrome in itself and conceptualized as a syndrome of reduced motivation in which the lack of motivation is not attributable to a reduced level of consciousness, emotional distress, or cognitive deficits (Marin, 1991). Apathy is a multidimensional construct that can include both the emotional and the social sphere and presents three separate dimensions consisting of cognitive, affective and behavioral symptoms (Robert, Onyike, Leentjens, Dujardin, Aalten, Starkstein et al., 2009) although there is heterogeneity in the degree in which each dimension could be present. The prevalence of apathy is well documented in different neuropsychiatric disorders (Padala, Frederick, & Subhash, 2005), especially in Mild Cognitive Impairment (MCI) and AD. In fact, from an epidemiological point of view, apathy can be considered as a common symptom of AD (Rea, Carotenuto, Fasanaro, Traini, & Amenta, 2014). Recent studies have shown that the higher the level of apathy, the more it is a predictor of the transition to dementia (Lanctôt, 2017). Most of the epidemiological studies on apathy in the context of AD refer to studies on the prevalence or change of apathy symptoms over time (Brodaty, Altendorf, Withall, & Sachdev, 2010). Apathy is predominant both in MCI and dementia and its prevalence is positively related to the severity of dementia (Lanctôt, 2017). It can determine high levels of distress in caregivers (Samus, Rosenblatt, Steele, Baker, Harper, Brandt et al., 2005) and, as in the case with AD, it can provoke several conflicts and unpleasant emotions, like anger and exhaustion, between patients and caregivers. On the basis of this evidence apathy can be considered as an early marker of cognitive decline and transition to dementia. This has prompted the field to flag it as a high-value neuropsychiatric state of risk, as has been highlighted in the latest guidelines for preclinical AD from the National Institute on Aging (Sperling, Aisen, Beckett, Bennett, Craft, Fagan et al., 2011). But already in 2008, The European Alzheimer's Disease Consortium had drawn guidelines for the diagnosis of apathy (Winbald, Frisoni, Frolich, Johannsen, Johansson, Kehoe et al., 2008). To make a correct diagnosis of apathy the reduced motivation clinical picture must persist for no less than four weeks, and two of the following three dimensions should be present: (I) reduced goal-directed behavior, (II) reduced goal-directed cognitive activity, and (III) reduced emotions. In a recent work, Robert and collaborators (Robert, Lanctôt, Agüera-Ortizc, Aaltend, Bremonda, Defrancescof et al., 2018) proposed new diagnostic criteria for apathy to be adopted both in the clinical and the research domain (see Tab. 1).

TAB.1 New Diagnostic Criteria For Apathy 2018.

CRITERION A: A quantitative reduction of goal-directed activity either in behavioral, cognitive, emotional or social dimensions in comparison to the patient's previous level of functioning in these areas. These changes may be reported by the patient himself/herself or by observation of others.

CRITERION B: The presence of at least 2 of the 3 following dimensions for a period of at least four weeks and present most of the time

B1. BEHAVIOUR & COGNITION Loss of, or diminished, goal-directed behaviour or cognitive activity as evidenced by at least one of the following: General level of activity: the patient has a reduced level of activity either at home or work, makes less effort to initiate or accomplish tasks spontaneously, or needs to be prompted to perform them. Persistence of activity: He/she is less persistent in maintaining an activity or conversation, finding solutions to problems or thinking of alternative ways to accomplish them if they become difficult. Making choices: He/she has less interest or takes longer to make choices when different alternatives exist (e.g., selecting TV programs, preparing meals, choosing from a menu, etc.) Interest in external issue: He/she has less interest in or reacts less to news, either good or bad, or has less interest in doing new things Personal wellbeing: He/she is less interested in his/her own health and wellbeing or personal image (general appearance, grooming, clothes, etc.).

B2. EMOTION Loss of, or diminished, emotion as evidenced by at least one of the following: Spontaneous emotions: the patient shows less spontaneous (self-generated) emotions regarding their own affairs, or appears less interested in events that should matter to him/her or to people that he/she knows well. Emotional reactions to environment: He/she expresses less emotional reaction in response to positive or negative events in his/her environment that affect him/her or people he/she knows well (e.g., when things go well or bad, responding to jokes, or events on a TV program or a movie, or when disturbed or prompted to do things he/she would prefer not to do). Impact on others: He/she is less concerned about the impact of his/her actions or feelings on the people around him/her. Empathy: He/she shows less empathy to the emotions or feelings of others (e.g., becoming happy or sad when someone is happy or sad, or being moved when others need help). Verbal or physical expressions: He/she shows less verbal or physical reactions that reveal his/her emotional states.

B3. SOCIAL INTERACTION Loss of, or diminished engagement in social interaction as evidenced by at least one of the following: Spontaneous social initiative: the patient takes less initiative in spontaneously proposing social or leisure activities to family

or others. Environmentally stimulated social interaction: He/she participates less, or is less comfortable or more indifferent to social or leisure activities suggested by people around him/her. Relationship with family members: He/she shows less interest in family members (e.g., to know what is happening to them, to meet them or make arrangements to contact them). Verbal interaction: He/she is less likely to initiate a conversation, or he/she withdraws soon from it Homebound: He /She prefer to stays at home more frequently or longer than usual and shows less interest in getting out to meet people.

CRITERION C These symptoms (A - B) cause clinically significant impairment in personal, social, occupational, or other important areas of functioning.

CRITERION D The symptoms (A - B) are not exclusively explained or due to physical disabilities (e.g. blindness and loss of hearing), to motor disabilities, to a diminished level of consciousness, to the direct physiological effects of a substance (e.g. drug of abuse, medication), or to major changes in the patient's environment.

Cit. from Robert, P. et al. (2018). The original article has been published under the CC BY-NC-ND license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by- nc-nd/4.0/). European Psychiatry 54 (2018) 71–76 Contents lists available at ScienceDirect European Psychiatry journal homepage: http://www.europsy-journal.com

The recent evidence thus suggests a key role of apathy in AD. Along this line the aim of this review was to provide a general overview of the neurobiological and clinical links between apathy and AD, with the purpose of giving the clinicians the opportunity to evaluate the impact of apathy on the health of AD patients, focusing on the role of psychometric tools and the possible implications for treatment.

2. Neurobiological links between apathy and Alzheimer's Disease

In recent years, apathy has been deeply investigated, due to its high prevalence in neuropsychiatric disorders, especially in AD. Several studies have demonstrated its anatomical and neuropsychological correlates, in particular through neuroimaging studies. An association was found, for example, between apathy and the dysfunction in both the dorsolateral and orbitofrontal areas of the prefrontal regions and subregions within the basal ganglia (Eslinger, Moore, Antani, Anderson, & Grossman, 2012). In particular, an association between apathy and atrophy was revealed in AD concerning many different frontal regions, such as the anterior cingulate cortex (ACC) (Apostolova, Akopyan, Partiali, Steiner, Dutton, Hayashi et al., 2007; Bruen, McGeown, Shanks, & Venneri, 2008; Grambaite, Selnes, Reinvang, Aarsland, Hessen, Gjerstad et al., 2011; Tunnard, Whitehead, Hurt, Wahlund, Mecocci, Tsolaki et al., 2011; Mori, Shimada, Shinotoh, Hirano, Eguchi, Yamada et al., 2014), the medial frontal cortex (Apostolova et al., 2007; Mori et al., 2014), the orbitofrontal cortex (Holthoff, Beuthien-Baumann, Kalbe, Lüdecke, Lenz, Zündorf et al., 2005; Tunnard et al., 2011; Mori et al., 2014), the pars triangularis and insula (Tunnard et al., 2011; Moon, Moon, Kim, & Han, 2014; Mori et al., 2014), the lower inferior temporal cortical thickness (Donovan, Wadsworth, Lorius, Locascio, Rentz, Johnson et al., 2014; Guercio, Donovan, Ward, Schultz, Lorius, Amariglio et al., 2015), as well as the fronto-parietal control network connectivity (Munro, Donovan, Guercio, Wigman, Schultz, Amariglio et al., 2015). Moreover, as recently reviewed by Starkstein and Brockman (2018), the decreased density of grey matter in the right superior frontal gyrus, in the bilateral middle and inferior frontal gyrus, the ACC and the basal ganglia (bilateral putamen and head of the caudate) has found to be correlated to an increased risk to develop apathy. These areas are critically involved in affective modulation and in sensory and emotional information processing (Tekin & Cummings, 2002; Levy & Dubois, 2006). A great attention has been given to the anterior cingulate cortex because it is involved in the systems of motivation and reward as a part of a frontal striatal circuit; moreover, it has been demonstrated that this circuit is correlated with symptoms of apathy (Tekin & Cummings, 2002; Blundo & Gerace, 2015). Levy and Dubois (2006) examined the correlation between the dimensions of apathy (emotional, affective, cognitional and auto-activation) and the anatomical regions of the brain. They found that three different areas of the brain could be attributed to their physiopathology; emotional-affective apathy was found to be typically associated with the damage of circuits linking the orbito-medial prefrontal and limbic cortex to the basal ganglia. Cognitive apathy was, instead, generally correlated to the dysfunction of the dorsolateral prefrontal cortex and related portions within the basal ganglia, while auto-activation apathy was related to the associative and limbic territories of the internal portion of the globus pallidus.

Finally, the hypofunction of the dopaminergic system should also be taken into consideration as a relevant neurobiological link between apathy and AD. As reviewed by Mitchell and colleagues (2011), in AD patients there seems to be a correlation between the pathophysiological changes to the DAergic neurons in the reward system and the onset of apathy. Indeed, DA mediates feelings of motivation, but it has been shown that there is a dysfunction of the dopaminergic system at an early stage of the pathogenesis of AD with a central role in the pathophysiology of memory deficits and apathy in AD (D'Amelio, Puglisi-Allegra, & Mercuri, 2018).

3. Psychometric tools to evaluate apathy in AD

Whereas apathy can be considered as a preclinical manifestation of the disease and AD patients can have a more rapid cognitive decline (Starkstein, Jorge, Mizrahi, & Robinson, 2006) and a more rapid loss of autonomy in the activities of daily life, a rapid recognition and diagnosis are needed to plan an appropriate treatment. An accurate assessment is essential to improve the management of apathy and its associated symptoms and conditions. Several psychometric tools for apathy are present in the literature, but we will describe the ones, which are most widely adopted (Clarke, Ko, Kuhl, van Reekum, Salvador, & Marin, 2011) and that have been validated on the AD population (Radakovic, Harley, Abrahams, & Starr, 2015; Mohammad, Ellis, Rau, Rosenberg, Mintzer, Ruthirakuhan et al., 2018; see Tab. 2 for details).

Full name	Abbreviation	n. Item	Authors
Apathy Evalutation Scale	AES (AES-C; AES-I; AES-S)	18	Marin, 1991
Apathy Scale	AS	14	Starkstein, 1992, 1995
Short Version Of Apathy Evaluation Scale		10	Lueken, et al. (2007)
Neuropsychiatric Inventory - Apathy Subscale	NPI - Apathy Subscale	8	Cummings, et al. 1994
Apathy Inventory	ΙΑ	3	Robert, et al. 2002
Dementia Apathy Interview and Rating	DAIR	16	Strauss, Sperry, 2002

TAB. 2 Selection of validate	l psychometric tools	s to assess Apathy	in AD
-------------------------------------	----------------------	--------------------	-------

The Apathy Evaluation Scale (AES) was developed by Marin and colleagues (Marin, Biedrzycki, & Firinciogullari, 1991), on the basis of the definition of apathy according to Marin, which describes a syndrome of loss of motivation as reflected by the acquired changes in affection (mood), behavior and cognition (Marin *et al.*, 1991). It is measured through a four-point Likert-scale, composed of 18 items that assess and quantify the emotional, behavioral and cognitive aspects of apathy. There are three different ways of measuring the scale: through a self-report (AES-S), an informant report (AES-I) or a clinician interview (AES-C). The AES-C, in particular, includes a semi-structured open-ended interview that helps the clinician to collect information from the patient concerning his/her typical day activities, hobbies and interests, which reveals the degree of the subject's motivation and directs the clinician in providing his/her own rating of the individual's level of apathy on each item. Every item is rated on a 4-point response scale (0 = not at all true/characteristic to 3 = very much true/characteristic). Higher scores indicate more severe apathy (Marin *et al.*, 1991). The AES-C version takes between 10-20 minutes to be completed (Marin *et al.*, 1991).

Different studies (Mohammad *et al.*, 2018) demonstrated good to excellent internal consistency of all the versions of the AES, varying the values for convergent validity and good discriminant validity. However, as Marin and colleagues noted (Marin, Biedrzycki, & Firinciogullari, 1991; see also Mohammad *et al.*, 2018), only the AES-C and AES-S versions were able to discriminate apathy from depression. Moreover, the AES has been employed in three Randomized Clinical Trials (RCTs) as a primary outcome in patients with apathy and AD (Herrmann, Rothenburg, Black, Ryan, Liu, Busto *et al.*, 2008; Rosenberg, Lanctôt, Drye, Herrmann, Scherer, Bachman *et al.*, 2013; Padala, Padala, Lensing, Ramirez, Monga, Bopp *et al.*, 2018).

Two different scales were developed on the basis of the first version of the AES. Starkstein and colleagues (Starkstein, Mayberg, Preziosi, Andrezejewski, Leiguarda, & Robinson, 1992) developed a 14-item Apathy Scale, which is a short and slightly modified version of Marin's AES, and they validated it on the stroke, Parkinson's and AD population (Starkstein, Migliorelli, Manes, Teson, Petracca, Chemerinski *et al.*, 1995; Starkstein, Jorge, & Mizrahi, 2006). Lueken and co-workers (Lueken, Seidl, Volker, Schweiger, Kruse, & Schroder, 2007), instead, developed an abbreviated version of Marin's instrument, reducing the items from 18 to 10. This scale demonstrated a moderate convergent validity with the Neuropsychiatric Inventory (NPI)-apathy and an excellent internal consistency (Mohammad *et al.*, 2018). The aforementioned authors reduced the items considered to be redundant (Starkstein *et al.*, 1992) or inappropriate (Lueken *et al.*, 2007) according to experts with a special

knowledge of the population being assessed. As with the original Apathy Evaluation Scale, each item is measured with a four-point Likert scale.

The NPI was developed by Cumming (Cummings, Mega, Gray, Rosenberg-Thompson, Carusi, & Gornbein, 1994; Cummings, 1997) as a multidimensional instrument to assess neurobehavioral disorders in dementia. The NPI has a specific 8item subscale to measure apathy, which lies in a general screen item rated on a yesversus-no basis. Its scores have a scale ranging from 0 to 12, and higher scores indicate a more severe presence of apathy (Cummings *et al.*, 1994; Cummings, 1997). The NPI and NPI-apathy subscale were used and validated on multicultural sample patients with dementia and AD (Clarke *et al.*, 2011).

The Apathy Inventory (AI) (Robert, Clairet, Benoit, Koutaich, Bertogliati, Tible *et al.*, 2002) is based on Marin and colleagues' diagnostic criteria of apathy (Marin, 1991; Marin *et al.*, 1991), which means lack of emotional response, self-initiated actions, and interest in things. This is why the AI includes 3 different items for the assessment of emotional blunting, lack of initiative, and symptoms of loss of interest. The AI involves two versions: a clinician-administered interview to the caregiver (AI-caregiver) or the patient (AI-patient). The frequency is rated on a fourpoint Likert scale and the severity on a three-point Likert scale. The AI validation was carried out in a mixed sample consisting of normal controls, MCI patients and AD patients (Robert *et al.*, 2002). The internal consistency reported for the caregiver-based version is of good quality and the between-rater and test-retest reliability were excellent and demonstrated favorable values for all three items on the scale (Robert *et al.*, 2002; Mohammad *et al.*, 2018).

The Dementia Apathy Interview and Rating (DAIR) (Strauss & Sperry, 2002) is an informant-based unidimensional 16-item clinician-administrated scale to measure changes in motivation, engagement, and emotional response in MCI patients with apathy. The scale is administered to a caregiver using a structured interview with questions concerning apathy in the patient over the past month. Each item is rated on a 4-point scale (0 = no or almost never to 3 = yes or almost always) with higher scores corresponding to a greater severity in apathy. Only items representing a change in behavior are included in the final apathy score. The DAIR has very good internal consistency and the two-month test-retest reliability and the inter-rater reliability also demonstrated to be very good (Strauss & Sperry, 2002).

The presence of valid and reliable apathy scales are essential to assess and plan treatment of the apathy syndrome in the AD population. As we have seen and thoroughly described, there are a lot of well-structured, valid and reliable psychometric tools for the evaluation of apathy that can be used in conjunction with other clinical tools of assessment and that provide altogether a more complex and complete clinical evaluation of the subject. However, a gold standard of apathy assessment is still lacking.

4. Pharmacological treatment of apathy in AD

The pharmacological treatment of apathy appears to be essential to take care and manage AD patients, although it still represents an unmet clinical need. Different studies have investigated the role of different psychotropic drugs on the pharmacological treatment of apathy. Concerning donepezil and rivastigmine, evidence from Randomized Clinical Trials (RCTs) suggests that cholinesterase inhibitors can improve apathy (Winblad, Engedal, Soininen, Verhey, Waldemar, & Wimo, 1999; Cummings, Koumaras, Chen, & Mirski, 2005) and delay its onset (Waldemar, Gauthier, Jones, Wilkinson, Cummings, Lopez et al., 2011). In a recent RCT, the authors compared the apathy scores of 113 mild to moderate AD patients treated for 24 months with donepezil plus a cholinergic precursor (choline alphoscerate) with those of patients who were administered to donepezil alone (Rea, Carotenuto, Traini, Fasanaro, Manzo, & Amenta, 2015). The results demonstrated that the combination of donepezil with choline alphoscerate was more effective than donepezil alone in reducing apathy in AD patients. Lopez and colleagues (Lopez, Mackell, Sun, Kassalow, Xu, McRae et al., 2008) conducted a multi-center, openlabel, 12-week study to evaluate the efficacy and safety of the administration of donepezil in 106 mild to moderate AD Hispanic patients treated with donepezil 5 mg/day for 6 weeks followed by 10 mg/day for another 6 weeks. The authors demonstrated that the NPI "apathy/indifference" subdomain showed a statistically significant improvement in donepezil-treated patients. Other studies confirmed that donepezil could improve apathy symptoms in patients with mild-severe AD (Drijgers, Aalten, Winogrodzka, Verhey, & Leentjens, 2009). A validation of the hypothesis that the rescue of the cholinergic system can be a useful approach for the treatment of apathy comes from other relevant studies conducted with cholinesterase inhibitors, such as rivastigmine and galantamine. In an open-label, multi-center study (Gauthier,

Juby, Dalziel, Re'hel, Schecter, & EXPLORE Investigators, 2010) the efficacy of rivastigmine on apathy was evaluated in a sample of 4460 AD patients, demonstrating that the percentage of patients showing an improvement vs. a deterioration in apathy at month 6 was in the order of 42.8 vs. 7.2%, respectively. Galantamine can also be used for the treatment of apathy in AD. In 2004, Cummings and colleagues (Cummings, Schneider, Tariot, Kershaw, & Yuan, 2004) assessed the efficacy of galantamine at different doses (8, 16, or 24 mg/day) in a 21-week, multi-center RCT in 978 patients with mild to moderate AD. This study demonstrates a significantly less appearance of apathy in patients treated with galantamine and without specific behavioral symptoms. Monsch and colleagues (Monsch, Giannakopoulos, & GAL-SUI Study Group, 2004) investigated the effects of galantamine (escalated from 8 to 24 mg/day over 8 weeks) in a 3-month, open-label, multi-center study conducted on 124 AD patients. The authors demonstrated a 27% reduction in the apathy score, as assessed by the NPI at the end of the period of treatment. Freund-Levi and co-workers (Freund-Levi, Jedenius, Tysen-Backstrom, Larksater, Wahlund, & Eriksdotter, 2014) recruited subjects with diagnoses of probable dementia (88%) or MCI (12%) from a memory clinic. The aim of the randomized, open-label trial, was to explore the effects of the administration of galantamine and risperidone on the overall neuropsychiatric symptoms (NPS) and global function. Both galantamine and risperidone treatments were able to produce a small non-significant reduction of apathetic behaviors, as measured by the NPI-apathy subscale, also over time.

In 2006 (Cummings, Schneider, Tariot, & Graham, 2006) an exploratory analysis of a 24-week, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial was conducted in order to compare memantine (20 mg/day) treatment with placebo in 404 moderate to severe AD patients, which were already treated with donepezil; the authors did not detect significant effects on apathy as assessed with the NPI, whereas an improvement in the NPI-apathy score (-11.3%) was observed following treatment with memantine by Schmidt and colleagues (Schmidt, Baumhackl, Berek, Brücke, Kapeller, Lechner *et al.*, 2010) in a 16-week, open label study conducted on 53 AD patients.

Moreover, a recent 6-week, multi-center, double-blind, placebo-controlled RCT, investigating the treatment of low-dose methylphenidate (20 mg/day) for apathy in patients with mild-moderate AD, reported a significant improvement in apathy in the group of active treatment vs. placebo on a modified ADCooperative Study – Clinical Global Impression of Change (Rosenberg et al., 2013). Padala and colleagues

(2018) conducted a 12-week, double-blind, randomized, placebo-controlled survey on 60 elderly veterans in a community dwelling. They used the AES-C to assess apathy as well as to evaluate the impact of the treatment on apathy. The authors demonstrated that the methylphenidate group experienced a significantly greater improvement than the placebo, both in terms of apathy (at 4, 8, and 12 weeks) and in terms of cognition, functional status, caregiver burden and depression (not until 12 weeks).

Pharmacological challenge has shown that AD patients with apathy have a blunted subjective reward following the administration of the dopaminergic agent dextroamphetamine (Lanctôt, Herrmann, Black, Ryan, Rothenburg, Liu et al., 2008), suggesting that a hypofunction of the dopaminergic system can contribute to the pathophysiology of apathy in the AD brain. Antidepressant drugs have not been found to improve apathy (Berman, Brodaty, Withall, & Seeher, 2012) although no specific studies have been conducted with second-generation antidepressant drugs, such as fluoxetine and bupropione, to evaluate the impact of these drugs alone or in combination with cholinesterase inhibitors.

5. Non-pharmacological treatment of apathy in AD

As discussed above, pharmacological therapies have demonstrated their efficacy in the management of apathy associated with AD. More specifically, donepezil and methylphenidate have demonstrated to be the most efficient drugs in reducing the level of apathy in the AD population. But alongside pharmacological treatment, several studies have investigated alternative types of interventions. Non-Pharmacological Treatment (NPT), also defined "ecopsychological intervention" (Zeisel, Reisberg, Whitehouse, Woods, & Verheul, 2016), has been recently considered as a new essential path (Theleritis, Siarkos, Politis, Katirtzoglou, & Politis, 2018) to be explored for the management of apathy. Non-pharmacological treatment includes interventions on cognitive, social, psychological, and relational aspects of the subject, using different methods, such as group activities, therapeutic dialogs, meditation, and sensory, physical, and physiological stimulation. The aim of this type of intervention is to improve the quality of life of the patient by strengthening his/her cognitive, psycho-affective, and social skills, reducing the psycho-behavioral symptoms, preserving the patient's social activity, restoring confidence and self-esteem, and promoting autonomy (Zuchella, Sinforiani, Tamburin, Federico, Mantovani, Bernini et al., 2018). A multiplicity of NPTs has shown to be effective on the treatment of apathy in AD. Occupational therapy and physical activity, inserted within a multidisciplinary intervention, have revealed to be effective in the treatment of apathy in

patients suffering from dementia compared with pharmacological treatments alone (Treusch, Majic, Page, Gutzmann, Heinz, & Rapp, 2015). Maci and colleagues (Maci, Pira, Quattrocchi, Di Nuovo, Perciavalle, & Zappia, 2012) conducted an interesting study in a 14-patient RCT, which included physical activity as NPT, in order to assess the effect of a 3-month program of physical activity, cognitive stimulation and socialization versus usual activities at home. Maci and collaborators (2012) demonstrated a significant improvement in the AES scores. Moreover, in 2015, Telenius and co-workers confirmed that a high intensity functional exercise program in nursing home patients with dementia decreased the level of apathy following the intervention versus a control group (Telenius, Engedal, & Bergland, 2015). Several recent studies have considered the key role of exercise in the treatment of various neuropsychiatric disorders (Guerrera, Furneri, Grasso, Caruso, Castellano, Drago et al., 2020). Physical activity, associated with drug treatment, allows to expand the range of rehabilitation interventions dedicated to demented patients. Furthermore, art therapies are also used as NPTs due to their efficacy in improving the levels of apathy compared with learning therapy (Hattori, Hattori, Hokao, Mizushima, & Mase, 2011). Raglio and colleagues (Raglio, Bellelli, Traficante, Gianotti, Ubezio, Villani et al., 2008) conducted a study in which they included 60 participants: a music therapy experimental group (n = 30) and a control group (n = 30). After 4 weeks, the NPI scores for apathy were significantly improved in the experimental group. Moreover, Ferrero-Arias and colleagues conducted a RCT, which included 146 patients, divided into two groups: an intervention group, with music, art therapy and psychomotor activity, opposed to a control group, which were simply asked to perform free activities in a room during the day. They used the DAIR scale to assess apathy and they found a significant difference between the intervention and control groups, especially in patients with moderated apathy. They thus came to the conclusion that a structured, non-pharmacological, short-term occupational therapy intervention can improve apathy in mild or moderate dementia patients (Ferrero-Arias, Goñi-Imízcoz, González-Bernal, Lara-Ortega, da Silva-González, & Díez-Lopez, 2011).

More recently, it has been demonstrated that a multi-component psychological intervention after 6 months allows to register an improvement in the apathy NPI score versus a standard occupational therapy intervention (Fischer-Terworth & Probst, 2012). In 2016, Di Domenico and colleagues recruited 26 AD patients and 26 healthy controls (Di Domenico, Palumbo, Fairfield, & Mammarella, 2016). The experimental group followed a brief emotional shaping intervention, which was developed to reduce apathy (assessed with the AES) and increase the "willingness to do" in AD patients. The results

demonstrated that the patients of the experimental group showed a significant increase in motivation.

Finally, great relevance has been recently given to Information and Communication Technologies (ICT) with the aim to train cognitive functions, promote communication, reduce loneliness, improve physical functions and the emotional state in apathetic and non-apathetic patients (Manera, Abraham, Agüera-Ortiz, Bremond, David, Fairchild et al., 2020). An interesting study (Manera, Petit, Derreumaux, Orvieto, Romagnoli, Lyttle et al., 2015) had the aim of demonstrating the efficacy of employing serious games (SGs), in this case "Kitchen and Cooking", for the assessment and rehabilitation of elderly people with MCI and AD. Twenty-one patients were recruited and results demonstrated that apathetic participants were motivated and interested in the activities, as the non-apathetic group, confirming that this game was useful in the case of presence of apathy. Moreover, Moyle and colleagues (Moyle, Cooke, Beattie, Jones, Klein, Cook et al., 2013) conducted a pilot cross-over RCT with 18 demented patients and used the AES to assess apathy; the authors found no improvement of apathy with the use of a robot companion. In contrast, other studies (Valentí Soler, Agüera-Ortiz, Olazarán Rodríguez, Mendoza Rebolledo, Pérez Muñoz, Rodríguez Pérez et al., 2015) demonstrated that the use of social robots in 60 patients with dementia resulted in an improvement in the NPI apathy scores.

6. Conclusions

The neurobiological and clinical links between apathy and Alzheimer's Disease are essential when considering apathy as one of the main common neuropsychiatric symptoms of AD. Apathy was initially considered only as a symptom of the Major Depressive Disorder, but today, more than ever, it seems important to investigate apathy as a syndrome in itself, in order to be able to specifically intervene promptly on it and improve patients' quality of life. The connection between brain regions involved in both apathy and Alzheimer's is quite clear and the common involvement of the cholinergic system can explain why drugs currently used in AD patients (i.e. cholinesterase inhibitors) can also be effective in the treatment of apathy. Evidence discussed in the present review suggests a strong clinical link between apathy and Alzheimer's Disease as well as the relevance of psychometric tools, such as the AES, to better diagnose and treat apathy. We believe that only by considering every single aspect of the patient's clinical picture can the clinician plan a multi-component intervention that has effects on health, defined as a state of complete physical, mental and social well-being (World Health Organization). In fact, several studies have shown the efficacy in reducing apathy also through non-

pharmacological treatments centred on individual autonomous, psychological and social functioning, but a major unmet question remains open as to how we can better integrate pharmacological and non-pharmacological treatments. A multimodal intervention is the innovative approach that we believe might be proposed in the next future for the treatment of apathetic AD patients.

References

Albert, M. S. (2007). Changing the trajectory of cognitive decline? *The New England Journal of Medicine*, *357*, 502-503.

Apostolova, L. G., Akopyan, G. G., Partiali, N., Steiner, C. A., Dutton, R. A., Hayashi,
K. M., Dinov, I. D., Toga, A. W., Cummings, J. L., & Thompson, P. M. (2007).
Structural correlates of apathy in Alzheimer's Disease. *Dementia and Geriatric Cognitive Disorders*, 24 (2), 91-97.

Banerjee, S., Smith, S. C., Lamping, D. L., Harwood, R. H., Foley, B., Smith, P., Murray, J., Prince, M., Levin, E., Mann, A., & Knapp, M. (2006). Quality of life in dementia: More than just cognition. An analysis of associations with quality of life in dementia. *Journal of Neurology, Neurosurgery and Psychiatry*, 77, 146-148.

Berman, K., Brodaty, H., Withall, A., & Seeher, K. (2012). Pharmacologic treatment of apathy in dementia. *The American Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry*, 20 (2),104-122. Bindra, D. (1959). *Motivation: A Systematic Reinterpretation*. New York: Ronald Press.

Blundo, C., & Gerace, C. (2015). Dopamine agonists can improve pure apathy associated with lesions of the prefrontal-basal ganglia functional system. *Neurological Sciences*, *36* (7), 1197-1201.

Brodaty, H., Altendorf, A., Withall, A., & Sachdev, P. (2010). Do people become more apathetic as they grow older? A longitudinal study in healthy individuals. *International Psychogeriatrics*, 22 (3), 426-436.

Bruen, P. D., McGeown, W. J., Shanks, M. F., & Venneri, A. (2008). Neuroanatomical correlates of neuropsychiatric symptoms in Alzheimer's disease. *Brain*, *131* (9), 2455-2463.

Clarke, D. E., Ko, J. Y., Kuhl, E. A., van Reekum, R., Salvador, R., & Marin, R. (2011). Are the available apathy measures reliable and valid? A review of the psychometric evidence. *Journal of Psychosomatic Research*, *70* (1), 73-97.

Cummings, J. L. (1997). The Neuropsychiatric Inventory: assessing psychopathology in dementia patients. *Neurology*, *48* (5 Suppl. 6), S10-S16.

Cummings, J. L., Koumaras, B., Chen, M., & Mirski, D. (2005). Effects of rivastigmine treatment on the neuropsychiatric and behavioral disturbances of nursing

home residents with moderate to severe probable Alzheimer's disease: A 26-week, multicenter, open-label study. *The American Journal of Geriatric Pharmacotherapy*, *3* (3), 137-148.

Cummings, J. L., & McPherson, S. (2001). Neuropsychiatric assessment of Alzheimer's disease and related dementias. *Aging Clinical and Experimental Research*, 13, 240-246.

Cummings, J. L., Mega, M., Gray, K., Rosenberg-Thompson, S., Carusi, D. A., & Gornbein, J. (1994). The Neuropsychiatric Inventory: comprehensive assessment of psychopathology in dementia. *Neurology*, *44* (12), 2308-2314.

Cummings, J. L., Schneider, E., Tariot, P. N., & Graham, S. M. (2006). Memantine MEM-MD-02 Study Group. Behavioral effects of memantine in Alzheimer disease patients receiving donepezil treatment. *Neurology*, *67* (1), 57-63.

Cummings, J. L., Schneider, L., Tariot, P. N., Kershaw, P. R., & Yuan, W. (2004). Reduction of behavioral disturbances and caregiver distress by galantamine in patients with Alzheimer's disease. *American Journal of Psychiatry*, *161* (3), 532-538.

D'Amelio, M., Puglisi-Allegra, S., & Mercuri, N. (2018). The role of dopaminergic midbrain in Alzheimer's disease: Translating basic science into clinical practice. *Pharmacological Research*, *130*, 414-419.

Di Domenico, A., Palumbo, R., Fairfield, B., & Mammarella, N. (2016). Fighting apathy in Alzheimer's dementia: a brief emotional-based intervention. *Psychiatry Research*, 242, 331-335.

Donovan, N. J., Wadsworth, L. P., Lorius, N., Locascio, J. J., Rentz, D. M., Johnson, K. A., Sperling, R. A., & Marshall, G. A. (2014). Regional cortical thinning predicts worsening apathy and hallucinations across the Alzheimer disease spectrum. *The American Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry*, *22*, 1168-1179.

Drijgers, R. L., Aalten, P., Winogrodzka, A., Verhey, F. R., & Leentjens, A. F. (2009). Pharmacological treatment of apathy in neurodegenerative diseases: a systematic review. *Dementia and Geriatric Cognitive Disorders*, 28, 13-22.

Eslinger, P. J., Moore, P., Antani, S., Anderson, C., & Grossman, M. (2012). Apathy in frontotemporal dementia: behavioral and neuroimaging correlates. *Behavioral Neurology and Neuropsychiatry*, 25 (2), 127-136.

Ferrero-Arias, J., Goñi-Imízcoz, M., González-Bernal, J., Lara-Ortega, F., da Silva-González, A., & Díez-Lopez, M. (2011). The efficacy of nonpharmacological treatment for dementia-related apathy. *Alzheimer Disease and Associated Disorders*, 25 (3), 213-219.

Fischer-Terworth, C., & Probst, P. (2012). Effects of a psychological group intervention on neuropsychiatric symptoms and communication in Alzheimer's dementia. *Journal of Gerontology and Geriatrics*, 45 (5), 392-397.

Freund-Levi, Y., Jedenius, E., Tysen-Backstrom, A. C., Larksater, M., Wahlund, L. O., & Eriksdotter, M. (2014). Galantamine versus risperidone treatment of neuropsychiatric symptoms in patients with probable dementia: an open randomized trial. *American Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry*, 22, 341-348.

Frisoni, G. B., Winblad, B., & O'Brien, J. T. (2011). Revised NIA-AA criteria for the diagnosis of Alzheimer's disease: a step forward but not yet ready for widespread clinical use. *International Psychogeriatrics*, 23, 1191-1196.

Gauthier, S., Juby, A., Dalziel, W., Re'hel, B., Schecter, R., & EXPLORE Investigators (2010). Effects of rivastigmine on common symptomatology of Alzheimer's disease (EXPLORE). *Current Medical Research and Opinion*, 26 (5), 1149-1160.

Grambaite, R., Selnes, P., Reinvang, I., Aarsland, D., Hessen, E., Gjerstad, L., & Fladby, T. (2011). Executive dyfunction in mild cognitive impairment is associated with changes in frontal and cingulate withe matter tracts. *Journal of Alzheimer's Disease*, 27, 453-462.

Guercio, B. J., Donovan, N. J., Ward, A., Schultz, A., Lorius, N., Amariglio, R. E., Rentz, D. M., Johnson, K. A., Sperling, R. A., & Marshall, G. A. (2015). Apathy is associated with lower inferior temporal cortical thickness in mild cognitive impairment and normal elderly individuals. *Journal of Neuropsychiatry and Clinical Neurosciences*, 27, 22-27.

Guerrera, C. S., Furneri, G., Grasso, M., Caruso, G., Castellano, S., Drago, F., Di Nuovo, S., & Caraci, F. (2020). Antidepressant Drugs and Physical Activity: A Possible Synergism in the Treatment of Major Depression? *Frontiers in Psychology*, *11*: 857.

Guimarães, H. C., Levy, R., Teixeira, A. L., Beato, R. G., & Caramelli P. (2008).Neurobiology of apathy in Alzheimer's Disease. *Arquivos de Neuropsiquiatria*, 66 (2-B), 436-443.

Hattori, H., Hattori, C., Hokao, C., Mizushima, K., & Mase, T. (2011). Controlled study on the cognitive and psychological effect of coloring and drawing in mild Alzheimer's disease patients. *Geriatrics and Gerontology International*, *11* (4), 431-437.

Herrera, E. Jr, Caramelli, P., Silveira A. S., & Nitrini, R. (2002). Epidemiologic survey of dementia in a community-dwelling Brazilian population. *Alzheimer Disease and Associated Disorders*, *16*, 103-108.

Herrmann, N., Rothenburg, L. S., Black, S. E., Ryan, M., Liu, B. A., Busto, U. E., & Lanctôt, K. L. (2008). Methylphenidate for the treatment of apathy in Alzheimer disease: Prediction of response using dextroamphetamine challenge. *Journal of Clinical Psychopharmacology*, 28 (3), 296-301.

Hirtz, D., Thurman, D. J., Gwinn-Hardy, K., Mohamed, M., Chaudhuri, A. R., & Zalutsky, R. (2007). How common are the "common" neurologic disorders? *Neurology*, 68, 326-337.

Holthoff, V. A., Beuthien-Baumann, B., Kalbe, E., Lüdecke, S., Lenz, O., Zündorf, G., Spirling, S., Schierz, K., Winiecki, P., Sorbi, S., & Herholz, K. (2005). Regional cerebral metabolism in early Alzheimer's disease with clinically significant apathy or depression. *Biological Psychiatry*, *57*, 412-421.

Isaacson, R. S., Ganzer, C. A., Hristov, H., Hackett, K., Caesar, E., Cohen, R., Kachko,
R., Meléndez-Cabrero, J., Rahman, A., Scheyer, O., Hwang, M. J., Berkowitz, C.,
Hendrix, S., Mureb, M., Schelke, M. W., Mosconi, L., Seifan, A., & Krikorian, R.
(2018). The clinical practice of risk reduction for Alzheimer's disease: a precision medicine approach. *Alzheimer's & Dementia*; *14* (12), 1663-1673.

Lanctôt, K. L. (2017). Apathy associated with neurocognitive disorders: Recent progress and future directions. *The Journal of Alzheimer's Association*, *13* (1), 84-100.

Lanctôt, K. L., Herrmann, N., Black, S. E., Ryan, M., Rothenburg, L. S., Liu, B. A., & Busto, U. E. (2008). Apathy associated with Alzheimer disease: use of dextroamphetamine challenge. *The American Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry*, *16* (7), 551-557.

Levy, R., & Dubois, B. (2006). Apathy and the functional anatomy of the prefrontal cortex-basal ganglia circuits. *Cerebral Cortex*, *16* (7), 916-928.

Lopez, O. L., Mackell, J. A., Sun, Y., Kassalow, L. M., Xu, Y., McRae, T., & Li, H. (2008). Effectiveness and safety of donepezil in Hispanic patients with Alzheimer's disease: a 12-week open-label study. *Journal of the National Medical Association, 100* (11), 1350-1358.

Lueken, U., Seidl, U., Volker, L., Schweiger, E., Kruse, A., & Schroder, J. (2007). Development of a short version of the Apathy Evaluation Scale specifically adapted for demented nursing home residents. *The American Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry*, *15* (5), 376-385.

Lyketsos, C. G., Lopez, O., Jones, B., Fizpatrick, A. L., Breitner, J., & Dekosky, S. (2002). Prevalence of neuropsychiatric symptoms in dementia and mild cognitive impairment: Results from cardiovascular health study. *JAMA*, 288, 1475-1483.

Maci, T., Pira, F. L., Quattrocchi, G., Di Nuovo, S., Perciavalle, V., & Zappia, M. (2012). Physical and cognitive stimulation in Alzheimer disease. The GAIA project: a pilot study. *American Journal of Alzheimer's Disease and other Dementias*, *27* (2), 107-113.

Madsen, K. B. (1973). Theories of Motivation. In B. Wolman (Ed.), *Handbook of Psychology*. Prentice-Hall: New Jersey.

Manera, V., Abraham, S., Agüera-Ortiz, L., Bremond, F., David, R., Fairchild, K., Gros, A., Hanon, C., Husain, M., König, A., Lockwood, P. L., Pino, M., Radakovic, R., Robert, G., Slachevsky, A., Stella, F., Tribouillard, A., Trimarchi, P. D, Verhey, F., Yesavage, J., Zeghari, R., & Robert, P. (2020). Recommendations for the Nonpharmacological Treatment of Apathy in Brain Disorders. *The American Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry*, 28 (4), 410-420.

Manera, V., Petit. P. D., Derreumaux, A., Orvieto, I., Romagnoli, M., Lyttle, G., David, R., & Robert, P. H. (2015). "Kitchen and cooking", a serious game for mild cognitive impairment and Alzheimer's disease: a pilot study. *Frontiers in Aging Neuroscience*, 7: 24.

Marin, R. S. (1991). Apathy: A neuropsychiatric syndrome. *The Journal of Neuropsychiatry and Clinical Neurosciences*, *3* (3), 243-254.

Marin, R. S., Biedrzycki, R. C., & Firinciogullari, M. S. (1991). Reliability and Validity of the Apathy Evaluation Scale. *Psychiatry Research*, *38*, 143-162.

Marin, R. S., Firinciogullari, S., & Biedrzycki, R. C. (1993). The sources of convergence between measures of apathy and depression. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, 28, 7-14.

Mitchell, R. A., Herrmann, N., & Lanctôt, K. L. (2011). The Role of Dopamine in Symptoms and Treatment of Apathy in Alzheimer's Disease. *CNS Neuroscience & Therapeutics*, *17* (5), 411-427.

Mohammad, D., Ellis, C., Rau, A., Rosenberg, P. B., Mintzer, J., Ruthirakuhan, M., Herrmann, N., & Lanctôt, K. L. (2018). Psychometric Properties of Apathy Scales in Dementia: A systematic review. *Journal of Alzheimer's Disease, 66* (3), 1065-1082.

Monsch, A. U., Giannakopoulos, P., & GAL-SUI Study Group. (2004). Effects of galantamine on behavioural and psychological disturbances and caregiver burden in patients with Alzheimer's disease. *Current Medical Research and Opinion, 20* (6), 931-938.

Moon, Y., Moon, W. J., Kim, H., & Han, S. H. (2014). Regional atrophy of the insular cortex is associated with neuropsychiatric symptoms in Alzheimer's disease patients. *European Neurology*, *71*, 223-229.

Mori, T., Shimada, H., Shinotoh, H., Hirano, S., Eguchi, Y., Yamada, M., Fukuhara, R., Tanimukai, S., Zhang, M. R., Kuwabara, S., Ueno, S. I., & Suhara, T. (2014). Apathy correlates with prefrontal amyloid beta deposition in Alzheimer's disease. *Journal of Neurology, Neurosurgery and Psychiatry*, 85, 449-455.

Moyle, W., Cooke, M., Beattie, E., Jones, C., Klein, B., Cook, G., & Gray, C. (2013). Exploring the effect of companion robots on emotional expression in older adults with dementia: a pilot randomized controlled trial. *Journal of Gerontological Nursing*, *39* (5), 46-53.

Munro, C. E., Donovan, N. J., Guercio, B. J., Wigman, S. E., Schultz, A. P., Amariglio,
R. E., Rentz, D. M., Johnson, K. A., Sperling, R. A., & Marshall, G. A. (2015).
Neuropsychiatric symptoms and functional connectivity in mild cognitive impairment. *Journal of Alzheimer's disease*, 46, 727-735. Padala, P. R., Frederick, P., & Subhash,
C. B. (2005). Methylphenitadate may treat apathy independent of depression. *The annals of Pharmacotherapy*, 39 (11), 1947-1949.

Padala, P. R., Padala, K. P., Lensing, S. Y., Ramirez, D., Monga, V., Bopp, M. M., Roberson, P. K., Dennis, R. A., Petty, F., Sullivan, D. H., & Burke, W. J. (2018).
Methylphenidate for apathy in community-dwelling older veterans with mild Alzheimer's disease: A double-blind, randomized, placebo-controlled trial. *American Journal of Psychiatry*, 175, 159-168.

Radakovic, R., Harley, C., Abrahams, S., & Starr, J. M. (2015). A systematic review of the validity and reliability of apathy scales in neurodegenerative conditions. *International Psychogeriatrics*, 27 (6), 903-923.

Raglio, A., Bellelli, G., Traficante, D., Gianotti, M., Ubezio, M. C., Villani, D., & Trabucchi M. (2008). Efficacy of music therapy in the treatment of behavioral and psychiatric symptoms of dementia. *Alzheimer Disease and Associated Disorders*, *22*, 158-162.

Rea, R., Carotenuto, A., Fasanaro, A. M., Traini, E., & Amenta, F. (2014). Apathy in Alzheimer's Disease: Any Effective Treatment? *The Scientific World Journal*, *2014*: 421385.

Rea, R., Carotenuto, A., Traini, E., Fasanaro, A. M., Manzo, V., & Amenta, F. (2015). Apathy Treatment in Alzheimer's Disease: Interim Results of the ASCOMALVA Trial. *Journal of Alzheimer's Disease, 48* (2), 377-383.

Robert, P. H., Clairet, S., Benoit, M., Koutaich, J., Bertogliati, C., Tible, O., Caci, H., Borg, M., Brocker, P., & Bedoucha, P. (2002). The apathy inventory: assessment of apathy and awareness in Alzheimer's disease, Parkinson's disease and mild cognitive impairment. *International Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry*, *17* (12), 1099-1105.

Robert, P., Ferris, S., Gauthier, S., Ihl, R., Winblad, B., & Tennigkeit, F. (2010). Review of Alzheimer's disease scales: is there a need for a new multi-domain scale for therapy evaluation in medical practice? *Alzheimer's Research & Therapy*, 2: 24.

Robert, P., Lanctôt, K. L., Agüera-Ortizc, L., Aaltend, P., Bremonda, F., Defrancescof,
M., Hanong, C., Davidh, R., Duboisi, B., Dujardinj, K., Husaink, M., Könige, A.,
Levyl, R., Mantuam, V., Meulienn, D., Millero, D., Moebiusp, H. J., Rasmussenq, J.,
Robertr, G., Ruthirakuhanb, M., Stellas, F., Yesavaget, J., Zegharia, R., & Manera, V.
(2018). Is it time to revise the diagnostic criteria for apathy in brain disorders? The
2018 international consensus group. *European Psychiatry*, *54*, 71-76.

Robert, P., Onyike, C. U., Leentjens, A. F. G., Dujardin, K., Aalten, P., Starkstein, S.,
Verhey, F. R. J., Yessavage, J., Clement, J. P., Drapier, D., Bayle, F., Benoit, M.,
Boyer, P., Lorca, P. M., Thibaut, F., Gauthier, S., Grossberg, G., Vellas, B., & Byrne,
J. (2009). Proposed diagnostic criteria for apathy in Alzehimer's disease and other
neuropsychiatric disorders. *European Psychiatry*, 24, 98-104.

Ronsenberg, P. B., Lanctôt, K. L., Drye, L. T., Herrmann, N., Scherer, R. W., Bachman, D. L., Mintzer, J. E., & ADMET Investigators (2013). Safety and efficacy of methylphenidate for apathy in Alzheimer's disease: A randomized, placebo-controlled trial. *Journal of Clinical Psychiatry*, 74, 810-816.

Ruslan, L., Teerenstra, S., Smalbrugge, M., Vernooij-Dassen, M. J. F. J., Bohlmeijer, E. T., Gerritsen, D. L., & Koopmans, R. T. C. M. (2013). More insight into the concept of apathy: a multidisciplinary depression management program has different effects on depressive symptoms and apathy in nursing home. *International Psychogeriatric Association, 25* (12), 1941-1952.

Samus, Q. M., Rosenblatt, A., Steele, C., Baker, A., Harper, M., Brandt, J., Mayer, L., Rabins, P. V., & Lyketsos, C. G. (2005). The association of neuropsychiatric symptoms and environment with quality of life in assisted living residents with dementia. *Gerontologist*, 45 (1), 19-26.

Schmidt, R., Baumhackl, U., Berek, K., Brücke, T., Kapeller, P., Lechner, A., Rainer, M., & Stögerer, E. M. (2010). Memantine for treatment of behavioural disturbances and psychotic symptoms in moderate to moderately severe Alzheimer dementia: a naturalistic study in outpatient services in Austria [in German]. *Neuropsychiatrie: Klinik, Diagnostik, Therapie und Rehabilitation: Organ der Gesellschaft Osterreichischer Nervenarzte und Psychiater, 24* (2), 125-131.

Sperling, R. A., Aisen, P. S., Beckett, L. A., Bennett, D. A., Craft, S., Fagan, A. M., Iwatsubo, T., Jack, C. R. Jr, Kaye, J., Montine, T. J., Park, D. C., Reiman, E. M., Rowe, C. C., Siemers, E., Stern, Y., Yaffe, K., Carrillo, M. C., Thies, B., Morrison-Bogorad, M., Wagster, M. V., & Phelps, C. H. (2011). Toward defining the preclinical stages of Alzheimer's disease: Recommendations from the National Institute on Aging-Alzheimer's Association workgroups on diagnostic guidelines for Alzheimer's disease. *Alzheimer's & Dementia*, 7 (3), 280-292. Starkstein, S. E., & Brockman, S. (2018). The neuroimaging basis of apathy: Empirical findings and conceptual challenges. *Neuropsychologia*, *118*, 48-53.

Starkstein, S. E., Jorge, R., & Mizrahi, R. (2006). The prevalence, clinical correlates and treatment of apathy in Alzheimer's disease. *European Journal of Psychiatry*, *20* (2), 96-106.

Starkstein, S. E., Jorge, R., Mizrahi, R., & Robinson, R. G. (2006). A prospective longitudinal study of apathy in Alzheimer's disease. *Journal of Neurology, Neurosurgery and Psychiatry,* 77 (1), 8-11.

Starkstein, S. E., Mayberg, H. S., Preziosi, T. J., Andrezejewski, P., Leiguarda, R., & Robinson, R. G. (1992). Reliability, validity, and clinical correlates of apathy in Parkinson's disease. *The Journal of Neuropsychiatry and Clinical Neurosciences, 4* (2), 134-139.

Starkstein, S. E., Migliorelli, R., Manes, F., Teson, A., Petracca, G., Chemerinski, E., Sabe, L., & Leiguarda, R. (1995). The prevalence and clinical correlates of apathy and irritability in Alzheimer's disease. *European Journal of Neurology*, *2*, 540-546.

Strauss, M. E., & Sperry, S. D. (2002). An informant-based assessment of apathy in Alzheimer disease. *Neuropsychology, Neuropsychiatry, and Behavioral Neurology, 15* (3), 176-183.

Tekin, S., & Cummings, J. L. (2002). Frontal-subcortical neuronal circuits and clinical neuropsychiatry: an update. *Journal of Psychosomatic Research*, *53* (2), 647-654.

Telenius, E. W., Engedal, K., & Bergland, A. (2015). Effect of a high intensity exercise program on physical function and mental health in nursing home residents with dementia: an assessor blinded randomized controlled trial. *PLoS One*, *10* (5): e0126102.

Theleritis, C., Siarkos, K., Politis, A. A., Katirtzoglou, E., & Politis, A. (2018). A systematic review of non-pharmacological treatments for apathy in dementia. *International Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry*, *33*, 177-192.

Treusch, Y., Majic, T., Page, J., Gutzmann, H., Heinz, A., & Rapp, M. A. (2015). Apathy in nursing home residents with dementia: results from a cluster-randomized controlled trial. *European Psychiatry*, *30* (2), 251-257.

Tunnard, C., Whitehead, D., Hurt, C., Wahlund, L. O., Mecocci, P., Tsolaki, M., Vellas, B., Spenger, C., Kłoszewska, I., Soininen, H., Lovestone, S., & Simmons, A. (2011). Apathy and cortical atrophy in Alzheimer's disease. *International Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry*, *26*, 741-748.

Valentí Soler, M., Agüera-Ortiz, L., Olazarán Rodríguez, J., Mendoza Rebolledo, C., Pérez Muñoz, A., Rodríguez Pérez, I., Osa Ruiz, E., Barrios Sánchez, A., Herrero Cano, V., Carrasco Chillón, L., Felipe Ruiz, S., López Alvarez, J., León Salas, B., Cañas Plaza, J. M., Martín Rico, F., Abella Dago, G., & Martínez Martín, P. (2015). Social robots in advanced dementia. *Frontiers in Aging Neuroscience*, 7: 133.

Waldemar, G., Gauthier, G., Jones, R., Wilkinson, D., Cummings, J., Lopez, O., Zhang, R., Xu, Y., Sun, Y., Knox, S., Richardson, S., & Mackellet, J. (2011). Effect of donepezil on emergence of apathy in mild to moderate Alzheimer's disease. *International Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry*, *26* (2), 150-157.

Winblad, B., Engedal, K., Soininen, H., Verhey, F., Waldemar, G., & Wimo, A. (1999, Aug 15-20). *Donepezil enhances global function, cognition and activities of daily living compared with placebo in a one-year, double-blind trial in patients with mild to moderate Alzheimer's disease* [Poster presentation]. *Ninth* Congress of the International Psychogeriatric Association, Vancouver, Canada.

Winblad, B., Frisoni, G. B., Frolich, L., Johannsen, P., Johansson, G., Kehoe, P., Lovestone, S., Olde-Rikkert, M., Reynish, E., Vasser, P. J., & Vellas, B. (2008). EADC (European Alzheimer Disease Consortium) recommandations for future Alzheimer disease research in Europe. *Journal of Nutrition, Health and Aging*, *12* (10), 683-684.

Zeisel, J., Reisberg, B., Whitehouse, P., Woods, R., & Verheul, A. (2016). Ecopsychosocial inter-ventions in cognitive decline and dementia: a new terminologyand a new paradigm. *American Journal of Alzheimer's Disease and other Dementias*, *31*, 502-507.

Zuchella, C., Sinforiani, E., Tamburin, S., Federico, A., Mantovani, E., Bernini, S., Casale, R., & Bartolo, M. (2018). The multidisciplinary approach to Alzheimer's disease and dementia. A narrative review of non-pharmacological treatment. *Frontiers in Neurology*, *9*: 1058.

Chapter III

The Apathy Evaluation Scale (AES-C): Psychometric properties and invariance of Italian version in Mild Cognitive Impairment and Alzheimer's disease

Giovanna Furneri ^{1,2}, Silvia Platania ¹, Alessandra Privitera ¹, Federica Martelli ¹, Rossana Smeriglio ³, Grazia Razza ⁴, Tiziana Maci ⁴, Sabrina Castellano ¹, Filippo Drago ², Mario Santagati ⁴, Pasquale Caponnetto ^{1,5,*}, Filippo Caraci ^{3,6,†} and Santo Di Nuovo ^{1,*,†}

¹ Department of Educational Sciences, University of Catania, 95124 Catania, Italy; giofurneri@gmail.com (G.F.); splatani@unict.it (S.P.);

alessandra.privitera0@gmail.com (A.P.); federica.martelli95@tiscali.it (F.M.); Sabrina.castellano@unict.it (S.C.)

² Department of Biomedical and Biotechnological Sciences, University of Catania,
95124 Catania, Italy; f.drago@unict.it

³Oasi Research Institute—IRCCS, 94018 Troina, Italy;

rossanasmeriglio@gmail.com (R.S.); fcaraci@unict.it (F.C.)

⁴ ASP3 Catania, Department of Mental Health, Alzheimer Psychogeriatric Center, 95127 Catania, Italy; grazia.razza@aspct.it (G.R.); tiziana.maci@aspct.it (T.M.); mario.santagati@aspct.it (M.S.)

⁵ Center of Excellence for the Acceleration of Harm Reduction (COEHAR),

University of Catania, 95124 Catania, Italy

⁶ Department of Drug and Health Sciences, University of Catania, 95124 Catania, Italy

* Correspondence: p.caponnetto@unict.it (P.C.); s.dinuovo@unict.it (S.D.N.)

† Co-last Authors.

Abstract

Apathy is a neuropsychiatric symptom observed in different neurological and psychiatric disorders. Although apathy is considered a symptom, it has been recently reconsidered as a syndrome characterised by three dimensions: cognitive symptoms, affective symptoms and behavioural symptoms. Recent studies have shown that apathy can be considered as a prodromal symptom of Alzheimer's disease (AD), but also an

indicator of the transition from mild cognitive impairment to AD. According to this scenario, an early detection of apathy in subjects with Mild Cognitive Impairment (MCI) and Mild AD can be a valid psychometric strategy to improve an early diagnosis and promote a prompt intervention. The Apathy Evaluation Scale is a validated tool composed of 18 items that assess and quantify emotional, behavioural and cognitive aspects of apathy. The aim of this study is to assess the specific reliability and validity of the Italian version of the Apathy Evaluation Scale-Clinician Version (AES-C) to detect apathy both in amnestic MCI and mild AD patients. In the present paper, we therefore examined the psychometric properties and the invariance of the Italian Version of the AES-C conducted on a sample composed of an experimental group of amnestic MCI and AD patients (N = 107) and a control group (N = 107) constituted by Age- and Sex-matched healthy controls. Results confirm the goodness of the scale. Confirmatory factory analysis confirmed that the AES-C Italian Version presents the same stability of one second-order factor and three first-order factors identified in the original version, and all items are predicted by a single general factor. Moreover, the scale was found to be invariant across both populations. Moreover, reliability and discriminant analysis showed good values. We found in the experimental group a negative correlation between the AES-C and Frontal Assessment Battery (FAB) (rs = - 0.21, p < 0.001) and Mini Mental State Examination (MMSE) (rs = -0.04, p < 0.001), while a positive correlation was found between the AES-C and Hamilton psychiatric Rating scale for Depression (HAM-D) scores (rs = 0.58, p < 0.001) Overall, our data demonstrated the validity of the Italian version of the AES-C for the assessment of apathy both in MCI and in AD patients.

Keywords: apathy; AES-C; validation; reliability; psychometric properties; Alzheimer; MCI

*published in Int. J. Environ. Res. Public Health 2021, 18, 959

1. Introduction

Apathy is a neuropsychiatric symptom (NPS) observed in different neurological and psychiatric disorders [1,2]. Etymologically, its name comes from the Greek word $\dot{\alpha}\pi\dot{\alpha}\theta\epsilon\iota\alpha$ (apatheia), meaning lack (a-) of emotions (-pathos), and some of our Greek and Roman ancestors, in the frame of stoic philosophy, considered it as a virtue. So far

from this perspective, the current scientific point of view regards apathy as a prodromal symptom in different diseases such as multiple sclerosis, amyotrophic lateral sclerosis, psychosis, traumatic brain injury and all type of dementia, especially in both Alzheimer's disease (AD) and vascular dementia (VaD) [3].

Apathy's main feature is a deficit in motivation, which is displayed through reduced interest, emotions and goal-directed behaviours. Differently from depression, apathy is characterised by emotional neutrality rather than negative emotions [4]. It is a multidimensional construct that includes the emotional and social sphere and is characterised by three dimensions: cognitive symptoms, affective symptoms and behavioural symptoms [5]. Apathy has often been regarded as a symptom of other syndromes (e.g., depression or dementia) [6], but it can itself be defined as a syndrome characterised by decreased motivation in which the lack of motivation is not attributable to a decreased level of consciousness, emotional distress or cognitive deficits [7].

In the last two decades, the interest about the association between apathy and dementia has increased due to the predictive role of apathy on dementia. AD is a progressive and irreversible neurodegenerative disease that usually affects people over the age of 65 [8] and is the most common form of dementia [9,10]. The onset of AD begins many years before the actual diagnosis [11] and is characterised by a preclinical and prodromal phase that can begin as early as middle age [12] AD is characterised by its increasing neuropsychological impairment with a progressive decline in memory, executive functions, language and visuospatial skills [13]. In almost all patients, the cognitive and functional decline of the disease is accompanied by behavioural and psychological symptoms (BPSD) [14] such as apathy, agitation, disappointment, irritability, anxiety, disinhibition and hallucinations [13], i.e., symptoms of disturbed perception, thought content, mood, and behaviour [15] which significantly reduce the quality of life of patients and caregivers [16,17]. According to this scenario, it is now widely demonstrated that apathy can act as a risk factor which can promote the conversion from Mild Cognitive Impairment (MCI) to dementia.

Chilovi et al. [18] classified MCI patients in four subgroups, namely (1) MCI normal, (2) MCI depressed, (3) MCI depressed-apathetic and (4) MCI apathetic. They found the highest percentage of conversion to dementia among the apathetic group (60%), followed by MCI normal (24%), MCI depressed-apathetic (19%) and MCI depressed (7.9%). Similarly, in a sample of 1713 MCI patients, it was observed that

apathetic subjects have a greater risk of developing dementia than those with depression only [19]. More recently, with a cohort of 2137 MCI patients, Roberto et al. [20] found fairly the same results. They divided the sample in four classes based on the predominant NPS symptoms: (1) irritability, (2) apathy, (3) anxiety/depression, (4) asymptomatic. While irritability and apathy were predictors of dementia, anxiety/depression did not constitute a risk factor. These results are confirmed by a recent systematic review [21] that investigated the impact of apathy, depression and anxiety on the progression from MCI to AD. The authors underlined that for MCI patients, apathy is a 'more important indicator' among the two other neuropsychiatric symptoms in the evolution to dementia.

Thus, an early assessment and identification of apathy are extremely useful for clinicians to understand the possible evolution from MCI to Mild AD better and therefore design tailored prevention and treatment programs.

Different tools are available in the literature as psychometric tools for assessing apathy. The Neuropsychiatric Inventory (NPI), for example, developed by Cumming [22,23], is a multi-dimensional instrument to assess neurobehavioural disorders in dementia. In particular, it presents a specific eight-item subscale to measure apathy: higher scores indicate a more severe presence of apathy [22,23]. Robert et al. [24] developed the Apathy Inventory (AI) on the basis of Marin and colleagues' diagnostic criteria of apathy [6,7], but also Starkstein and colleagues [25] and Lueken et al. [26] settled two different and modified short versions of the Marin instrument. Strauss and Sperry [27] developed the Dementia Apathy Interview and Rating (DAIR) which is an informant-based unidimensional scale that measures changes in engagement, motivation and emotional response in MCI patients. The Lille Apathy Rating Scale (LARS) is based on a structured interview. It includes 33 items, divided into nine domains. Responses are scored on a dichotomous scale. The scale was validated with a sample of 159 patients with probable Parkinson's disease and 58 healthy controls [28]. In subsequent studies, LARS was also administered to other disease populations, such as AD and MCI patients [29].

Radakovic and Abrahams [30] created a multi-dimensional scale based on Levy and Dubois' [31] apathetic subtypes. The Dimensional Apathy Scale (DAS) is composed of 24 items and 3 subscales—Executive, Emotional and Behavioural/Cognitive Initiation. DAS is suitable for application in different pathologies.
In the present work, we performed the validation and psychometric analysis of the Italian Version of the Apathy Evaluation Scale-Clinician Version (AES-C) on MCI and Mild AD patients starting from the evidence that AES is based on a definition of apathy that is closer to a syndrome in and of itself rather than as a symptom of other syndromes. The Apathy Evaluation Scale (AES) was developed by Marin and colleagues [32] and was conceived and built based on the definition of apathy according to Marin: syndrome of loss of motivation as reflected by acquired changes in affect (mood), behaviour and cognition [32]. The AES is a four-point Likert-Scale measure, composed of 18 items that assess and quantify emotional, behavioural and cognitive aspects of apathy. AES presents three available administration forms of the scale: self-report (AES-S), informant report (AES-I) and clinician interview (AES-C). Only in the AES-C is a semi-structured open-ended interview present: it helps the clinician to collect information from patients about their typical day and hobbies and interests; this interview allows the clinician to investigate the subject's degree of motivation and direct him in providing his own rating of the individual's level of apathy on each item. Every item is rated on a four-point response scale (0 = not at alltrue/characteristic to 3 = very much true/characteristic). Higher scores indicate more severe apathy [32]. The AES-C version takes between 10 and 20 min to be completed [32].

The AES-C has been employed in three randomised controlled trials (RCTs) as a primary outcome in those with apathy and AD [33–35]. However, only the AES-C and AES-S versions were able to discriminate apathy from depression [32]. However, it is important to notice that different studies [36] confirmed good to excellent internal consistence of all the versions of the AES-C, with varying values for convergent validity and good discriminant validity. From the literature examined, it seems that the Apathy Evaluation Scale possesses these characteristics and can be validated on the AD population also in the Italian language. So, the aim of this study is to assess the specific reliability and validity of the Italian version of the AES-C scale to detect apathy both in amnestic MCI and mild AD patients. In the present paper, we therefore examined the psychometric properties and the invariance of the Italian Version of the AES-C in a sample of 107 amnestic MCI and AD patients compared with Age- and Sex-matched healthy controls.

2. Materials and Methods

2.1. Participants and Procedure

The study involved 214 participants (Table 1), divided into two groups. The experimental group consisted of 107 patients (34 males, 73 females) recruited from the U.O.S. Centro Alzheimer e Psicogeriatria, DSM ASP3, Catania, Italy where the new diagnostic criteria of the National Institute of Aging (NIA) and Alzheimer's Association work group (2011) have been adopted both for AD and amnestic MCI patients. All patients selected for the present work were firstly recruited on their first access to the service, where they received the diagnosis for the first time. We tested 306 patients on their first access to the centre, but only 107 were included in the study based on the inclusion and exclusion criteria. The study was conducted in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki, and the protocol was authorised by the Internal Ethics Review Board of the Department of Educational Sciences (Section of Psychology) of the University of Catania; research procedures followed all the indications provided by the guidelines of the AIP (Italian Association of Psychology) and its Ethical Council. The inclusion criteria included a diagnosis of MCI or probable Mild AD. As a screening for general cognitive impairment, we used the Italian standardised version of the Mini Mental State Examination (MMSE) [37,38], and included in the study patients with a total age and educational adjusted score ≥ 18 and ≤ 28 . Patients with a recent history of cerebral ischaemia and/or a recent history of psychotic episodes were excluded. The control group was made up of 107 subjects (29 males, 78 females) of healthy volunteers, with MMSE scores ≥ 28 . The neuropsychological evaluation involved the administration of various psychological tools. Questionnaires were administered individually: the scale was administered by the clinician to the patient without further interviews or input from the caregiver. Global cognitive function assessment has been carried out in MCI and AD patients by using the MMSE and Montreal Cognitive Assessment (MoCA) [39,40]. The Frontal Assessment Battery [41,42] was used to evaluate executive functions. Severity of depression was measured by means of the Italian version of the Hamilton Depression Rating Scale (HAMD-17) [43]. Apathy was assessed by the Apathy Evaluation Scale (AES-C). The HAM-D and AES-C were compiled by a clinician after a semi-structured interview with the patient to prevent depressed or apathetic subjects from being unable to report their symptoms adequately. Psychometric assessments were performed by two psychologists with a long experience in neuropsychological assessment and in particular in the field of behavioural and psychological symptoms of dementia.

Group	Gender	No.	Age (mean ± DS)	Mild AD (No.)	MCI (No.)
Experimental					
	Male	34	75.62 ± 5.736	12	22
	Female	73	76.03 ± 7.297	19	54
	Tot.	107	75.90 ± 6.82	31	76
Control					
	Male	29	75.00 ± 6.984	-	-
	Female	78	73.70 ± 6.841	-	-
	Tot.	107	74.1 ± 6.87	-	-

Table 1. Demographic and clinical characteristics of the sample

2.2. Measures

2.2.1. Mini Mental State Examination

The Mini Mental State Examination [37,38] constitutes a rapid and sensitive test for quantifying residual cognitive abilities for the documentation of their modification over time as a result of neurodegeneration. It is made up of twelve items through which seven cognitive functions are explored: time orientation, spatial orientation, immediate memory, attention and calculation, recall memory, language, visual-constructive praxis. Its administration requires a variable time from 5 to 15 min. It is a less demanding test, but it allows us to have a measure of global cognitive function that can also be used with the progression of the disease.

2.2.2. Montreal Cognitive Assessment

The Montreal Cognitive Assessment (MoCA) [39,40] evaluates different cognitive domains: attention and concentration, executive functions, memory, language, visualconstructive skills, abstraction, calculation and orientation. The test administration time is 10 min; the maximum possible score is 30 points; a score equal to or higher than 26 is considered normal.

2.2.3. Frontal Assessment Battery

The FAB [41,42], or Frontal Assessment Battery, is a short bedside cognitive and behavioural battery to assess frontal lobe functions. It consists of 6 cognitive and behavioural subtests: conceptualisation, mental flexibility, motor programming,

sensitivity to interference, inhibitory control and environmental autonomy. In Apollonio's [42] correction, the cut-off score is 13.50/18. The Frontal Assessment Battery is easy to administer at the bedside and is sensitive to frontal lobe and executive dysfunction.

2.2.4. Hamilton Psychiatric Rating Scale for Depression

The Hamilton psychiatric Rating scale for Depression, i.e., HDRS or HAM-D, is undoubtedly the best known and most used psychometric tool in the world to evaluate depression's severity. In its original formulation [43], the HAM-D was composed of 17 items, brought to 21 in the subsequent version [44]; besides these, numerous other versions have circulated with more or less arbitrary variants, the best known of which is the 24-item one (the added items are the feeling of helplessness, the loss of hope and the feeling of uselessness). The most widely used version is probably the one published in the NIMH "ECDEU Assessment Manual" [45]. It investigates 21 different areas that are crucial for the assessment of the subject's depressive state. Areas are: depressed mood, guilt, suicidal thoughts, initial insomnia, intermediate insomnia, prolonged insomnia, work and interests, slowing of thought and speech, agitation, psychic anxiety, somatic anxiety, gastrointestinal somatic symptoms, somatic symptoms, genital symptoms, hypochondria, introspection, weight loss, diurnal symptomatology variation, depersonalisation, paranoid symptomatology, obsessive symptomatology. Each of the 21 areas represents a single item of the scale, to each of which the examiner, during the interview, must assign a score ranging from 0 (absent) to 4 (severe), or from 0 to 3 (clearly present), depending on the items and the severity of the symptoms. The score thus obtained indicates a possible depression if it is between 10 and 15 points, mild depression if it is between 16 events 25 points, moderate depression if it is between 26 and 28 points and severe depression if it is greater than 28 points.

2.2.5. Apathy Evaluation Scale

The Apathy Evaluation Scale (AES-C) is a 4-point Likert scale consisting of 18 items. It requires 10–20 min to administer depending on the subject's abilities and the version used. In the Clinician Version, a categorisation of items is indicated in the right column: B = behavioural item; C = cognitive item; E = emotional item. Items are worded with positive or negative syntax (+ or -); most are positive. The rating of Selfevaluation (SE) and quantifiable (Q) items are denoted in the right column of the AES-C. Scores for the AES-C range from 18 to 72. The cut-off score is 39–41, depending on which version of the AES is used. A clinical correlation suggests that these cut-offs are probably slightly low. In this work, the AES-C was compiled by a clinician after a semi-structured interview with the patient in order to prevent depressed or apathetic subjects from being unable to report their symptoms adequately. A back-translation procedure has been used during the adaptation to the Italian language, following the recommendations made by Beaton et al. [46]. The procedure was as follows: translation and adaptation of the original scale from English to Italian, back translation, and review committee. A bilingual Italian-English interpreter translated the English version of the AES-C into Italian. So, it was then translated back to English by a bilingual psychologist with a doctoral degree. The differences that emerged from the comparison between the two versions were discussed and addressed by the research group. Revisions were made to the Italian translation of the AES-C. No substantial difference has been highlighted between the final Italian version and the original English one.

2.3. Data Analysis

Linear structural equations models [47] were calibrated to test the hypothesised model. Tests were completed in AMOS 26.0 [48] by applying the maximum likelihood (ML) method. A sequence of CFA analyses was carried out on the dataset, to establish the best factor model to fit the data. The models' goodness of fit was evaluated using the Tucker Lewis Index (TLI), the Comparative Fit Index (CFI), the Root Mean Square Error of Approximation (RMSEA) and the Standardised Root Mean Square Residual (SRMR). Furthermore, 2 values and D2 values between the competing models are presented, but they are sensitive to sample size [49], so the Akaike Information Criterion (AIC) was also presented along with the Bayesian Information Criterion (BIC) (lower values indicate a better fit). DCFI was also used, with values not exceeding 0.01 indicating that the models are equivalent in terms of fit [50]. Moreover, we conducted a confirmatory factor analysis (CFA) to confirm the factor structure of the AES-C. Next, a series of multiple group CFA were run, in which different, and progressively more stringent, forms of measurement equivalence were tested [51,52]. By establishing whether factor loadings, intercepts and residual variances are equivalent in a factor model that measures a latent concept, we can assure that

comparisons that are made on the latent variable are valid across groups or time [53]. Other well-known analytical tools such as correlations were also used, which were implemented by using SPSS 27.0.

3. Results

3.1. Confirmatory Factor Analysis

At first, a model with one second-order factor and three first-order factors (Model 1: second order=1-factor, Apathy; first order: 3-factors, Behavioural, Cognitive and Emotion) was measured, the results of the fit showed in Table 2 revealed that the model was good [$\chi 2(129)=241.388$, SRMR=0.05, RMSEA=0.06, CFI=0.93, TLI=0.92, AIC=325.388, BIC=466.759]. Model 1 was then compared with a three-factor model (Model 2: first order = 3-factors, Behavioral, Cognitive and Emotional), composed of three first-order factors with co-variances between them where the lower-level variables are observed variables con-taining errors [χ^2 (132)=349.059, SRMR=0.05, RMSEA=0.09, CFI=0.84, TLI=0.81, AIC=472.059, BIC=603.332]. The first model of the two showed the best fit to the data, based on fit indexes, AIC and delta Chi-square value ($\Delta \chi^2$ M2- M1(3)=107.67). Model 1 was then compared to a one-factor Model (Model 3: all 18 items predicted by a single factor), in which all the items were predicted by a single factor [$\chi 2(135)$ =404.847, SRMR=0.06, RMSEA=0.10, CFI =0.83, TLI=0.80, AIC=476.847, BIC=698.023 and it showed again the best fit to the data ($\Delta \chi^2$ M3- M1(6)=163.459). Moreover, all factor loadings were significant at p <0.001. Fit indexes for the tested models are presented in Table 2.

Table 2. Fit indexes for models tested in CFA (Study 1).

_	χ2	df	SRMR	RMSEA	RMSEA 90%-C.I.	CFI	TLI	AIC	BIC
Model 1 ^a	241.388*	129	.05	.064	.051076	.93	.92	325.388	466.759
Model 2 ^b	349.059*	132	.05	.096	.086108	.84	.81	472.059	603.332
Model 3 ^c	404.847*	135	.06	.10	.089112	.83	.80	476.847	698.023

Note. ^a Model 1: one second-order factor and three first-order factors. ^b Model 2: three first-order factors with covariances among them. ^c Model 3: all the items were predicted by a single factor.*: p < .001

Results showed that Model 1 is the one with the best goodness of fit compared to the Italian sample we analysed. This means that the Italian version of the AES-C confirmed the same factorial structure of the original version by Marin and colleagues.

3.2. Descriptive statistic normality of distribution and factor loading of model 1

Next, in Table 3 we report the list of items, the overall means with the standard deviations and the means by gender, the normality of the distribution and the factor loading of model 1 considered the most parsimonious, confirming the factorial

structure of the scale. Critical values that exceed +2.00 or that are smaller than -2.00 indicate statistically significant degrees of non-normality. Descriptive statistics in Table 3 show that data were normally distributed, with good skewness and kurtosis values. The results confirm the good-ness of the scale and the normality of the distribution.

Table 3. Descriptive statistic (mean (M), standard deviation (SD), skewness, kurtosis) and factor loading of model 1.

	М	SD	Fen (15	nale 51)	M (6	ale 3)	Skewness	Kurtosis	Factor loading Model 1
			М	SD	М	SD			
1. S/he is interested in things.	1.90	.89	1.86	.91	1.91	.89	.80	07	.905
2. S/he gets things done during the day.	1.66	.81	1.54	.78	1.71	.82	1.13	.68	.950
3. Getting things started on his/her own is important to him/her.	1.92	.99	1.81	.99	1.96	.99	.78	56	.500
4. S/he is interested in having new experiences.	2.45	1.14	2.56	1.10	2.41	1.16	.03	-1.42	.532
5. S/he is interested in learning new things.	2.39	1.19	2.41	1.17	2.38	1.20	.10	-1.51	.549
6. S/he puts little effort into anything.	1.85	.99	1.79	.94	1.87	1.02	.85	48	.691
7. S/he approaches life with intensity.	2.00	.98	1.87	.94	2.05	1.02	.69	61	.613
8. Seeing a job through to the end is important to her/him.	1.45	.70	1.30	.56	1.51	.75	1.50	1.66	.719
9. S/he spends time doing things that interest her/him.	1.84	.88	1.89	.83	1.82	.92	.74	36	.810
10. Someone has to tell her/him what to do each day.	1.71	.94	1.63	.88	1.74	.96	1.13	.22	.797
11. S/he is less concerned about her/his problems than s/he should be.	1.99	.96	2.08	.94	1.95	.96	.55	78	.674
12. S/he has friends.	1.79	.96	1.67	.86	1.83	1.00	1.07	.13	.901
13. Getting together with friends is important to her/him.	1.62	.82	1.54	.74	1.66	.85	1.16	.56	.740
14. When something good happens, s/he gets excited.	1.43	.714	1.46	.69	1.42	.72	1.56	1.68	.749
15. S/he has an accurate understanding of her/his problems.	1.72	.78	1.89	.90	1.65	.71	.90	.32	.630
16. Getting things done during the day is important to her/him.	1.53	.76	1.65	.88	1.48	.70	1.29	.85	.665
17. S/he has initiative.	1.92	1.003	1.98	1.04	1.89	.99	.73	66	.810
18. S/he has motivation.	1.95	.99	1.98	.99	1.93	.98	.71	62	.797

3.3. Convergent and Discriminant Validity

The convergent and discriminant validity of the AES-C was tested using the measures of MMSE, MOCA, FAB and Hamilton. Table 4 shows descriptive statistic and correlation matrix for the study variables. The data are reported by distinguishing the re-sults between two different groups: control group and experimental group (MCI and AD patients). There is a high negative correlation in experimental group between AES-C and FAB (rs=-.21, p<.001) and MMSE (rs=-.04, p<.001), while there is a positive correlation be-tween AES-C and HAM-D scores (rs=.58, p<.001) and MOCA (rs=.46, p <.001). These data are in line with Marin's first AES validation study, in which Moderate but statistically significant correlations were found between the AES-C and the HAM-D (r=0.39) and the AES-C and the Hamilton Rating Scale for Anxiety (r=0.35) indicating adequate discrimi-nant validity. This confirms the fact that apathy, in addition to being considered as a symptom dimension of depression, presents itself as a construct connected to a psycho-pathological core but different from depression.

In the control group we found a high pos-itive correlation between AES-C and HAM-D (rs=.22, p<.001) and MOCA (rs=.17, p<.001), and negative correlation between AES-C and FAB (rs=-.22, p<.05). This latter result reflects the nature of the effects of frontal lobe dysfunction on the emotional aspects of evaluated subjects. There is in fact an anatomical correlation and a neurobiological link between frontal injury and the appearance of apathy [54-55]. Consequently, the negative correlation between AES-C and FAB suggest that in the absence of frontal lesions the levels of apathy in healthy subjects are less elevated. The positive correlation between AES-C and MoCA in the control group was an unexpected result. We hypothesize that this data could be linked to the presence of apathetic symptoms also in the subjects of the control group, included in the study exclusively on the basis of their normal cognitive functions. In fact, high apathy scores are compatible with a high score on the MoCA (general cognitive efficiency) rather than on the FAB which measures frontal functions only.

Table 4. Descriptive statistics and inter-correlations (N=214)*.

	Control	l group	Experimental group		α	1	2	3	4	5
	М	SD	М	SD						
1. MMSE	29.20	1.15	23.50	3.27	.89	-	10	.09	.11	16**
2. MOCA	28.53	1.57	18.33	4.38	.77	.63**	-	11	.02	17**
3. FAB	16.24	1.33	11.31	3.28	.87	.52**	.55**	-	09	22**
4. Hamilton	4.37	2.58	10.29	7.35	.76	.14	.08	10	-	.22**
5. AES-C	28.35	7.8	37.58	11.0	.91	04	.46**	21**	.58**	-

Notes: MMSE=Mini Mental State Examination; MoCA=Montreal Cognitive Assessment; FAB=Frontal Assessment Battery; Hamilton=Hamilton psychiatric Rating scales For Depression; AES-C=Apathy Evaluation Scale – Clinician Version; p scores: * <.05, ** <.001. *Correlations among experimental data are below diagonal, correlations among control group data are above the diagonal.

3.4. Multiple-Group Confirmatory Factor Analysis (MCFA)

Cross-validation comparisons were conducted by running a series of multiple-group CFA, in which different, and progressively more stringent, forms of measurement equivalence were tested [51]. We considered six models (configural, metric, scalar, error, variance and covariance) to test for measurement invariance across gender and type of group. The first multiple-group analysis tested a model of configural invariance (Model 1) by simultaneously evaluating the fit of male and female samples. The fit indices (2(258) = 421.58, p < 0.001; CFI = 0.91; SRMR = 0.043; RMSEA = 0.061) indicated a good fit for this model, supporting an equivalent solution made of one second-order factor with three first-order factors for the AES-C in the Italian context

in Table 5. The fit of this configural model provides the baseline value against which all subsequently specified equivalence models are compared [56].

Model 2 was tested for metric invariance; D2M2-M1(17) = 27.94 and DCFI = 0.001 suggested that Model 2 could be considered equivalent to Model 1 (Table 5). Thus, metric invariance was supported.

Model	χ2(df)	CFI	SRMR	RMSEA [90% CI] pclose	ΔCFI
1. Configural Invariance	421.58(258)	.91	.04	.06 (.045064)	-
2. Metric Invariance	449.52 (275)	.90	.04	.06 (.045064)	.001
3. Scalar Invariance	453.74 (278)	.90	.04	.06 (.045064)	.000
4. Measurement error Invariance	523.58 (300)	.90	.04	.06 (.045064)	.002
5. Structural Variance Invariance	553.11 (315)	.90	.04	.06 (.045064)	.001
6. Structural Covariance Invariance	566.02 (322)	.90	.04	.06 (.045064)	.001

Table 5. Fit statistics for measurement invariance by gender.

Moreover, measurement scalar invariance (as tested by Model 3) and error invariance (Model 4) were found ($\Delta\chi 2M3-M2(3)=4.22$, $\Delta CFI=.000$; $\Delta\chi 2M4-M3(22)=69.84$, $\Delta CFI=.002$.

The equivalence in factor variances was tested (Model 5) and it was found to be tenable ($\Delta\chi 2M5-M4(15)=29.53$, $\Delta CFI=.001$). Finally, the equivalence in factor covariances was tested (Model 6) by nesting the respective model with Model 5, and the result was that it was supported ($\Delta\chi 2M6-M5(7)=12.91$, $\Delta CFI=.001$).

A second multigroup tested a model of configural invariance (Model 1) by simultaneously evaluating the fit of experimental group and control group. The fit indices $[\chi 2(96)=452.91, p<.001; CFI=.90; SRMR=.054; RMSEA=.062]$ indicated a good fit for this model, supporting an equivalent solution made of one second-order factor with three first-order factors for AES-C in the data sets for experimental group and control group (Table 5).

Model 2 was tested for metric invariance (Table 6). More importantly, $\Delta\chi 2M1-M2(17)=13.92$ and $\Delta CFI=.000$ suggested that Model 2 could be considered equivalent to Model 1. So, metric invariance was supported.

Table 6. Fit statistics for measurement invariance by experimental group and control group.

Model	χ2(df)	CFI	SRMR	RMSEA [90% CI] pclose	ΔCFI
1. Configural Invariance	452.91 (256)	.90	.05	.06 (.051069)	-
2. Metric Invariance	466.83 (273)	.90	.05	.06 (.054080)	.000
3. Scalar Invariance	481.56 (291)	.90	.05	.06 (.054080)	.000
4. Measurement error Invariance	501.16 (302)	.90	.05	.06 (.054080)	.000

5. Structural Variance Invariance	523.19 (317)	.90	.06	.06 (.054080)	.000
6. Structural Covariance Invariance	560.31 (325)	.90	.06	.06 (.054080)	.000

The equivalence of the model is present also for error invariance (as tested by Model 3) and scalar invariance (Model 4) were found ($\Delta\chi 2M2-M3(18)=14.73$, $\Delta CFI=.000$; $\Delta\chi 2M3-M4(11)=19.6$, $\Delta CFI=.000$.

Finally, the equivalence in factor variances (Model 5) and in factor covariances (Model 6) were tested and the result were that it was supported ($\Delta\chi 2M5-M4(15)=22.03$, $\Delta CFI=.000$); ($\Delta\chi 2M6-M5(8)=37.12$, $\Delta CFI=.000$).

Results were totally satisfactory as the model fit proved to be invariant across both populations (Table 6).

4. Discussion

Starting from the evidence that apathy can represent both a prodromal symptom and a risk factor for AD, in the present manuscript we analysed the psychometrics properties and invariance of the Italian Version of the Apathy Evaluation Scale-Clinician Version in a sample of 107 Italian MCI and AD patients. For this reason, different procedures were used, and different analyses were carried out. Confirmatory factory analysis confirmed that the AES-C Italian Version presents the same stability of one second-order factor and three first-order factors identified in Marin's original study. Moreover, as in the original study, all items are predicted by a single general factor. So, in general, we can affirm that our results confirm the goodness of the scale. In 2007, Clarke and colleagues [57] conducted a review study of publications between January 1983 and December 2004 about AES-C psychometric properties. The authors provided detailed information about both reliability and validity, concluding that the scale has good psychometric properties, as firstly demonstrated by the original study by Marin et al. The original study [32] reported high internal consistency, with Cronbach's alpha (α)=0.90. This result was confirmed by subsequent studies where exceeded 0.8, indicating that the scale is homogeneous. Marin et al. [32] also reported a good test-retest reliability, with a coefficient of 0.88 and a good inter-rater reliability (ICC = 0.94). Besides, there is strong evidence for good validity of the scale [57–59]. Content validity is supported by the judgement of various experts and by the fact that the AES-C has been used in many studies and across several health conditions. In different studies, convergent validity was assessed by comparing results of other measures of apathy, namely the AES-C self-rated, AES-C informant-rated and Apathy subscale of the Neuropsychiatric Inventory (NPI) [32,60,61]. Moreover, statistically significant correlations were observed between the AES-C and negative symptoms of the HAM-D, specifically, psychomotor retardation, lack of energy and insight and diminished work/interest. A similar result regards the correlations between the AES-C and reduced initiative, lack of emotional responsivity and inattention, as measured by the Montgomery and Asberg Depression Rating Scale (MADRS), as well as with the emotional withdrawal item of the Positive and Negative Syndrome Scale [62,63].

Our data agree with these findings and confirm the validity of the AES as a clinically relevant psychometric tool to detect apathy in MCI and mild AD patients. The convergent and discriminant validity of the AES-C was tested using the measures of cognitive impairment and the HDRS. In particular, it was planned to administer the Hamilton test, as in the original study, in order to evaluate also in the Italian version the ability of the AES to discriminate depression from apathy as a construct in and of itself. The results are in line with what was stated in the original article by Marin: in fact, the moderate but significant correlation between the AES-C and HAM-D confirms that apathy can not only be considered as a symptom of depression, but that it should be considered as a separate syndrome for which to intervene selectively to improve the quality of life of the subjects. Several previous studies showed the difference between the construct of apathy and that of depression. Already in 1998, Levy et al. [64] carried out research on a sample of subjects suffering from different neuropsychiatric diseases, showing that there was no correlation between apathy and depression and therefore confirming the separation of the two constructs, but they also found that apathy was strongly correlated with a low cognitive level measured by the Mini Mental State Examination. Successively, Starkstein et al. [65] have suggested that apathy is a behavioural dimension independent of depression. This seems very important considering that recent studies have shown that the higher the level of apathy, the more it is a predictor of the transition to dementia [2]; apathy alone or both apathy and depression are major risks to develop AD in MCI patients when compared to those with no NPS, as reported by Ruthirakuhan et al. [19]. Most of the epidemiological studies on apathy in the AD context refer to studies on the prevalence or change in apathy symptoms over time [66]. Apathy is predominant both in MCI and dementia. This prevalence is positively related to the severity of dementia [2]. A 3year observational study of 332 MCI subjects showed a higher incidence of dementia

in subjects with apathy ((HR) = 1.62) [67]. Moreover, an investigation using the Apathy Evaluation Scale (AES) in elderly individuals with normal cognition and MCI showed that apathy progression over time predicted the transition from MCI to dementia [68]. A very recent study on the predictivity of apathy for the transition to dementia was carried out by Roberto et al. [20], who identified and explored the predictivity of the conversion to dementia of four NPS profiles, distinguishing apathy from depression and demonstrating that apathy was a predictor of the conversion to dementia, as opposed to depression. Other studies have examined the discriminant validity by comparing AES-C scores and measures of depression and anxiety. Significant correlations were found between the AES-C and Hamilton Rating Scale for Anxiety; HAM-D scores of depressed mood, guilt or hopelessness, suicide and vegetative symptoms of depression; depressed mood symptoms on the MADRS; the Calgary Depression Scale for Schizophrenia (CDSS) and the NPI depression subscale. Other results that gave support to the construct validity are the significant negative correlations between the AES-C and physical arousal measures such as heart rate reactivity, diastolic blood pressure and mean arterial pressure [68].

Our study also examined for the first time the psychometric link between apathy and executive function. Specifically, when considering the healthy control group, interestingly we found a negative correlation between the AES-C and FAB. This result suggests that apathy is connected to damage of the prefrontal cortex and other brain structures [55]. In healthy subjects without brain damage, therefore, the score on the apathy test correlates negatively with that of the FAB, demonstrating the presence of a link between apathy and brain injury. Multiple-Group Confirmatory Factor Analysis (MCFA) was performed for measurement invariance across gender and type of group. Results showed that the same factor solution was invariant across gender (men, women), and they were totally satisfactory as the model fit proved to be invariant across both populations.

When moving to MCI and mild AD patients, it is well known that the availability of a valid and reliable psychometric tool for the measurement of apathy appears to be fundamental for evaluating and planning the treatment of apathy syndrome in the AD population, and in particular in an early phase of AD pathogenesis, such as amnestic MCI. A recent study demonstrate that the AES-C subscale can predict the progression from MCI to AD dementia [69] Other studies have evaluated the AES-C in mild and moderate AD patients. Radakovic et al. [70]

examined the correlation between apathy and AD in a sample of 102 AD patients and 55 healthy controls. The aim of the study was to determine the validity and reliability of a multidimensional apathy measure, the Dimensional Apathy Scale (DAS) compared to the Apathy Evaluation Scale (AES), Geriatric Depression Short form (GDS-15), and Lawton Instrumental Activities of Daily Living (LIADL). The authors found in both subsamples a positive significant correlation between the DAS total score and AES (r = 0.75; p < 0.001), showing that apathy profiles in AD are heterogeneous, with additional specific impairments relating to awareness dependent on the apathy subtype [70]. The AES is a unidimensional measure, whereas apathy is established as a multidimensional construct. When considering the diagnostic criteria of apathy and in particular diminished motivation, reduced goal-directed cognitive activity and functional impairments, other psychometric tools such as the DAS should be used in combination with the AES in future clinical studies in early AD patients to evaluate the various dimensions of apathy better as well as additional specific impairments and specific clinical phenotypes such as the Executive-Initiation apathy detectable with the DAS eventually in combination with the AES-C.

Starting from the evidence of the key role of apathy as a risk factor for AD and the future development of disease-modifying strategies in amnestic MCI patients, the availability of a validated Italian version of the AES-C represents an essential step to plan future clinical studies in this field. Previous studies have found that the AES-S is a psychometrically sound measurement tool for assessing levels of apathy in a cognitively healthy middle-aged cohort at risk for AD [70], but our study demonstrates for the first time that the AES-C can be a useful tool to detect both apathy and executive dysfunction in amnestic MCI patients.

Despite the goodness of the results obtained, the study has some limitations. One of these concerns the sample. Although the presence of a higher number of women than men confirms the literature, according to which AD disease is more frequent in the female gender, a more homogeneous sample between men and women would perhaps have been more adequate to represent a sample of the AD and not. Another limitation concerns the influence of the pharmacological interventions to which the subjects of the study could be subjected (such as antidepressants or cholinesterase inhibitors). This limitation is not present on our study, because no patients with a current depressive episode or treated with antidepressants were recruited in the study. Furthermore, we recruited only AD patients that did not receive a treatment with cholinesterase inhibitors, a drug class which might influence apathy scores. This might be considered as a limitation of our study, but it also helped us to exclude the impact of cholinesterase inhibitors on apathy scores in our AD sample. Further studies are needed to understand the impact of cholinesteraseinhibitors on AES scores. A mixed sample of MCI and AD subjects all belonging to the same reference centre was used. Future studies could investigate the difference in the perception and presence of apathy in subjects undergoing treatment versus those not undergoing treatment, also to assess the impact of pharmacological vs. non-pharmacological treatments better. Finally, our control subjects showed high apathy scores. We cannot exclude the possibility that the presence of apathy in the control group may be related to the SARSCoV-2 pandemic period during which the AES was administered.

5. Conclusions

From the results of the psychometric analyses conducted, it is possible to affirm the validity of the Italian version of the AES-C for the assessment of apathy both in MCI and in AD patients. Despite the limitations, our study leads to a real advance for future research and interventions. Considering the study and early identification of apathy in Alzheimer's patients can be of fundamental importance to intervene promptly and improve the quality of life of MCI patients in an early phase of AD pathogenesis. This study allowed us to show that the AES-C shows good discriminating, convergent, criterion and construct values, excellent wearability and good reliability, and presents itself as an adequate tool in the Italian context to assess apathy both in MCI and AD subjects.

Author Contributions: Conceptualisation, G.F., S.D.N.; methodology, G.F., F.C., F.D.; software, S.P.; validation, S.P., G.F.; formal analysis, P.C., S.C.; investigation, T.M., M.S., G.R.; data curation, G.F., F.M., A.P., R.S.; writing—original draft preparation, G.F.; writing—review and editing, G.F., S.P., F.C.; supervision, S.D.N., P.C., F.C. All authors have read and agreed to the published version of the manuscript.

Funding: This research received no external funding.

Institutional Review Board Statement: The study was conducted in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki, and the protocol was authorized by the Internal Ethics

Review Board of the Department of Educational Sciences (Section of Psychology) of the University of Catania (n. Ierb-Edunict-2020.14.10 approved on 14.10.2020); research procedures followed all the indications provided by the guidelines of the AIP (Italian Association of Psychology) and its Ethical Council.

Informed Consent Statement: Informed consent was obtained from all subjects involved in the study.

Data Availability Statement: The data presented in this study are available on request. The data are not publicly available due to privacy restrictions.

Acknowledgments: The study was supported by the U.O.R. of Translational Neuropharmacology, Oasi Research Institute—IRCCS, Troina, Italy.

Conflicts of Interest: The authors declare no conflict of interest.

References

1. Padala, P.; Petty, F.; Bhatia, S.C. Methylphenidate May Treat Apathy Independent of Depression. *Ann. Pharmacother.* **2005**, 39, 1947–1949.

2. Lanctôt, K.L.; Agüera-Ortiz, L.; Brodaty, H.; Francis, P.T.; Geda, Y.E.; Ismail, Z.; Marshall, G.A.; Mortby, M.E.; Onyike, C.U.; Padala, P.; et al. Apathy associated with neurocognitive disorders: Recent progress and future directions. *Alzheimer's Dement.* **2017**, 13, 84–100.

3. Jonsson, M.; Edman, Å.; Lind, K.; Rolstad, S.; Sjögren, M.; Wallin, A. Apathy is a prominent neuropsychiatric feature of radi-ological white-matter changes in patients with dementia. J. *Clin. Exp. Neuropsychol.* **2010**, 25, 588–595.

4. Marin Apathy: Concept, Syndrome, Neural Mechanisms, and Treatment. *Semin. Clin. Neuropsychiatry* **1996**, 1, 304–314.

5. Robert, P.; Onyike, C.U.; Leentjens, A.F.G.; Dujardin, K.; Aalten, P.; Starkstein, S.; Verhey, F.R.J.; Yessavage, J.; Clément, J.-P.; Drapier, D.; et al. Proposed diagnostic criteria for apathy in Alzheimer's disease and other neuropsychiatric disorders. *Eur. Psychiatry* **2009**, 24, 98–104.

6. Marin, R.S.; Firinciogullari, S.; Biedrzycki, R.C. The sources of convergence between measures of apathy and depression. *J. Affect. Disord.* **1993**, 28, 7–14.

7. Marin, R.S. Apathy: A neuropsychiatric syndrome. *J. Neuropsychiatry Clin. Neurosci.* **1991**, 3, 243–254.

8. Albert, M.S. Changing the Trajectory of Cognitive Decline? *N. Engl. J. Med.* **2007**, 357, 502–503.

9. Herrera, E.; Caramelli, P.; Silveira, A.S.B.; Nitrini, R. Epidemiologic Survey of Dementia in a Community-Dwelling Brazilian Population. *Alzheimer's Dis. Assoc. Disord.* **2002**, 16, 103–108.

10. Hirtz, D.; Thurman, D.; Gwinn, K.; Mohamed, M.; Chaudhuri, A.R.; Zalutsky, R. How common are the "common" neurologic disorders? *Neurology* **2007**, 68, 326–337.

11. Isaacson, R.S.; Ganzer, C.A.; Hristov, H.; Hackett, K.; Caesar, E.; Cohen, R.; Kachko, R.; Meléndez-Cabrero, J.; Rahman, A.; Scheyer, O.; et al. The clinical practice of risk reduction for Alzheimer's disease: A precision medicine approach. *Alzheimer's Dement.* **2018**, 14, 1663–1673.

12. Frisoni, G.B.; Winblad, B.; O'Brien, J.T. Revised NIA-AA criteria for the diagnosis of Alzheimer's disease: A step forward but not yet ready for widespread clinical use. *Int. Psychogeriatr.* **2011**, 23, 1191–1196.

13. Cummings, J.L.; McPherson, S. Neuropsychiatric assessment of Alzheimer's disease and related dementias. *Aging Clin. Exp. Res.* **2001**, 13, 240–246.

14. Guimarães, H.C.; Levy, R.; Teixeira, A.L.; Beato, R.G.; Caramelli, P. Neurobiology of apathy in Alzheimer's disease. *Arq. De Neuro-Psiquiatr.* **2008**, 66, 436–443.

15. Mitchell, R.A.; Herrmann, N.; Lanctôt, K.L. The Role of Dopamine in Symptoms and Treatment of Apathy in Alzheimer's Disease. *CNS Neurosci. Ther.* **2010**, 17, 411–427.

16. Lyketsos, C.G.; Lopez, O.; Jones, B.; Fitzpatrick, A.L.; Breitner, J.; DeKosky, S. Prevalence of Neuropsychiatric Symptoms in Dementia and Mild Cognitive Impairment. *JAMA* **2002**, 288, 1475–1483.

17. Banerjee, S.; Smith, S.; Lamping, D.; Harwood, R.; Foley, B.; Smith, P.; Murray, J.; Prince, M.; Levin, E.; Mann, A.; et al. Quality of life in dementia: More than just cognition. An analysis of associations with quality of life in dementia. *J. Neurol. Neurosurg. Psychiatry* **2006**, 77, 146–148.

18. Chilovi, B.V.; Conti, M.; Zanetti, M.; Mazzù, I.; Rozzini, L.; Padovani, A. Differential Impact of Apathy and Depression in the Development of Dementia in Mild Cognitive Impairment Patients. *Dement. Geriatr. Cogn. Disord.* **2009**, 27, 390–398.

19. Ruthirakuhan, M.; Herrmann, N.; Vieira, D.; Gallagher, D.; Lanctôt, K.L. The Roles of Apathy and Depression in Predicting Alzheimer Disease: A Longitudinal Analysis in Older Adults With Mild Cognitive Impairment. *Am. J. Geriatr. Psychiatry* **2019**, 27, 873–882.

20. Roberto, N.; Portella, M.J.; Marquié, M.; Alegret, M.; Hernández, I.; Mauleón, A.; Rosende-Roca, M.; Abdelnour, C.; de Antonio, E.E.; Gil, S.; et al. Neuropsychiatric profiles and conversion to dementia in mild cognitive impairment, a latent class analysis. *Sci. Rep.* **2021**, 11, 6448.

21. Ma, L. Depression, Anxiety, and Apathy in Mild Cognitive Impairment: Current Perspectives. *Front. Aging Neurosci.* **2020**, 12, 9.

22. Cummings, J.L.; Mega, M.; Gray, K.; Rosenberg-Thompson, S.; Carusi, D.A.; Gornbein, J. The Neuropsychiatric Inventory: Comprehensive assessment of psychopathology in dementia. *Neurology* **1994**, 44, 2308.

23. Cummings, J.L. The Neuropsychiatric Inventory: Assessing psychopathology in dementia patients. *Neurology* **1997**, 48, 10S–16S.

24. Robert, P.H.; Clairet, S.; Benoit, M.; Koutaich, J.; Bertogliati, C.; Tible, O.; Caci, H.; Borg, M.; Brocker, P.; Bedoucha, P. The Apathy Inventory: Assessment of apathy and awareness in Alzheimer's disease, Parkinson's disease and mild cognitive impairment. Int. *J. Geriatr. Psychiatry* **2002**, 17, 1099–1105.

25. Starkstein, S.E.; Mayberg, H.S.; Preziosi, T.J.; Andrezejewski, P.; Leiguarda, R.; Robinson, R.G. Reliability, validity, and clinical correlates of apathy in Parkinson's disease. *J. Neuropsychiatry Clin. Neurosci.* **1992**, 4, 134–139.

26. Lueken, U.; Seidl, U.; Völker, L.; Schweiger, E.; Kruse, A.; Schröder, J. Development of a Short Version of the Apathy Evaluation Scale Specifically Adapted for Demented Nursing Home Residents. *Am. J. Geriatr. Psychiatry* **2007**, 15, 376–385.

27. Strauss, M.E.; Sperry, S.D. An informant-based assessment of apathy in Alzheimer disease. Neuropsychiatry Neuropsychol. Behav. *Neurol.* **2002**, 15, 176–183.

28. Sockeel, P.; Dujardin, K.; Devos, D.; Deneve, C.; Destée, A.; Defebvre, L. The Lille apathy rating scale (LARS), a new instrument for detecting and quantifying apathy: Validation in Parkinson's disease. *J. Neurol. Neurosurg. Psychiatry* **2006**, 77, 579–584.

29. Bayard, S.; Jacus, J.-P.; Raffard, S.; Gely-Nargeot, M.-C. Apathy and Emotion-Based Decision-Making in Amnesic Mild Cognitive Impairment and Alzheimer's Disease. *Behav. Neurol.* **2014**, 2014, 1–7.

30. Radakovic, R.; Abrahams, S. Developing a new apathy measurement scale: Dimensional Apathy Scale. *Psychiatry Res.* **2014**, 219, 658–663.

31. Levy, R.; Dubois, B. Apathy and the Functional Anatomy of the Prefrontal Cortex– Basal Ganglia Circuits. *Cereb. Cortex* **2006**, 16, 916–928.

32. Marin, R.S.; Biedrzycki, R.C.; Firinciogullari, S. Reliability and validity of the apathy evaluation scale. *Psychiatry Res.* **1991**, 38, 143–162.

33. Herrmann, N.; Rothenburg, L.S.; Black, S.; Ryan, M.; Liu, B.A.; Busto, U.E.; Lanctot, K.L. Methylphenidate for the Treatment of Apathy in Alzheimer Disease: Prediction of response using dextroamphetamine challenge. *J. Clin. Psychopharmacol.* **2008**, 28, 296–301.

34. Rosenberg, P.B.; Lanctôt, K.L.; Drye, L.T.; Herrmann, N.; Scherer, R.W.; Bachman, D.L.; Mintzer, J.E. ADMET investigators Safety and Efficacy of Methylphenidate for Apathy in Alzheimer's Disease: A randomized, placebo-controlled trial. *J. Clin. Psychiatry* **2013**, 74, 810–816.

35. Padala, P.; Padala, K.P.; Lensing, S.Y.; Ramirez, D.; Monga, V.; Bopp, M.M.; Roberson, P.K.; Dennis, R.A.; Petty, F.; Sullivan, D.H.; et al. Methylphenidate for Apathy in Community-Dwelling Older Veterans with Mild Alzheimer's Disease: A Double-Blind, Randomized, Placebo-Controlled Trial. *Am. J. Psychiatry* **2018**, 175, 159–168.

36. Mohammad, D.; Ellis, C.; Rau, A.; Rosenberg, P.B.; Mintzer, J.; Ruthirakuhan,
M.; Herrmann, N.; Lanctôt, K.L. Psychometric Properties of Apathy Scales in
Dementia: A Systematic Review. J. Alzheimer's Dis. 2018, 66, 1065–1082.

37. Crum, R.M.; Anthony, J.C.; Bassett, S.S.; Folstein, M.F. Population-Based Norms for the Mini-Mental State Examination by Age and Educational Level. *JAMA* **1993**, 269, 2386.

38. Magni, E.; Binetti, G.; Bianchetti, A.; Rozzini, R.; Trabucchi, M. Mini-Mental State Examination: A normative study in Italian elderly population. *Eur. J. Neurol.* **1996**, 3, 198–202.

39. Nasreddine, Z.S.; Phillips, N.A.; Bédirian, V.; Charbonneau, S.; Whitehead, V.; Collin, I.; Cummings, J.L.; Chertkow, H. The Montreal Cognitive Assessment, MoCA: A Brief Screening Tool For Mild Cognitive Impairment. *J. Am. Geriatr. Soc.* **2005**, 53, 695–699.

40. Santangelo, G.; Siciliano, M.; Pedone, R.; Vitale, C.; Falco, F.; Bisogno, R.; Siano,
P.; Barone, P.; Grossi, D.; Santangelo, F.; et al. Normative data for the Montreal
Cognitive Assessment in an Italian population sample. *Neurol. Sci.* 2014, 36, 585–591.

41. Dubois, B.; Slachevsky, A.; Litvan, I.; Pillon, B. The FAB: A frontal assessment battery at bedside. *Neurology* **2000**, 55, 1621–1626.

42. Appollonio, I.; Leone, M.; Isella, V.; Piamarta, F.; Consoli, T.; Villa, M.L.; Forapani, E.; Russo, A.; Nichelli, P. The Frontal Assessment Battery (FAB): Normative values in an Italian population sample. *Neurol. Sci.* **2005**, 26, 108–116.

43. Hamilton, M. A rating scale for depression. J. Neurol. *Neurosurg Psychiatry* 1960, 23, 56–62.

44. Hamilton, M. Development of a Rating Scale for Primary Depressive Illness. *Br. J. Soc. Clin. Psychol.* **1967**, 6, 278–296.

45. Guy, W. ECDEU Assessment Manual for Psychopharmacology; U.S. Dept. of Health, Education, and Welfare, Public Health Service, Alcohol, Drug Abuse, and Mental Health Administration, National Institute of Mental Health, Psychopharmacology Research Branch, Division of Extramural Research Programs: Rockville, MD, USA, 1976; pp. 179–192.

46. Beaton, D.E.; Bombardier, C.; Guillemin, F.; Ferraz, M.B. Guidelines for the Process of Cross-Cultural Adaptation of Self-Report Measures. *Spine* **2000**, 25, 3186–3191.

47. Bagozzi, R.P. Structural equation models in marketing research: Basic principles. In Principles of Marketing Research; Bagozzi, R.P., Ed.; Blackwell Pub: Oxford, UK, 1994; pp. 317–385.

48. Arbuckle, J.L. IBM SPSS Amos 23 User's Guide. IBM, Amos Development Corporation, 2014. Available online: https://public.dhe.ibm.com/software/analytics/spss/documentation/amos/23.0/en/Man uals/IBM_SPSS_Amos_User_Guide.pdf (accessed on 8 September 2021).

49. Meade, A.W.; Johnson, E.C.; Braddy, P.W. Power and sensitivity of alternative fit indices in tests of measurement invariance. *J. Appl. Psychol.* **2008**, 93, 568–592.

50. Cheung, G.; Rensvold, R.B. Evaluating Goodness-of-Fit Indexes for Testing Measurement Invariance. *Struct. Equ. Model.* **2002**, 9, 233–255.

51. Cheung, G. Testing Equivalence in the Structure, Means, and Variances of Higher-Order Constructs with Structural Equation Modeling. Organ. Res. *Methods* **2007**, 11, 593–613. 52. Vandenberg, R.; Lance, C.E. A Review and Synthesis of the Measurement Invariance Literature: Suggestions, Practices, and Recommendations for Organizational Research. *Organ. Res. Methods* **2000**, *3*, 4–70.

53. Van De Schoot, R.; Lugtig, P.; Hox, J. A checklist for testing measurement invariance. *Eur. J. Dev. Psychol.* **2012**, 9, 486–492.

54. Reber, J.; Tranel, D. Frontal lobe syndromes. *Frontal Lobes* **2019**, 163, 147–164.

55. Moretti, R.; Signori, R. Neural Correlates for Apathy: Frontal-Prefrontal and Parietal Cortical- Subcortical Circuits. *Front. Aging Neurosci.* **2016**, 8, 289.

56. Byrne, B.M. Testing for multigroup equivalence of a measuring instrument: A walk through the process. *Psicothema* **2008**, 20, 872–882.

57. Resnick, B.; Zimmerman, S.I.; Magaziner, J.; Adelman, A. Use of the Apathy Evaluation Scale as a Measure of Motivation in Elderly People. *Rehabil. Nurs.* **1998**, 23, 141–147.

58. Lampe, I.K.; Kahn, R.S.; Heeren, T.J. Apathy, anhedonia, and psychomotor retardation in elderly psychiatric patients and healthy elderly individuals. *J. Geriatr. Psychiatry Neurol.* **2001**, 14, 11–16.

59. Lampe, I.K.; Heeren, T.J. Is apathy in late-life depressive illness related to age-atonset, cognitive function or vascular risk? *Int. Psychogeriatr.* **2004**, 16, 481–486.

60. Pluck, G.C. Apathy in Parkinson's disease. *J. Neurol. Neurosurg*. Psychiatry 2002, 73, 636–642.

61. Clarke, D.E.; Van Reekum, R.; Simard, M.; Streiner, D.L.; Freedman, M.; Conn,
D. Apathy in Dementia: An Examination of the Psychometric Properties of the Apathy
Evaluation Scale. *J. Neuropsychiatry Clin. Neurosci.* 2007, 19, 57–64.

62. Andersson, S.; Krogstad, J.M.; Finset, A. Apathy and depressed mood in acquired brain damage: Relationship to lesion localization and psychophysiological reactivity. *Psychol. Med.* **1999**, 29, 447–456.

63. Kiang, M.; Christensen, B.K.; Remington, G.; Kapur, S. Apathy in schizophrenia: Clinical correlates and association with functional outcome. *Schizophr. Res.* **2003**, 63, 79–88.

64. Levy, M.L.; Cummings, J.L.; Fairbanks, L.A.; Masterman, D.; Miller, B.L.; Craig, A.H.; Paulsen, J.; Litvan, I. Apathy Is Not Depression. *J. Neuropsychiatry Clin. Neurosci.* **1998**, 10, 314–319.

65. Starkstein, S.E.; Ingram, L.; Garau, M.L.; Mizrahi, R. On the overlap between apathy and depression in dementia. *J. Neurol. Neurosurg. Psychiatry* **2005**, 76, 1070–1074.

66. Brodaty, H.; Altendorf, A.; Withall, A.; Sachdev, P. Do people become more apathetic as they grow older? A longitudinal study in healthy individuals. *Int. Psychogeriatr.* **2009**, 22, 426–436.

67. Pink, A.; Stokin, G.B.; Bartley, M.M.; Roberts, R.O.; Sochor, O.; Machulda, M.M.; Krell-Roesch, J.; Knopman, D.S.; Acosta, J.I.; Christianson, T.J.; et al. Neuropsychiatric symptoms, APOE 4, and the risk of incident dementia: A population-based study. *Neurol.* **2015**, 84, 935–943.

68. Guercio, B.J.; Donovan, N.J.; Munro, C.E.; Aghjayan, S.L.;Wigman, S.E.; Locascio, J.J.; Amariglio, R.E.; Rentz, D.M.; Johnson, K.A.; Sperling, R.A.; et al. The Apathy Evaluation Scale: A Comparison of Subject, Informant, and Clinician Report in Cognitively Normal Elderly and Mild Cognitive Impairment. *J. Alzheimer's Dis.* **2015**, 47, 421–432.

69. Clarke, D.E.; Van Reekum, R.; Patel, J.; Simard, M.; Gomez, E.; Streiner, D.L. An appraisal of the psychometric properties of the Clinician version of the Apathy Evaluation Scale (AES-C). *Int. J. Methods Psychiatr. Res.* **2007**, 16, 97–110.

70. Radakovic, R.; Starr, J.M.; Abrahams, S. A Novel Assessment and Profiling of Multidimensional Apathy in Alzheimer's Disease. *J. Alzheimer's Dis.* **2017**, 60, 57–67.

Chapter IV

The combined use of Mini-Mental State Examination with Montreal Cognitive Assessment to evaluate the clinical efficacy of cholinesterase inhibitors in Mild Alzheimer's disease patients

Giovanna Furneri¹, Sabrina Castellano¹, Federica Testa¹, Federica Martelli¹, Alessandra Privitera¹, Grazia Razza², Filippo Drago³, Mario Santagati², Santo Di Nuovo^{1#} and Filippo Caraci^{4,5#*},

¹Department of Educational Sciences, University of Catania, Catania, Italy; ²ASP3 Catania, Department of Mental Health, Alzheimer Psychogeriatric Center; ³Department of Biomedical and Biotechnological Sciences, University of Catania, Catania, Italy; ⁴Department of Drug and Health Sciences, University of Catania, Catania, Italy; ⁵Oasi Research Institute - IRCCS, Troina, Italy;

Co-last Authors

*Corresponding author: Filippo Caraci

Abstract

Alzheimer's disease (AD), is a chronic, progressive and neurodegenerative disease characterized by an irreversible cognitive decline and neuropsychiatric symptoms which strongly affect the quality of life of these patients. Current available drugs such as cholinesterase inhibitors (ChEIs) exert only a symptomatic activity against cognitive decline without interfering with the underlying pathogenic mechanisms. The clinical use of these drugs in AD patients required the use of different and combined psychometric tools such as Mini-Mental State Examination and Montreal Cognitive Assessment to better measure their impact on the progress of cognitive decline. The aim of this retrospective observational study was to assess the the validity of MMSE compared to MoCA for monitoring the impact of ChEIs treatment on cognitive decline in a sample of 33 mild AD patients. In the present paper we therefore examined the impact of ChEIs treatment on global cognitive function in AD patients both at 6

months (Group1=17 patients) and at 9 months (Group2=16 patients) by using a psychometric approach including MMSE, MoCA, Frontal assessment Battery (FAB), Hamilton Depression Rating Scale (HDRS). We did not find significant changes in Group 1 in MMSE scores (z = -1.105; p = 0.132)., whereas a significant reduction was detected with MoCA at 6 months (z = -2.105; p = 0.035). At 9 months we observed a significant reduction both in MMSE (z = -3.755; p < 0.001) and MoCA scores (z = -2.732; p = 0.006) as well as in FAB scores (z = 2.969; p = 0.003). ChEIs did not reduce the severity of depressive symptoms in both groups. Overall, our data suggest that the combined use of MMSE with MoCA can improve the evaluation of clinical efficacy of ChEIs in clinical practice.

Key words: Cognitive decline, drugs, Alzheimer, MMSE, MoCA, cholinesterase inhibitors

1. Introduction

Alzheimer's disease (AD), is a chronic, progressive and neurodegenerative disease (Albert, 2007) characterized by an irreversible deterioration of patient's cognitive functions and autonomy (APA, 1994). First symptoms appear in cognitive sphere with memory deficits and neuropsychiatric symptoms; there is an increasing neuropsychological impairment with progressive decline of memory, language, executive function and visuospatial skills, able to interfere with the quality of life and normal daily activities (Cummings, McPherson, 2001). To date, AD remains an incurable disease, and several studies have shown that cognitive impairment in AD are closely related to cholinergic deficiency (Lucchi et al., 2004) and also to an impairment of the monoaminergic systems (Caraci et al., 2018). Along this line, current available drugs such as cholinesterase inhibitors (ChEIs) exert only a "symptomatic" action against cognitive decline without interfering with the pathogenic mechanisms. ChEIs improve central cholinergic neurotransmission thus decreasing cognitive decline, at least during the first year of treatment (Howard et al., 2015; Cummings et al. 2000; Rogers et al. 2000; Wilcock et al. 2000, Rösler et al. 1999). The clinical use of these drugs, developed for the treatment of cognitive symptoms in AD, posed the great issue of monitoring their clinical efficacy and measure the response to drug treatment in AD patients. According to this scenario, it becomes essential the use of different psychometric tools to measure the impact of this drug class on the progress of cognitive

decline in AD patients in an early phase of the disease . A recent meta-analysis (Knight et al., 2018) focused on the use of the Mini-Mental State Examination (MMSE) (Folstein, et al., 1975) as the tool of choice for monitoring the effect of the ChEIs on cognitive decline. Different studies (Knight et al. 2018; Coin et al. 2009; Peng et al. 2002) have shown an improvement in MMSE scores in the first 6 months of ChEIs treatment. However, the same authors identified the use of the MMSE also as a limitation for their own studies due to the existing debates on the dubious correlation and poor convergent validity with other neuropsychological tests (Lucchi et al., 2004) and its both floor and ceiling effects (Knight et al. 2018). The objective of the present study is to examine the validity of the MMSE for monitoring drugs effects on cognitive decline of mild AD patients compared with another psychometric tool, the Montreal Cognitive Assessment (MoCA) to assess whether their combined use can improve the evaluation of clinical efficacy of ChEIs in clinical practice. To verify this hypothesis, we carried out a pilot retrospective observational study on a sample of 33 mild AD patients, where a battery of psychometric instruments was administered to monitor the effect of the ChEIs on global cognitive function.

2.Materials and Methods

2.1 Participants and Procedure

The study involved 33 participants, recruited from the U.O.S. Centro Alzheimer e Psicogeriatria, DSM ASP3, Catania, Italy where the new diagnostic criteria of the National Institute of Aging (NIA) and Alzheimer's Association work group (2011) have been adopted for mild AD patients. All patients selected for the present work were firstly recruited on their first access to the service, where they received the diagnosis for the first time. The study was conducted in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki, and the protocol was authorised by the Internal Ethics Review Board of the Department of Educational Sciences (Section of Psychology) of the University of Catania; research procedures followed all the indications provided by the guidelines of the AIP (Italian Association of Psychology) and its Ethical Council. The inclusion criteria included a diagnosis of probable Mild AD. As a screening for general cognitive impairment, we used the Italian standardised version of the Mini Mental State Examination (MMSE) (Crum et al., 1993; Magni et al., 1996), and in the study were included patients with a total age and educational adjusted score ≥ 16 and \leq 25. All patients were treated with ChEIs for at least 6 months (donepezil 5-10 mg /die, rivastigmine patch 4.6-9.5 mg/die). Patients with a recent history of cerebral ischaemia and/or a recent history of psychotic episodes were excluded. The neuropsychological evaluation involved the administration of various psychological tools before pharmacological treatment (T₀) and after 6 months (group 1) and at least 9 months (group 2) of treatment (T₁). Global cognitive function assessment has been carried out in AD patients by using both the MMSE and MoCA (Nasreddine et a., 2005; Santangelo et al., 2014). The Frontal Assessment Battery (FAB) (Dubois et al., 2000; Apollonio et al., 2005) was used to evaluate executive functions. Severity of depression was measured by means of the Italian version of the Hamilton Depression Rating Scale (HAMD-17) (Hamilton, 1960).

	No.	Age (Mean ± DS)	Ger	nder
Group 1	17	$76{,}29\pm6{,}87$	Female	14
			Male	3
Group 2	16	$76,\!38\pm5,\!965$	Female	11
			Male	5

Table 1. Demographic characteristics of the sample.

2.2 Measures

Mini Mental State Examination

The Mini Mental State Examination (Crum et al., 1993; Magni et al., 1996) is a measure of global cognitive function whose administration requires from 5 to 15 minutes. It can also be used with the progression of the disease. It is made up of 11 items through which different cognitive functions are explored: time orientation, spatial orientation, immediate memory, attention and calculation, recall memory, language, visual-constructive praxis.

Montreal Cognitive Assessment

The Montreal Cognitive Assessment (MoCA) (Nasreddine et al., 2005; Santangelo et al., 2014) evaluates global cognitive function through different domains: attention and

concentration, executive functions, memory, language, visual-constructive skills, abstraction, calculation and orientation.

Frontal Assessment Battery

Frontal Assessment Battery (FAB) (Dubois et al., 2000; Apollonio et al., 2005) assess frontal lobe functions. It consists of 6 cognitive and behavioural subtests: conceptualisation, mental flexibility, motor programming, sensitivity to interference, inhibitory control and environmental autonomy.

Hamilton Psychiatric Rating Scale for Depression

The Hamilton psychiatric Rating scale for Depression (Hamilton, 1960; Hamilton, 1996; Guy, 1976), i.e., HDRS or HAM-D, is the most used psychometric tool to evaluate depression's severity. It evaluates 21 different areas (depressed mood, guilt, suicidal thoughts, initial insomnia, intermediate insomnia, prolonged insomnia, work and interests, slowing of thought and speech, agitation, psychic anxiety, somatic anxiety, gastrointestinal somatic symptoms, somatic symptoms, genital symptoms, hypochondria, introspection, weight loss, diurnal symptomatology variation, depersonalisation, paranoid symptomatology, obsessive symptomatology) that exert a key role for the assessment of the subject's depressive state.

2.3 Data Analysis

Statistical analysis was carried out using non-parametric tests for paired data, using SPSS version 27 for Windows 64bit software. Wilcoxon's test for paired data was used. Statistical analysis was performed on group 1 and group 2 at baseline and at 6 months and 9 months respectively from the start of drug treatment; p has been attributed a significance value of <0.05.

4.Results

We first evaluated the impact of the pharmacological treatment with ChEIs (donepezil 5-10 mg /die, rivastigmine patch 4.6-9.5 mg/die) on global cognitive function in AD patients at 6 months. In Group 1, the comparison between t0 and t1 showed no statistically significant differences on the MMSE scores (z = -1.105; p = 0.132). These results are in accordance with other available evidence literature, where MMSE is adopted as the best tool for monitoring drug's effects and an increase in the MMSE

scores was detected in some studies after the first six months of treatment (Knight et al. 2018; Coin et al. 2009; Peng et al. 2002). We also examined FAB scores, that did not show a statistically significant variation (z = -1.662; p = 0.097). We then analysed the impact of pharmacological treatment on MoCA scores. Interestingly we found a significant reduction of MoCA scores and the differences between t0 and t1 in the MoCA score emerged already at 6 months from the start of treatment (z = -2.105; p = 0.035). These results suggest the greater ability of MoCA, compared to the MMSE, to detect an early phase of cognitive decline in mild AD patients, even when MMSE show no changes. Instead, it seems that the use of ChEIs for six months had no impact on the depressive symptoms in AD patients with a slight, but not statistically significant, reduction of HDRS scores (z = -1.194; p = 0.233).

Measure	Baseline (t0)	6 months (t1)	Р	Median of
	Mean ± SD	Mean ± SD	Wilcoxon	differences
MMSE	$20,\!42 \pm 2,\!278$	$21,34 \pm 3,291$	0,132	0,000
MoCA	16,47 ± 3,815	$14,58 \pm 4,634$	0,035	-1,000
FAB	$10,65 \pm 3,457$	9,765 ± 3,413	0.097	0,000
HDRS	$12,12 \pm 7,999$	$10,47 \pm 6,463$	0,233	0,000

Table 2. Descriptive statistics and change in group 1

We than examined the impact of ChEIs treatment on global cognitive function in AD patients at 9 months. Interestingly, in group 2, the comparison between t0 and t1 scores instead highlighted statistically and clinically-relevant differences in all the psychometric tools used for the evaluation of cognitive function (MMSE, MoCA, FAB). In fact, as regards the MMSE score, a high significance emerged (z = -3.755; p <0.001), demonstrating a drop in the score that seemed to have persisted in the first 6 months. A significant difference also emerged in the MoCA (z = -2.732; p = 0.006) and FAB (z = 2.969; p = 0.003) scores. Even in this group, however, there are no significant differences between t0 and t1 for HDRS scores (z = -0.338; p = 0.736), suggesting again that ChEIs did not reduce the severity of depressive symptoms in our sample of mild AD patients.

Measure	Baseline (t0)	\geq 9 months	Р	Median of
	Mean ± SD	(t1)	Wilcoxon	differences
		Mean ± SD		
MMSE	$20,72 \pm 3,012$	$17,72 \pm 2,241$	<0,001	-3,000
MoCA	$16,14 \pm 3,300$	$12,94 \pm 3,431$	0,006	-3,500
FAB	$10,93 \pm 2,718$	8,363 ± 2,957	0,003	-2,500
Hamilton	$12,94 \pm 7,672$	$13,56 \pm 10,88$	0,736	1,500

Table 3. Descriptive statistics and change in group 2

5.Discussion

Mini Mental State Examination (Folstein, et al.,1975) represents one of the most validated and used psychometric tools for the evaluation of global cognitive dysfunction both in a screening phase as well as in the first diagnosis of AD. It is an instrument for general cognitive evaluation and it is used also for the diagnose of the different stages of AD from mild to moderate and severe ones (Vertesi et al., 2001). Despite presenting itself as a valid tool for the study of cognitive impairment and disease progression and also used for monitoring the effect of drug treatment (Siqueira et al., 2019), the MMSE shows several limitations as we have observed in the present study. It has a ceiling effect and a limited range of performance for individuals with age-related cognitive decline: this means that subjects with still subjective memory deficits can obtain scores within the normal range.

MMSE is more useful for mild and moderate dementia and probably not sensitive or specific enough for diagnosis of MCI (Caraci et al., 2014), with different studies showing 70% sensitivity and specificity using a cutoff of 26 or less for cognitive impairment (Loewenstein et al. 2000). Furthermore, MMSE is not sensitive to MCI detection due to the absence of executive function items (Trzepacz, 2015). The Montreal Cognitive Assessment (MoCA) was recently developed as a novel cognitive screening test for milder forms of cognitive impairment, having surpassed the well-known limitations of the MMSE (Larner, 2012).

According to this evidence, in the present study we evaluated for the first time the ability of MMSE, compared to MoCA, for the evaluation of global cognitive function in the first stage of AD (mild AD) to assess whether the combined use of these two instruments can improve the assessment of drug's treatment (i.e. ChEIs).

In fact, as we have shown in Group 1, the comparison between t0 and t1 showed no statistically significant differences on the MMSE score (z = -1.105; p = 0.132), demonstrating that the MMSE shows an increase in its score in the first six months of treatment as reported by other studies available in literature (Knight et al. 2018; Coin et al. 2009; Peng et al. 2002). MMSE has been used in double-blind placebo-controlled studies for the evaluation of ChEIs symptomatic efficacy and their approval from regulatory agencies (Mielke et al., 2012). Nevertheless, it remained unresolved the question whether a no change or a slight increase in MMSE scores can be considered a valid and sufficient primary outcome measure to demonstrate the symptomatic efficacy of ChEIs, especially in the first stage of AD progression. It becomes therefore essential to combine MMSE with novel available tools such as MoCA to better monitor the response to ChEIs in clinical practice. Our results only partially confirm the efficacy of MMSE as a valid tool for monitoring the effect of ChEIs at 6months, because when we used MoCA then detected clinically-relevant differences between t0 and t1 with a significant reduction in MoCA scores, suggesting that MoCA can better detect global cognitive decline in mild AD compared to MMSE. These results are further validated by the analysis of the group 2 data, when extending time monitoring with the same psychometric tools at 9 months. We observed a significant drop in MMSE scores that we did not observe at first 6 months, but was predicted instead by MoCA scores change at the same time frame. Our results suggest the greater ability of MoCA compared to the MMSE to identify cognitive decline in the first stage of AD.

As discussed above, it is known that MoCA was developed as a psychometric tool aimed at detecting previous states of dementia (Nasreddine et al., 2005) and in particular MCI stage, but it can also be used for the identification of the early stages of AD. It is also presented as a global screening tool for cognitive functions (included executive function), but it possesses a greater complexity than the MMSE and it seems also to possess ideal psychometric properties to monitor drug's response in the first stage of AD. Several studies report a better performance of MoCA compared to MMSE for the diagnosis of the early phase of cognitive decline in AD. Larner (2012) examined whether the combination of MMSE and MoCA could increase the diagnostic power of these tools both for AD and MCI. They found that that MoCA had a higher sensitivity in identifying MCI, but the combination of the two instruments did not add a diagnostic gain. Furthermore, Larner et al. suggest that in the presence of subjects showing cognitive decline without a functional impairment, it is preferable to proceed

with the administration of MoCA, since the MMSE could produce a normal score generating a false negative. Along this line, Ciesielska's meta-analysis (2016) found that MoCA is better than MMSE in meeting the criteria as a screening test able to detect MCI among over 60 years old patients. Recent studies also show that MoCA is a very useful psychometric tool not only for MCI, but also for the detection of early stages of AD. Cecato and colleagues (Cecato et al. 2015), conducted a cross-sectional study of 136 community-dwelling elderly participants using MMSE and MoCA to investigate which test was best able to discriminate between healthy controls, MCI and AD. They found that MoCA had markers of more severe impairments ie. rhino naming, serial 7, clock numbers and hands, word recall and orientation subtest, that can discriminate participant with MCI from AD patients. Pinto et al. (2019) conducted a systematic review with the aim of comparing the MMSE and the MOCA in the accuracy of identifying MCI and AD and found that MoCA was superior to MMSE for the greater complexity of the MoCA (given by the presence of more complex items such as the design of the cube and clock design). Furthermore, we cannot forget that MoCA administration is more difficult by the longer length of time it takes to assess delayed recall; in fact, this could cause a higher percentage of errors in elderly subjects with a mild cognitive deficit. Pinto et al (2019) suggest that MoCA should be chosen over MMSE as the primary test for screening cognitive functions in the elderly. De Roeck et al. (2019) in their systematic review demonstrate that MoCA is the most suitable instrument to detect MCI and early AD thanks to its specific items for the assessment of cognitive functions and visuospatial skills, which are not investigate by MMSE. All this evidence suggest that MoCA is a more sensitive tool compared to MMSE for tracking cognitive decline in the early phase of AD pathophysiology (Siqueira et al., 2019). Moreover, our study suggests, for the first time, that MoCA is a promising tool to better detect both cognitive decline and the response to ChEIs after 6 months treatment, when compared to MMSE. ChEIs are a drug class with a symptomatic efficacy, but also well-known side effects (Matsunaga et al. 2019). It becomes therefore essential to monitor the response to these drugs, especially in the first stage of AD, to better personalize the pharmacological treatment and select the appropriate dose. Further long-term observational studies are needed in larger samples of mild AD patients to confirm the validity of our retrospective observational study conducted in a small sample of mild AD patients.

Conclusion

The present retrospective observational study confirms the validity of MoCA as a novel psychometric tool for assessing cognitive decline in the first stage of AD in combination with MMSE and FAB. Furthermore, our study suggests an innovative psychometric protocol for future clinical studies with the inclusion of MoCA to better evaluate both the rate of cognitive decline and the clinical efficacy of ChEIs in mild AD patients. When considering both the clinical relevance of early detection of AD and the efficacy and safety issues related to ChEIs treatment, the use of combined psychometric tools such as MMSE and MoCA can become essential to intervene promptly and improve the quality of life of AD patients.

References

Albert, M.S. (2007). Changing the trajectory of cognitive decline? N Engl Med; 357: 502-503

APA (American Psychiatric Association) (1994). Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders, 4th edition. APA Press: Washington, D.C.

Appollonio, I.; Leone, M.; Isella, V.; Piamarta, F.; Consoli, T.; Villa, M.L.; Forapani,E.; Russo, A.; Nichelli, P. The Frontal Assessment Battery (FAB): Normative valuesin an Italian population sample. Neurol. Sci. 2005, 26, 108–116.

Caraci F, Castellano S, Salomone S, Drago F, Bosco P, Di Nuovo S. Searching for disease-modifying drugs in AD: can we combine neuropsychological tools with biological markers? CNS Neurol Disord Drug Targets. 2014 Feb;13(1):173-86. doi: 10.2174/18715273113129990103.

Caraci F, Spampinato SF, Morgese MG, Tascedda F, Salluzzo MG, Giambirtone MC, Caruso G, Munafò A, Torrisi SA, Leggio GM, Trabace L, Nicoletti F, Drago F, Sortino MA, Copani A. Neurobiological links between depression and AD: The role of TGF- β 1 signaling as a new pharmacological target. Pharmacol Res. 2018 Apr;130:374-384. doi: 10.1016/j.phrs.2018.02.007.

Cecato, J. F., Martinelli, J. E., Izbicki, R., Yassuda, M. S., & Aprahamian, I. (2016). A subtest analysis of the Montreal cognitive assessment (MoCA): which subtests can best discriminate between healthy controls, mild cognitive impairment and Alzheimer's disease?. International psychogeriatrics, 28(5), 825-832.

Ciesielska, N., Sokołowski, R., Mazur, E., Podhorecka, M., Polak-Szabela, A., & Kędziora-Kornatowska, K. (2016). Is the Montreal Cognitive Assessment (MoCA) test better suited than the Mini-Mental State Examination (MMSE) in mild cognitive impairment (MCI) detection among people aged over 60? Meta-analysis. Psychiatr Pol, 50(5), 1039-1052.

Coin, A., Najjar, M., Catanzaro, S., Orru, G., Sampietro, S., Sergi, G., ... & Girardi, A. (2009). A retrospective pilot study on the development of cognitive, behavioral and functional disorders in a sample of patients with early dementia of Alzheimer type. Archives of gerontology and geriatrics, 49, 35-38.

Crum, R.M.; Anthony, J.C.; Bassett, S.S.; Folstein, M.F. Population-Based Norms for the Mini-Mental State Examination by Age and Educational Level. JAMA 1993, 269, 2386.

Cummings, J. L., Donohue, J. A., & Brooks, R. L. (2000). The relationship between donepezil and behavioral disturbances in patients with Alzheimer's disease. The American Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry, 8(2), 134-140.

Cummings, J.L., McPherson, S. (2001). Neuropsychiatric assessment of Alzheimer's disease and related dementias. Aging, Jun;13(3):240-6.

De Roeck, E. E., De Deyn, P. P., Dierckx, E., & Engelborghs, S. (2019). Brief cognitive screening instruments for early detection of Alzheimer's disease: a systematic review. Alzheimer's research & therapy, 11(1), 1-14.

Dubois, B.; Slachevsky, A.; Litvan, I.; Pillon, B. The FAB: A frontal assessment battery at bedside. Neurology 2000, 55, 1621–1626

Folstein, M. F., Folstein, S. E., & McHugh, P. R. (1975). "Mini-mental state": a practical method for grading the cognitive state of patients for the clinician. Journal of psychiatric research, 12(3), 189-198.

Guy, W. ECDEU Assessment Manual for Psychopharmacology; U.S. Dept. of Health, Education, and Welfare, Public Health Service, Alcohol, Drug Abuse, and Mental Health Administration, National Institute of Mental Health, Psychophar-macology Research Branch, Division of Extramural Research Programs: Rockville, MD, USA, 1976; pp. 179–192.

Hamilton, M. A rating scale for depression. J. Neurol. Neurosurg Psychiatry 1960, 23, 56–62.

Hamilton, M. Development of a Rating Scale for Primary Depressive Illness. Br. J. Soc. Clin. Psychol. 1967, 6, 278–296

Howard R, McShane R, Lindesay J, et al. Nursing home placement in the donepezil and memantine in moderate to severe Alzheimer's disease (DOMINOAD) trial: secondary and post-hoc analyses. Lancet Neurol. 2015;14:1171-1181.

Knight, R., Khondoker, M., Magill, N., Stewart, R., & Landau, S. (2018). A systematic review and meta-analysis of the effectiveness of acetylcholinesterase inhibitors and

memantine in treating the cognitive symptoms of dementia. Dementia and geriatric cognitive disorders, 45(3-4), 131-151.

Larner AJ. Screening utility of the Montreal Cognitive Assessment (MoCA): in place of--or as well as--the MMSE? Int Psychogeriatr. 2012 Mar;24(3):391-6.

Larner, A. J. (2012). Screening utility of the Montreal Cognitive Assessment (MoCA): in place of–or as well as–the MMSE?. International Psychogeriatrics, 24(3), 391-396.

Loewenstein DA, Barker WW, Harwood DG, Luis C, Acevedo A, Rodriguez I, et al. Utility of a modified Mini-Mental State Examination with extended delayed recall in screening for mild cognitive impairment and dementia among community dwelling elders. Int J Geriatr Psychiatry. 2000 May;15(5):434-40

Lucchi, E., Minicuci, N., Magnifico, F., Mondini, S., Calza, A., Avanzi, S., ... & Trabucchi, M. (2004). A qualitative analysis of the Mini Mental State Examination on alzheimer's disease patients treated with cholinesterase inhibitors. Archives of Gerontology and Geriatrics, 38, 253-264.

Magni, E.; Binetti, G.; Bianchetti, A.; Rozzini, R.; Trabucchi, M. Mini-Mental State Examination: A normative study in Italian elderly population. Eur. J. Neurol. 1996, 3, 198–202

Matsunaga S, Fujishiro H, Takechi H. Efficacy and Safety of Cholinesterase Inhibitors for Mild Cognitive Impairment: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. J Alzheimers Dis. 2019 Aug 12;71(2):513-523. doi: 10.3233/JAD-190546.

Mielke MM, Leoutsakos JM, Corcoran CD, Green RC, Norton MC, Welsh-Bohmer KA, Tschanz JT, Lyketsos CG. Effects of Food and Drug Administration-approved medications for Alzheimer's disease on clinical progression. Alzheimers Dement. 2012 May;8(3):180-7. doi: 10.1016/j.jalz.2011.02.011.

Nasreddine, Z. S., Phillips, N. A., Bédirian, V., Charbonneau, S., Whitehead, V., Collin, I., ... & Chertkow, H. (2005). The Montreal Cognitive Assessment, MoCA: a brief screening tool for mild cognitive impairment. Journal of the American Geriatrics Society, 53(4), 695-699.

Peng, D., Xianhao, X. U., & Hou, Q. (2001). The safety and efficacy of aricept in patients with Alzheimer disease. Chinese Journal of Neurology, (01).

Pinto, T. C., Machado, L., Bulgacov, T. M., Rodrigues-Júnior, A. L., Costa, M. L., Ximenes, R. C., & Sougey, E. B. (2019). Is the Montreal Cognitive Assessment (MoCA) screening superior to the Mini-Mental State Examination (MMSE) in the detection of mild cognitive impairment (MCI) and Alzheimer's Disease (AD) in the elderly?. International Psychogeriatrics, 31(4), 491-504.

Rogers, S. L., Doody, R. S., Pratt, R. D., & Ieni, J. R. (2000). Long-term efficacy and safety of donepezil in the treatment of Alzheimer's disease: final analysis of a US multicentre open-label study. European Neuropsychopharmacology, 10(3), 195-203.

Rösler, M., Bayer, T., Anand, R., Cicin-Sain, A., Gauthier, S., Agid, Y., ... & Gharabawi, M. (1999). Efficacy and safety of rivastigmine in patients with Alzheimer's disease: international randomised controlled trialCommentary: Another piece of the Alzheimer's jigsaw. Bmj, 318(7184), 633-640.

Santangelo, G.; Siciliano, M.; Pedone, R.; Vitale, C.; Falco, F.; Bisogno, R.; Siano, P.; Barone, P.; Grossi, D.; Santangelo, F.; et al. Normative data for the Montreal Cognitive Assessment in an Italian population sample. Neurol. Sci. 2014, 36, 585–591.

Siqueira, G. S., Hagemann, P. D. M., Coelho, D. D. S., Santos, F. H. D., & Bertolucci, P. H. (2019). Can MoCA and MMSE be interchangeable cognitive screening tools? A systematic review. The Gerontologist, 59(6), e743-e763.

Trzepacz, P. T., Hochstetler, H., Wang, S., Walker, B., & Saykin, A. J. (2015). Relationship between the Montreal Cognitive Assessment and Mini-mental State Examination for assessment of mild cognitive impairment in older adults. BMC geriatrics, 15(1), 1-9.

Vertesi, A., Lever, J. A., Molloy, D. W., Sanderson, B., Tuttle, I., Pokoradi, L., & Principi, E. (2001). Standardized Mini-Mental State Examination. Use and interpretation. Canadian Family Physician, 47(10), 2018-2023.

Wilcock, G. K., Lilienfeld, S., & Gaens, E. (2000). Efficacy and safety of galantamine in patients with mild to moderate Alzheimer's disease: multicentre randomised controlled trial. Bmj, 321(7274), 1445.
GENERAL DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSIONS

AD is a progressive neurodegenerative disease that affects an increasing number of subjects over the age of 65 (Albert, 2007). It is the most common form of dementia (Herrera et al 2002; Hirtz, et al., 2007) and its prevalence is increasing globally (Ferri et al. 2005). AD was first described in 1906 by neuropathologist Alois Alzheimer, who presented the case of a 51-year-old woman with an unknown form of dementia (Alzheimer, A., 1995) describing her symptoms in this way:

"Her memory is seriously impaired. If objects are shown to her, she names them correctly, but almost immediately afterwards she has forgotten everything. When reading a test, she skips from line to line or reads by spelling the words individually, or by making them meaningless through her pronunciation. In writing she repeats separate syllables many times, omits others and quickly breaks down completely. In speaking, she uses gap-fills and a few paraphrased expressions ("milk-pourer" instead of cup); sometimes it is obvious she cannot go on. Plainly, she does not understand certain questions. She does not remember the use of some objects."

Today it seems evident that these symptoms can be interpreted as the first neuropsychological description of Alzheimer's disease. However, at that time it was only the observation of post mortem brain histological analyses that made it possible to identify the neurofibrillary tangles, neuritic plaques and amyloid angiopathy which we now know are the main neuropathological features of AD. However, although many years have passed since these discoveries and scientific research has made great strides regarding the study of Alzheimer's disease, the mechanisms underlying the evolution of this disease and especially the methods of treatment are still not well known. The World Health Organization recognized AD as a global health public priority (Rabbito et al., 2020) because it represents a critical challenge to the health care system with the aging population (Robert, et al., 2010). Over the years, there has been an increase in the number of people affected by Alzheimer's worldwide, from an estimated 27 million in 2006 (Brookmeyer et al., 2007) to an estimated 35 million in 2010 (Alzheimer's Association, 2010). Moreover, its incidence is estimated to triple by 2050, predicting one AD patient for every 85 persons (Brookmeyer et al., 2007).

Therefore, if we consider that in Europe 17.6% of the population is over 65, it is easy to imagine how the possibility of incidence of Alzheimer's disease can increase (De Roeck, et al. 2019). For this reason, over the years, many countries have established intervention plans to prevent and improve the early diagnosis of this disease (Pinto et

al. 2018). Unfortunately, the drugs currently approved for the treatment of AD and related cognitive decline are only 4 and above all they are "symptomatic" drugs, that is, they provide purely short-term symptomatic benefits, but do not influence the pathogenic mechanisms underlying the disease, despite the fact that a neuroprotective potential has been proposed for some of these drugs such as memantine (Salomone et al. 2012): for mild to moderate AD they includes cholinesterase inhibitors (donepezil, rivastigmine, galantamine) while for moderate to severe AD the NMDA receptor antagonist (memantine) is indicated. However, clinical trials for both drug classes have shown limited efficacy in promoting the improvement of cognitive functions and slowing the progression of cognitive decline (Berardelli, Cruccu, 2019). In fact, although patients benefit from these drugs, most AD patients, including those treated appropriately, continue to experience progressive cognitive decline (Liss, et al. 2021). There is therefore a need to develop new drugs, called disease-modifying drugs, that can act by actually slowing down or blocking cognitive decline. The modern challenge of AD research is to use a drug treatment in the early stages of AD in order to intervene on the modification of the biomarkers characteristic of Alzheimer's disease. Disease modifying therapies (DMT) are characterized by their ability to modify the evolution of a disease by acting on its pathogenic mechanisms and preventing neuronal death (Caraci, Drago, 2013). The disease-modifying drug slows progression of structural damage, ensuring a persistent effect that remains even after the end of the treatment. Its action is therefore opposed to that of the symptomatic drug which does not alter the progression of the disease, but only relieves the symptoms, also showing a reversibility of its effect in case of interruption of the treatment. To evaluate the effectiveness of disease modifying therapies, there must be a clear and validated definition of the biomarkers underlying AD, which would be the target of this type of drug (Salomone et al. 2012). However, the slow progress of Alzheimer's disease hinders the ability to quickly assess the effectiveness of disease modifying therapies, which instead take years. To date, there is no modifying drug available for AD due to unsatisfactory results on the effectiveness of these drugs. Indeed, the non-specificity of biomarkers directly correlated with cognitive decline makes the markers themselves only potential predictors of a possible clinical benefit (Cummings, Fox, 2017). One of the possible failures of the potential neuroprotective drugs in Phase II/II clinical trials lies in the sample included in the studies, often characterized by an already manifest and advanced cognitive decline. To demonstrate the clinical efficacy of these drugs as

neuroprotectanys, these drugs must be studied and used in the very early stages of AD, that is, before the pathogenic mechanisms that cause neuronal degeneration are activated (Berardelli, Cruccu, 2019; Salomone et al. 2013).

According to this evidence, it seems increasingly important and necessary to focus attention and studies on the early diagnosis of cognitive decline and therefore of Alzheimer's disease. In fact, recently, the interest of scientific literature has shifted from intervention to the secondary prevention in AD focusing on the early stages of the disease.

Along this line, the role of neuropsychology seems fundamental. Neuropsychological assessment is an indispensable part of diagnosing AD. In fact, thanks to the use of psychological tools it is possible to investigate the residual functions present in the patient, from the cognitive functions to the psychological and behavioural symptoms typical of this pathology and therefore to frame the subject and his autonomous functioning within one of the degrees of pathology, from mild to severe. The measurement of cognitive decline assumes a central role in the assessment of AD. In the literature there are many psychological tools and batteries that have been developed precisely with the aim of investigating both global and more specific cognitive functions. In particular, the cognitive tools that we have mostly used in our research works and on which we have paid the most attention are the MMSE and the MoCA. The MMSE is one of the most used tools in the world for the assessment of global cognitive functions. Different studies have shown that MMSE is the preferred and validated tool not only for the assessment of cognitive impairment in AD patients, but also as the main tool for monitoring the subject's response to drug treatment. Numerous studies, in fact, use the MMSE to evaluate cognitive functions and the consequent trend of cognitive decline in subjects undergoing pharmacological treatment, especially with ChEI.

In 2005, the Montreal Cognitive Assessment was created as an appropriate tool to assess cognitive decline in subjects who presented mild symptoms, but who did not fall within the category of Alzheimer's disease: subjects with Mild Cognitive Impairment. The MoCA thus appears to be a more sensitive tool than the MMSE in identifying a slight cognitive decline, at a time when the subject still retains most of his cognitive functions and all his autonomies. The MoCA is also presented as a test for assessing the individual's global cognitive functions, but it compensates for the shortcomings of the MMSE, such as the assessment of frontal functions, proving to be

a more accurate tool in the assessment of cognitive decline. Starting from this evidence, we conducted our retrospective observational study to assess the validity of MMSE compared to MoCA and their combined use for monitoring the impact of ChEIs treatment on cognitive decline in a sample of 33 mild AD patients. We wondered if, given the scientific evidence regarding the better performance of the MoCA compared to the MMSE in the assessment of cognitive impairment, the MoCA could represent also an adequate tool also in monitoring the response to the drug. In the literature there were no previous works of this kind and further research would be necessary to deepen the subject, but our study shows promising and interesting results. In fact, the MoCA was able to detect the progression of cognitive decline in patients on drug treatment with ChEIs for 6 months, when the MMSE on the contrary showed no change in its scores. For this reason, we believe that the MoCA could be a better tool combined with MMSE also for monitoring the efficacy of the drug and therefore allow an improvement in the pharmacological treatment of the AD patients. Our study confirms the validity of MoCA as a novel psychometric tool for assessing cognitive decline in the first stage of AD in combination with MMSE and FAB. Furthermore, our study suggests an innovative psychometric protocol for future clinical studies with the inclusion of MoCA to better evaluate both the rate of cognitive decline and the clinical efficacy of ChEIs in mild AD patients. When considering both the clinical relevance of early detection of AD and the efficacy and safety issues related to ChEIs treatment, the use of combined psychometric tools such as MMSE and MoCA can become essential to intervene promptly and improve the quality of life of AD patients. However, cognitive decline, although the main one, is only one of the symptoms of Alzheimer's disease. Indeed, cognitive and functional decline is accompanied by behavioural and psychological symptoms (BPSD) in almost 90% of patients (Guimarães, et al., 2008). BPSDs are characterized by disturbances in perception, thought content, mood and behaviour that occur frequently and are common precipitators of institutional care (Mitchell, et al., 2011) significantly contributing to decreasing the quality of life of patients and their caregivers. Among the BPSDs we find apathy, agitation, disappointment, irritability, anxiety, disinhibition and hallucinations (Cummings, McPherson, 2001): all these symptoms accelerate the patient's functional decline and can contribute to the increase in mortality rates in AD patients.

Depression is certainly one of the most studied BPSDs in the literature. In fact, several studies have shown that depression is among the most frequent psychiatric comorbidities in dementia even if there is an overlap between AD symptoms and depressive symptoms. Surely the relationship between depression and dementia still needs further investigation, but it is clear that depression can be considered as a risk factor, a consequence but also a prodromal symptom of AD. (Caraci et al. 2018; Babulal, et al., 2018; Bennett, Thomas, 2014; Ownby, et al., 2006; Novais, Starkstein, 2015; Mizukami, 2013).

But recently different studies have focused particularly on apathy. Apathy defines a specific dimension of behaviour characterized by a lack of motivation. it has often been regarded as a symptom of other syndromes, particularly depression. However, it can be considered as a multidimensional construct (three separate dimensions made up of cognitive, affective and behavioural symptoms) in its own right that has a great impact on both the emotional and social spheres and has three separate dimensions made up of cognitive, affective and behavioural symptoms. Recent studies have shown that the higher the level of apathy, the more it is a predictor of transition to dementia (Lanctôt, 2017) Apathy is predominant both in MCI and dementia and its prevalence is positively correlated with the severity of dementia (Lanctôt, 2017). Based on this evidence, we considered apathy as an early indicator of cognitive decline and the transition to dementia. This prompted the field to report it as a high-value neuropsychiatric risk state in the National Institute on Aging's latest guidelines for preclinical AD (Sperling et al., 2011), albeit as early as in 2008, the European Alzheimer's Disease Consortium had drawn up guidelines for the diagnosis of apathy (Winblad, et al., 2008). Based on this scientific evidence, our attention has focused on the link between apathy and Alzheimer's and in one of our works we have set ourselves the goal of providing a general overview of the neurobiological and clinical links between apathy and AD, with the aim of give clinicians the opportunity to assess the impact of apathy on the health of AD patients by focusing on the role of psychometrics tools available to evaluate it and the possible implications for treatment. In our review we analysed the neurobiological and clinical links between apathy and Alzheimer's disease highlighting their importance when considering apathy as one of the main common neuropsychiatric symptoms of AD. Although at first apathy was considered only as a symptom of Major Depressive Disorder, today it seems necessary to

investigate apathy as a syndrome, in order to be able to intervene in a targeted and timely manner on it and improve the quality of life of patients.

Based on our studies and our evaluations on the clinical relevance of apathy we decided to focus our attention on the Italian validation of the Apathy Evaluation Scale Clinical Version, on a sample of MCI and Mild AD subjects.

Starting from the evidence that apathy can represent both a prodromal symptom and a risk factor for AD, in our paper we analysed the psychometric properties and the invariance of the Italian version of the apathy rating scale - clinical version in a sample of 107 Italian MCIs and patients with AD. In general, it is possible to say that our results confirm the goodness of the scale. In 2007, Clarke and colleagues conducted a publication review study between January 1983 and December 2004 on the psychometric properties of the AES-C. The authors provided detailed information on both reliability and validity, concluding that the scale has good psychometric properties, as first demonstrated by the original study by Marin et al. The validity of the content is supported by the judgment of various experts and the fact that AES-C has been used in many studies and in various health conditions. In several studies, convergent validity was evaluated by comparing the results of other measures of apathy, and statistically significant correlations were observed between AES-C and negative HAM-D symptoms, in particular psychomotor retardation, lack of energy and and decreased work / interest. Our data are consistent with these findings and confirm the validity of AES as a clinically relevant psychometric tool for detecting apathy in patients with MCI and mild AD. The convergent and discriminating validity of AES-C was tested using measures of cognitive impairment and HDRS. In particular, it was planned to administer the Hamilton test, as in the original study, in order to evaluate also in the Italian version, the ability of AES to discriminate depression from apathy as a construct in and of itself. The results are in line with what was stated in the original article, i.e. apathy cannot be considered only as a symptom of depression, but must be considered as a syndrome in its own right for which selectively intervene to improve the quality of life. of the subjects. Several previous studies have shown the difference between the construct of apathy and that of depression and have suggested that apathy is a behavioural dimension independent of depression.

Our study also examined for the first time the psychometric link between apathy and executive function. In particular, when considering the healthy control group, it is interesting to note that we found a negative correlation between AES-C and FAB. This

finding suggests that apathy is linked to damage to the prefrontal cortex and other brain structures (Moretti, et al. 2016). In healthy subjects without brain damage, therefore, the apathy test score correlates negatively with that of the FAB, demonstrating the presence of a link between apathy and brain damage. Multiple group confirmatory factor analysis (MCFA) was performed to measure invariance by gender and group type. The results showed that the same factor solution was gender-invariant (men, women) and were totally satisfactory as the model fit was found to be invariant in both populations. When moving to patients with MCI and mild AD, it is known that the availability of a valid and reliable psychometric tool for measuring apathy appears to be essential for evaluating and planning the treatment of apathy syndrome in the AD population, and in particular in an early stage in the pathogenesis of AD, such as amnestic MCI. A recent study demonstrates that the AES-C subscale can predict progression from MCI to AD dementia (Clarke, et al. 2007). Starting from the evidence of the key role of apathy as a risk factor for AD and from the future development of disease-modifying strategies in patients with amnestic MCI, the availability of a validated Italian version of the AES-C represents an essential step for plan future clinical studies in this field. Furthermore, our study demonstrates for the first time that AES-C can be a useful tool for detecting both apathy and executive dysfunction in patients with amnestic MCI. Future studies could investigate the difference in the perception and presence of apathy in treated versus non-treated subjects, also to better evaluate the impact of pharmacological treatments compared to non-pharmacological ones. Finally, our control subjects showed high apathy scores. We cannot rule out the possibility that the presence of apathy in the control group may be related to the SARSCoV-2 pandemic period during which AES was administered.

We believe that only by considering every single aspect of the patient's clinical picture, the clinician can plan a multi-modal intervention that has significant impact on health, defined as a state of complete physical, mental and social well-being (World Health Organization). In fact, several studies have shown efficacy in reducing apathy also through non-pharmacological treatments centred on individual autonomous, psychological and social functioning.

With a research team from ASP 3 Catania, we conducted a pilot study, publishing an abstract entitled "Cognitive rehabilitation in patients with MCI and mild AD: a focus on apathy".

115

In the face of the increasingly evident limits of the clinical efficacy of pharmacological treatment alone, in recent years greater attention has been placed on the usefulness of combining pharmacological treatment with a cognitive rehabilitation process, especially in the early and moderate stages of AD, in order to improve the quality of life of patients and their families. Starting from these assumptions, the hypothesis was formulated that cognitive rehabilitation, planned as cognitive stimulation, can rescue not only cognitive functions, but also had a relevance in the manifestation and containment of apathy, finally improving the quality of life of these patients. We therefore carried out a pilot study with the aim of verifying whether there were any differences in Apathy Evaluation Scale (AES) test scores between subjects with MCI and mild AD included in a rehabilitation program and subjects who on the contrary, did not carry out any activity of this type. The study involved the recruitment of two groups of patients at the U.O.S DIP. Alzheimer's and Psychogeriatrics Center ASP3 Catania:

1. study group with patients who underwent rehabilitation planned as cognitive stimulation, composed of 31 subjects (F = 21; M = 10) aged between 65 and 90 years (mean \pm sd: 76.71 \pm 7.862), with a score at the MMSE with an average of 23.76 and s 3.114; 2. control group with patients not undergoing rehabilitation composed of 31 subjects (F = 22; M = 9), aged between 65 and 90 years (Mean \pm sd: 77.16 \pm 7.847) with MMSE score with mean 23,32 and ds 3.712. Both groups were given AES-C. Statistical analysis was then performed using the Mann-Whitney test for unpaired data. The preliminary results obtained show that there is a significant difference equal to P = 0.0183 between the two groups. In particular, the analysis of the scores on the AES-C test shows that there is a lower degree of apathy in subjects undergoing rehabilitation with cognitive stimulation. Our results confirm the hypothesis that cognitive rehabilitation in subjects with MCI and mild AD can improve the quality of life of the subjects, also as regards the emotional sphere, especially the construct of apathy, characteristic of this pathological picture. Furthermore, it has been hypothesized that improving the patient's quality of life may make the relational dynamics between patients and caregivers more manageable. Further studies on the construct of apathy could allow us to further consolidate our results.

There are numerous studies that have investigated the effectiveness of other nonpharmacological interventions on other psychiatric syndromes. In particular, we conducted a systematic review on the effects of physical activity against cognitive decline and the possible synergism between pharmacological treatment and physical activity both in major depressive disorder and AD patients. Indeed, it appears that physical activity can synergize with antidepressant treatment by rescuing neurotrophins signaling in MDD patients, promoting neuronal health and recovery of cognitive function in MDD-related circuits, finally enhancing the response to antidepressant drugs. When considering late life depression, we can hypothesize that this synergism might be particularly relevant in elderly patients with late-life depression, a clinical subgroup with an increased risk to develop dementia. Late-life depression occurs from the age of 60 and is often associated with cognitive dysfunction (Taylor, 2014) of one or more cognitive domains (attention, working memory, verbal fluency, visuospatial skills, and executive function) (Murrough et al., 2011). It is relevant remember that this the clinical subgroup shows a higher risk of developing Alzheimer's disease and vascular dementia (Caraci et al., 2010; Diniz et al., 2013). Longitudinal studies have shown that LLD worsens outcomes physical illnesses and the likelihood of frailty in the elderly (Butters et al., 2008; Vaughan et al., 2015). Over the years, several studies have been carried out to demonstrate the effectiveness of physical exercise as an intervention for clinical depression in these patients (Dupuis, Smale, 1995; Blumenthal et al., 1999) demonstrating the effectiveness of a structured exercise program on depressive symptoms and suggesting the need and the benefit of combining physical exercise with the daily routine of the elderly subject and any pharmacological treatment with antidepressants.

Physical activity can also be used effectively in the treatment of apathy in AD subjects. Maci et al. (Maci, et al., 2012) conducted an interesting study including physical activity as NPT, in order to assess in a 14-patient RCT the effect of a 3-month program of physical activity, cognitive stimulation and socialization versus usual activities at home. Maci et al. (2012) demonstrated a significant improvement in AES scores. Moreover in 2015, Telenius et al. (2015) confirmed that a high intensity functional exercise program in nursing home patients with dementia decreased level of apathy after the intervention versus a control group. Several recent studies have considered the key role of exercise in the treatment of various neuropsychiatric disorders (Guerrera, Furneri, et al., 2020). The clinical relevant issue to keep in mind is that physical activity, associated with drug treatment, allows to expand the range of rehabilitation interventions dedicated to demented patient especially in the early phase of the disease. Several studies seem to have demonstrated the efficacy of ChEIs and

other drugs in reducing apathy, while antidepressant drugs have not been found to improve apathy (Berman et al. 2012) although non-specific long-term observational studies have been conducted with second-generation antidepressant drugs such as fluoxetine and bupropion both in MCI and mild AD to evaluate the response to cholinesterase inhibitors and second-generation antidepressant drugs.

Certainly, more clinical studies are needed to investigate the effects of different drug treatments on reducing apathy. In particular, with the availability of a psychometric tool validated in Italy from our group for the assessment of apathy in AD patients, we believe that long-term observational study can now be planned, in mild to moderate AD patients, to examine the effect of ChEIs on AES-C scores, in order to evaluate how this drug class can reduce apathy and improve the quality of life in AD patients.

In conclusion, this study allows to remark the importance of neuropsychological evaluation in the context of Alzhaimer's disease, both for cognitive and affective evaluation and for monitoring the response to the drug. Only by considering every aspect of the patient and his symptoms, will it give the clinician the possibility of using a multi-modal intervention that can support the patient in dealing with and managing this disease. I believe that nowadays, when the challenge is to arrive at the earliest possible diagnosis of this disease, the use of new psychometric protocols can become essential to intervene promptly and improve the quality of life of patients with AD.

REFERENCES

Abd Razak M.A., Ahmad N.A., Chan Y.Y., Mohamad Kasim N., Yusof M., Abdul Ghani M.K.A., Omar M., Abd Aziz F.A., Jamaluddin R., (2019). Validity of screening tools for dementia and mild cognitive impairment among the elderly in primary health care: a systematic review. Public Health, 169:84-92.

Albert M.S., DeKosky S.T., Dickson D., Dubois B., Feldman H.H., Fox N.C., Gamst A., Holtzman D.M., Jagust W.J., Petersen R.C., Snyder P.J., Carrillo M.C., Thies B., Phelps C.H. (2011). The diagnosis of mild cognitive impairment due to Alzheimer's disease: recommendations from the National Institute on Aging-Alzheimer's Association workgroups on diagnostic guidelines for Alzheimer's disease. Alzheimers Dement, 7(3):270-9.

Albert, M.S. (2007). Changing the trajectory of cognitive decline? N Engl Med; 357: 502-503

Alonso, A. D. C., Grundke-Iqbal, I., & Iqbal, K. (1996). Alzheimer's disease hyperphosphorylated tau sequesters normal tau into tangles of filaments and disassembles microtubules. Nature medicine, 2(7), 783-787.

Alzheimer, A., Stelzmann, R. A., Schnitzlein, H. N., & Murtagh, F. R. (1995). An English translation of Alzheimer's 1907 paper," Uber eine eigenartige Erkankung der Hirnrinde". Clinical anatomy (New York, NY), 8(6), 429-431.

Alzheimer's Association. (2010). 2010 Alzheimer's disease facts and figures. Alzheimer's & dementia, 6(2), 158-194.

American Psychiatric Association: Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders, Fifth Edition. Arlington, VA, American Psychiatric Association; 2013

Amieva H., Le Goff M., Millet X., Orgogozo J.M., Pérès K., Barberger-Gateau P., Jacqmin-Gadda H., Dartigues J.F. (2008). Prodromal Alzheimer's disease: successive emergence of the clinical symptoms. Ann Neurol, 64(5):492-8.

Amieva H., Letenneur L., Dartigues J.F., Rouch-Leroyer I., Sourgen C., D'Alchée-Birée F., Dib M., Barberger-Gateau P., Orgogozo J.M., Fabrigoule C. (2004). Annual rate and predictors of conversion to dementia in subjects presenting mild cognitive impairment criteria defined according to a population-based study. Dement Geriatr Cogn Disord, 18(1):87-93. Anderson, J. P., Chen, Y. U., Kim, K. S., & Robakis, N. K. (1992). An alternative secretase cleavage produces soluble Alzheimer amyloid precursor protein containing a potentially amyloidogenic sequence. Journal of neurochemistry, 59(6), 2328-2331.

Apostolova, L. G. (2016). Alzheimer disease. Continuum: Lifelong Learning in Neurology, 22(2 Dementia), 419.

Appollonio, I., Leone, M., Isella, V. et al. (2005). The Frontal Assessment Battery (FAB): normative values in an Italian population sample. Neurol Sci, 26, 108–116.

Aretouli E., Brandt J., (2010). Everyday functioning in mild cognitive impairment and its relationship with executive cognition. International Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry, 25(3);224-233.

Atri A. Current and future treatments in Alzheimer's disease. Semin Neurol. 2019;39:227-240.

Avila, J., Lucas, J. J., Perez, M. A. R., & Hernandez, F. (2004). Role of tau protein in both physiological and pathological conditions. Physiological reviews, 84(2), 361-384.

Babulal, G. M., Chen, S., Williams, M. M., Trani, J. F., Bakhshi, P., Chao, G. L., ... & Roe, C. M. (2018). Depression and Alzheimer's disease biomarkers predict driving decline. Journal of Alzheimer's Disease, 66(3), 1213-1221.

Ballard C., Day S., Sharp S., Wing G., Sorensen S. 2008. Neuropsychiatric symptoms in dementia: Importance and treatment considerations. Int Rev Psychiatry, 20, 396-404.

Bateman, R. J., Aisen, P. S., De Strooper, B., Fox, N. C., Lemere, C. A., Ringman, J.
M., ... & Xiong, C. (2011). Autosomal-dominant Alzheimer's disease: a review and proposal for the prevention of Alzheimer's disease. Alzheimer's research & therapy, 3(1), 1-13.

Bennett, S., & Thomas, A. J. (2014). Depression and dementia: cause, consequence or coincidence?. Maturitas, 79(2), 184-190

Bennett, S., Laver, K., Voigt-Radloff, S., Letts, L., Clemson, L., Graff, M., ... & Gitlin, L. (2019). Occupational therapy for people with dementia and their family carers provided at home: a systematic review and meta-analysis. BMJ open, 9(11), e026308.

Berardelli, A., Cruccu, G. (2019). La neurologia della sapienza. Milano: Esculapio

Berman, K. et al. (2012). Pharmacologic treatment of apathy in dementia. The American Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry, Feb; 20(2):104-22.

Bessey LJ, Walaszek A. Management of behavioral and psychological symptoms of dementia. Curr Psychiatry Rep. 2019;21:66.

Bindra, D. (1959) Motivation: A Systematic Reinterpretation. Ronald Press, New York.

Blasko, I., Veerhuis, R., Stampfer-Kountchev, M., Saurwein-Teissl, M., Eikelenboom, P., & Grubeck-Loebenstein, B. (2000). Costimulatory effects of interferon- γ and interleukin-1 β or tumor necrosis factor α on the synthesis of A β 1-40 and A β 1-42 by human astrocytes. Neurobiology of disease, 7(6), 682-689.

Blumenthal, J. A., Babyak, M. A., Moore, K. A., Craighead, W. E., Herman, S., Khatri,P., et al. (1999). Effects of exercise training on older patients with major depression.Arch. Intern. Med. 159, 2349–2356.

Borgi, M. (2016). Validation of the Italian version of the Apathy Evaluation Scale (AES-I) in institutionalized geriatric patients. Annali dell'Istituto Superiore di Sanità, Apr-Jun; 52(2):249-55.

Boyle P.A., Buchman A.S., Wilson R.S., Leurgans S.E., Bennett D.A. (2010). Physical frailty is associated with incident mild cognitive impairment in community-based older persons. J Am Geriatr Soc, 58(2):248-55.

Brandt J., Aretouli E., Neijstrom E., Samek J., Manning K., Albert MS. (2009). Selectivity of executive function deficits in mild cognitive impairment. Neuropsychology, 23:607–18.

Breijyeh, Z., & Karaman, R. (2020). Comprehensive review on Alzheimer's disease: Causes and treatment. Molecules, 25(24), 5789.

Brodaty, H., Altendorf, A., Withall, A., Sachdev, P. (2010). Do people become more apathetic as they grow older? A longitudinal study in healthy individuals. International Psychogeriatrics, 22 (3), 426-436.

Brodaty, H., Pond, D., Kemp, N. M., Luscombe, G., Harding, L., Berman, K., & Huppert, F. A. (2002). The GPCOG: a new screening test for dementia designed for general practice. Journal of the American Geriatrics Society, 50(3), 530-534.

Brookmeyer, R., Johnson, E., Ziegler-Graham, K., & Arrighi, H. M. (2007). Forecasting the global burden of Alzheimer's disease. Alzheimer's & dementia, 3(3), 186-191.

Butterfield, D. A., Swomley, A. M., & Sultana, R. (2013). Amyloid β -peptide (1–42)induced oxidative stress in Alzheimer disease: importance in disease pathogenesis and progression. Antioxidants & redox signaling, 19(8), 823-835.

Butters, M. A., Young, J. B., Lopez, O., Aizenstein, H. J., Mulsant, B. H., Reynolds,C. F. III, et al. (2008). Pathways linking late-life depression to persistent cognitive impairment and dementia. Dialog. Clin. Neurosci. 10:345.

Caffarra P., Vezzadini G., Dieci F., Zonato F., Venneri A. (2002). Rey-Osterrieth complex figure: normative values in an Italian population sample. Neurological Sciences,22(6):443-447.

Cai, Z., Hussain, M. D., & Yan, L. J. (2014). Microglia, neuroinflammation, and betaamyloid protein in Alzheimer's disease. International Journal of Neuroscience, 124(5), 307-321.

Calsolaro, V., & Edison, P. (2016). Neuroinflammation in Alzheimer's disease: current evidence and future directions. Alzheimer's & dementia, 12(6), 719-732.

Caltagirone, C. G. Gainotti, G., Masullo, C., & Miceli, G. (1979). Validity of some neuropsychological tests in the assessment of mental deterioration. Acta Psychiatrica Scandinavica, 60(1), 50-56.

Calvo-Perxas L, Turro-Garriga O, Vilalta-Franch J, et al. Trends in the prescription and long-term utilization of antidementia drugs among patients with Alzheimer's disease in Spain: a cohort study using the registry of dementias of Girona. Drugs Aging. 2017;34:303-310.

Caraci F, Castellano S, Salomone S, Drago F, Bosco P, Di Nuovo S. Searching for disease-modifying drugs in AD: can we combine neuropsychological tools with biological markers? CNS Neurol Disord Drug Targets. 2014 Feb;13(1):173-86. doi: 10.2174/18715273113129990103

Caraci F, Spampinato SF, Morgese MG, Tascedda F, Salluzzo MG, Giambirtone MC, Caruso G, Munafò A, Torrisi SA, Leggio GM, Trabace L, Nicoletti F, Drago F, Sortino MA, Copani A. Neurobiological links between depression and AD: The role of TGF- β1 signaling as a new pharmacological target. Pharmacol Res. 2018 Apr;130:374-384. doi: 10.1016/j.phrs.2018.02.007.

Caraci, F., Copani, A., Nicoletti, F., and Drago, F. (2010). Depression and Alzheimer's disease: neurobiological links and common pharmacological targets. Eur. J. Pharmacol. 626, 64–71. doi: 10.1016/j.ejphar.2009.10.022

Caraci, F., Drago, F. (2013). Basi neurobiologiche e trattamento farmacologico del deterioramento cognitivo nelle demenze. In: Di Nuovo S., Vianello R., (2013). DETERIORAMENTO COGNITIVO: FORME, DIAGNOSI E INTERVENTO. Una prospettiva life span. Milano: FrancoAngeli.

Carlesimo G.A., Caltagirone C., Gainotti G. (1996), The Mental Deteriration Battery: normative data diagnostic reliability and qualitative analyses of cognitive impairment. European Neurology, 36 (6): 378-384.

Carrion, C., Folkvord, F., Anastasiadou, D., & Aymerich, M. (2018). Cognitive therapy for dementia patients: a systematic review. Dementia and geriatric cognitive disorders, 46(1-2), 1-26.

Chen, G. F., Xu, T. H., Yan, Y., Zhou, Y. R., Jiang, Y., Melcher, K., & Xu, H. E. (2017). Amyloid beta: structure, biology and structure-based therapeutic development. Acta Pharmacologica Sinica, 38(9), 1205-1235.

Chilovi B.V., Conti M., Zanetti M., Mazzù I., Rozzini L., Padovani A. (2009). Differential Impact of Apathy and Depression in the Development of Dementia in Mild Cognitive Impairment Patients. Dement. Geriatr. Cogn. Disord, 27, 390–398.

Clarke, D.E.; Van Reekum, R.; Patel, J.; Simard, M.; Gomez, E.; Streiner, D.L. An appraisal of the psychometric properties of the Clinician version of the Apathy Evaluation Scale (AES-C). Int. J. Methods Psychiatr. Res. 2007, 16, 97–110.

Conti S., Bonazzi S., Laiacona M., Masina M., Vanelli Coralli M. (2014) Montreal Cognitive Assessment (MoCA)-Italian version: regression based norms and equivalent scores. Neurol Sci

Cummings et al. (2005) Effects of rivastigmine treatment on the neuropsychiatric and behavioral disturbances of nursing home residents with moderate to severe probable Alzheimer's disease: A 26-week, multicenter, open-label study. The American Journal of Geriatric Pharmacotherapy, 3, 3, September, 137-148.

Cummings J., Fox N. (2017). Defining Disease Modifying Therapy for Alzheimer's Disease. The journal of prevention of Alzheimer's disease, 4(2), 109–115.

Cummings, J.L., McPherson, S. (2001). Neuropsychiatric assessment of Alzheimer's disease and related dementias. Aging, Jun;13(3):240-6.

D'amelio, M. et al. (2018). The role of dopaminergic midbrain in Alzheimer's disease: Translating basic science into clinical practice. Pharmacological Research, 130, April, 414-419.

De Roeck, E. E., De Deyn, P. P., Dierckx, E., & Engelborghs, S. (2019). Brief cognitive screening instruments for early detection of Alzheimer's disease: a systematic review. Alzheimer's research & therapy, 11(1), 1-14.

Di Carlo A., Baldereschi M., Amaducci L., Maggi S., Grigoletto F., Scarlato G., Inzitari D. (2000). Cognitive impairment without dementia in older people: prevalence, vascular risk factors, impact on disability. The Italian Longitudinal Study on Aging. J Am Geriatr Soc,48(7):775-82.

Di Nuovo S., Vianello R. (2013). Deterioramento cognitivo: forme, diagnosi e intervento. Una prospettiva life span. Milano: FrancoAngeli.

Diniz, B. S., Butters, M. A., Albert, S. M., and Dew, M. A. (2013). Late-life depression and risk of vascular dementia and Alzheimer's disease: systematic review and metaanalysis of community-based cohort studies. Br. J. Psychiatry 202, 329–335. doi: 10.1192/bjp.bp.112.118307

Dubois B., Feldman H.H., Jacova C., Cummings J.L., Dekosky S.T., Barberger-Gateau P., Delacourte A., Frisoni G., Fox N.C., Galasko D., Gauthier S., Hampel H., Jicha G.A., Meguro K., O'Brien J., Pasquier F., Robert P., Rossor M., Salloway S., Sarazin M., de Souza L.C., Stern Y., Visser P.J., Scheltens P. (2010). Revising the definition of Alzheimer's disease: a new lexicon. Lancet Neurol,9(11):1118-27.

Dubois B., Slachevsky A., Litvan I., Pillon B. (2000). The FAB: Frontal Assessment Battery at bedside. Neurology, 55, 1621-1626.

Dupuis, S. L., and Smale, B. J. (1995). An examination of relationship between psychological well-being and depression and leisure activity participation among older adults. Soc. Leisure 18, 67–92.

Ewers M., Sperling R.A., Klunk W.E., Weiner M.W., Hampel H. (2011). Neuroimaging markers for the prediction and early diagnosis of Alzheimer's disease dementia. Trends Neurosci, vol 8, 430-42.

Ferri, C. P., Prince, M., Brayne, C., Brodaty, H., Fratiglioni, L., Ganguli, M., ... & Scazufca, M. (2005). Global prevalence of dementia: a Delphi consensus study. The lancet, 366(9503), 2112-2117.

Folstein, M. F., Folstein, S. E., & McHugh, P. R. (1975). "Mini-mental state": a practical method for grading the cognitive state of patients for the clinician. Journal of psychiatric research, 12(3), 189-198.

Fonte, C., Smania, N., Pedrinolla, A., Munari, D., Gandolfi, M., Picelli, A., ... & Venturelli, M. (2019). Comparison between physical and cognitive treatment in patients with MIC and Alzheimer's disease. Aging (Albany NY), 11(10), 3138.

Frisoni G.B,Rozzini R., Bianchetti A., Trabucchi M. (1993). Principal lifetime occupation and MMSE score in elderly persons. Journal of Gerontology: Social Sciences, 48: S310-S314

Gallagher D., Fischer C.E., Iaboni A. (2017). Neuropsychiatric Symptoms in Mild Cognitive Impairment. Can J Psychiatry,62(3):161-169.

Garwood, C. J., Pooler, A. M., Atherton, J., Hanger, D. P., & Noble, W. (2011). Astrocytes are important mediators of A β -induced neurotoxicity and tau phosphorylation in primary culture. Cell death & disease, 2(6), e167-e167.

Geda Y.E., (2012). Mild cognitive impairment in older adults, Curr Psychiatry Rep,14(4):320-7.

Gomersall T., Smith S.K., Blewett C., Astell A. (2017). 'It's definitely not Alzheimer's': Perceived benefits and drawbacks of a mild cognitive impairment diagnosis. Health Psychol, 22(4):786-804.

Gong, C. X., & Iqbal, K. (2008). Hyperphosphorylation of microtubule-associated protein tau: a promising therapeutic target for Alzheimer disease. Current medicinal chemistry, 15(23), 2321-2328.

Guercio, B.J. et al. (2015). The Apathy Evaluation Scale: a comparison of subject, infotmant, and clinician report in congnitively normal elderly and Mild Cognitive Impariment. Journal of Alzheimer's Disease, vol. 47, no. 2, pp. 421-432.

Guerrera, C.S., Furneri, G., Grasso, M., Caruso, G., Castellano, S., Drago, F., Di Nuovo, S., & Caraci, F. (2020). Antidepressant Drugs and Physical Activity: A Possible Synergism in the Treatment of Major Depression? Front. Psychol.; 11:857.

Guimarães, H. C., Levy, R., Teixeira, A. L., Beato, R. G., & Caramelli P. (2008). Neurobiology of apathy in Alzheimer's Disease. Arq Neuropsiquiatr; 66 (2-B): 436-443.

Guo, T., Noble, W., & Hanger, D. P. (2017). Roles of tau protein in health and disease. Acta neuropathologica, 133(5), 665-704.

Hamilton, M., 1960. A rating scale for depression. Journal of Neurology, Neurosurgery & Psychiatry. 23, 56.

Hardy J. (2009) The amyloid hypothesis for Alzheimer's disease: a critical reappraisal. J Neurochem. Aug;110(4):1129-34.

Herrera, E. Jr, Caramelli, P., Silveira A.S., & Nitrini, R. (2002) Epidemiologic survey of dementia in a community-dwelling Brazilian population. Alzheimer Dis Assoc Disord; 16: 103-108.

Hirtz, D., Thurman, D.J., Gwinn-Hardy, K., Mohamed, M., Chaudhuri, A.R., & Zalutsky, R. (2007). How common are the "common" neurologic disorders? Neurology; 68: 326-337.

Howard R, McShane R, Lindesay J, et al. Nursing home placement in the donepezil and memantine in moderate to severe Alzheimer's disease (DOMINOAD) trial: secondary and post-hoc analyses. Lancet Neurol. 2015;14:1171-1181.

Hu M., Shu X., Wu X., Chen F., Hu H., Zhang J., Yan P., Feng H. (2020). Neuropsychiatric symptoms as prognostic makers for the elderly with mild cognitive impairment: a meta-analysis. J Affect Disord, 15;271:185-192.

Iqbal, K., Liu, F., Gong, C. X., & Grundke-Iqbal, I. (2010). Tau in Alzheimer disease and related tauopathies. Current Alzheimer Research, 7(8), 656-664.

Ishii S., Weintraub N., Mervis J.R. (2009). Apathy: a common psychiatric syndrome in the elderly. Journal of the American Medical Directors Association, 10, 6, July, 381-393.

Jack Jr, C. R., Bennett, D. A., Blennow, K., Carrillo, M. C., Dunn, B., Haeberlein, S. B., ... & Silverberg, N. (2018). NIA-AA research framework: toward a biological definition of Alzheimer's disease. Alzheimer's & Dementia, 14(4), 535-562.

Kinney, J. W., Bemiller, S. M., Murtishaw, A. S., Leisgang, A. M., Salazar, A. M., & Lamb, B. T. (2018). Inflammation as a central mechanism in Alzheimer's disease. Alzheimer's & Dementia: Translational Research & Clinical Interventions, 4, 575-590.

Kishita N, Backhouse T, Mioshi E. Nonpharmacological interventions to improve depression, anxiety, and quality of life (QoL) in people with dementia: an overview of systematic reviews. J Geriatr Psychiatry Neurol. 2019;33: 28-41.

Kitazawa, M., Oddo, S., Yamasaki, T. R., Green, K. N., & LaFerla, F. M. (2005). Lipopolysaccharide-induced inflammation exacerbates tau pathology by a cyclindependent kinase 5-mediated pathway in a transgenic model of Alzheimer's disease. Journal of Neuroscience, 25(39), 8843-8853.

Kitazawa, M., Yamasaki, T. R., & LaFerla, F. M. (2004). Microglia as a Potential Bridge between the Amyloid β -Peptide and Tau. Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences, 1035(1), 85-103.

Lanctôt, K.L. et al. (2008). Apathy associated with Alzheimer disease: use of dextroamphetamine challenge. The American Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry. Jul.; 16 (7):551-7.

Lanctôt, KL (2017) Apathy associated with neurocognitive disorders: Recent progress and future directions. The Journal Of Alzherimer's Association, Jan; 13(1):84-100.

Larner A. J. (2018). Dementia in Clinical Practice: A Neurological Perspective. New York, NY: Springer International Publishing.

Lippens, G., Sillen, A., Landrieu, I., Amniai, L., Sibille, N., Barbier, P., ... & Wieruszeski, J. M. (2007). Tau aggregation in Alzheimer's disease: what role for phosphorylation?. Prion, 1(1), 21-25.

Liss J.L., Seleri Assunção S., Cummings J., Atri A., Geldmacher D.S., Candela S.F., Devanand D.P., Fillit H.M., Susman J., Mintzer J., Bittner T., Brunton S.A., Kerwin D.R., Jackson W.C., Small G.W., Grossberg G.T., Clevenger C.K., Cotter V., Stefanacci R., Wise-Brown A., Sabbagh M.N. (2021). Practical recommendations for timely, accurate diagnosis of symptomatic Alzheimer's disease (MCI and dementia) in primary care: a review and synthesis. J Intern Med, 290(2):310-334.

Logsdon, R. G., Gibbons, L. E., McCurry, S. M., & Teri, L. (2002). Assessing quality of life in older adults with cognitive impairment. Psychosomatic medicine, 64(3), 510-519.

Lopez O.L., Jagust W.J., Dulberg C., Becker J.T., DeKosky S.T., Fitzpatrick A., Breitner J., Lyketsos C., Jones B., Kawas C., Carlson M., Kuller L.H. (2003). Risk factors for mild cognitive impairment in the Cardiovascular Health Study Cognition Study: part 2. Arch Neurol,60(10);1394-1399.

Ma, L. (2020). Depression, anxiety, and apathy in mild cognitive impairment: current perspectives. Frontiers in aging neuroscience, 12, 9.

Maccioni, R. B., Farías, G., Morales, I., & Navarrete, L. (2010). The revitalized tau hypothesis on Alzheimer's disease. Archives of medical research, 41(3), 226-231.

Maci,T., Pira, F.L., Quattrocchi, G., Di Nuovo, S., Perciavalle, V., & Zappia, M. (2012). Physical and cognitive stimulation in Alzheimer disease. The GAIA project: a pilot study. Am J Alzheimers Dis Other Demen.; 27(2):107-113.

Madsen, K.B. (1973) Theories of Motivation. In: B. Wolman (E.d.). Handbook of Psychology. Prentice-Hall, New Jersey.

Magni, E., Binetti, G., Padovani, A., Cappa, S. F., Bianchetti, A., & Trabucchi, M. (1996). The Mini-Mental State Examination in Alzheimer's disease and multi-infarct dementia. International Psychogeriatrics, 8(1), 127-134.

Mammarella I.C., Toso C., Pazzaglia F., Cornoldi C. (2008), BVS – Corsi Batteria per la valutazione della memoria visiva e spaziale. Erickson, Trento.

Marin, R. S. (1991). Apathy: A neuropsychiatric syndrome. The Journal of Neuropsychiatry and Clinical Neurosciences, 3(3), 243-254.

Marin, R. S., Biedrzycki, R. C., & Firinciogullari, S. (1991). Reliability and validity of the Apathy Evaluation Scale. Psychiatry research, 38(2), 143-162.

Marin, R.S. (1990) Differential diagnosis and classification of apathy. American Journal of Psychiatry, 147, 22-30.

Marin, R.S. et al. (1993). The sources of convergence between measures of apathy and depression. Journal of Affective Disorders, 28 (1993) 7-14.

Marin, R.S., Biedrzycki, R.C., Firinciogullari, M.S. (1991). Reliability and Validity of the Apathy Evaluation Scale. Psychiatry Res. 38, 143-162.

Martin E., Velayudhan L. (2020). Neuropsychiatric Symptoms in Mild Cognitive Impairment: A Literature Review. Dement Geriatr Cogn Disord, 49:146-155

Measso, G., Cavarzeran, F., Zappalà, G., Lebowitz, B. D., Crook, T. H., Pirozzolo, F. J., ... & Grigoletto, F. (1993). The mini-mental state examination: Normative study of an Italian random sample. Developmental neuropsychology, 9(2), 77-85.

Mitchell, A. J., & Shiri-Feshki, M. (2009). Rate of progression of mild cognitive impairment to dementia–meta-analysis of 41 robust inception cohort studies. Acta psychiatrica scandinavica, 119(4), 252-265.

Mitchell, R.A., Herrmann, N., & L. Lanctôt, K.L. (2011). The Role of Dopamine in Symptoms and Treatment of Apathy in Alzheimer's Disease. CNS Neurosci Ther.; Oct; 17(5): 411–427.

Mizukami, K. (2013). Alzheimer's disease and depression. Seishin shinkeigaku zasshi= Psychiatria et neurologia Japonica, 115(11), 1122-1126.

Moreno-Morales, C., Calero, R., Moreno-Morales, P., & Pintado, C. (2020). Music therapy in the treatment of dementia: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Frontiers in medicine, 7, 160.

Moretti, R.; Signori, R. Neural Correlates for Apathy: Frontal-Prefrontal and Parietal Cortical- Subcortical Circuits. Front. Aging Neurosci. 2016, 8, 289.

Murrough, J. W., Iacoviello, B., Neumeister, A., Charney, D. S., and Iosifescu, D. V. (2011). Cognitive dysfunction in depression: neurocircuitry and new therapeutic strategies. Neurobiol. Learn. Mem. 96, 553–563.

Na, R, Yang JH, Yeom Y, et al. A systematic review and meta-analysis of nonpharmacological interventions for moderate to severe dementia. Psychiatry Investig. 2019;16:325-335.

Nasreddine Z.S., Phillips N.A., Bédirian V., Charbonneau S., Whitehead V., Collin I., Cummings J.L., Chertkow H. (2005). The Montreal Cognitive Assessment, MoCA: a brief screening tool for mild cognitive impairment. J Am Geriatr Soc,53(4):695-9.

Novais, F., & Starkstein, S. (2015). Phenomenology of depression in Alzheimer's disease. Journal of Alzheimer's Disease, 47(4), 845-855.

Novak, M., & Guest, C. (1989). Application of a multidimensional caregiver burden inventory. The gerontologist, 29(6), 798-803.

O'brien, R. J., & Wong, P. C. (2011). Amyloid precursor protein processing and Alzheimer's disease. Annual review of neuroscience, 34, 185-204.

Olin, J.T. et al. (2002). Provisional diagnostic criteria for depression of Alzheimer's disease: rationale and backgroud. The American Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry, 10, 2, March–April, 129-141.

Ownby, R. L., Crocco, E., Acevedo, A., John, V., & Loewenstein, D. (2006). Depression and risk for Alzheimer disease: systematic review, meta-analysis, and metaregression analysis. Archives of general psychiatry, 63(5), 530-538.

Ozben, T., & Ozben, S. (2019). Neuro-inflammation and anti-inflammatory treatment options for Alzheimer's disease. Clinical biochemistry, 72, 87-89.

Padala, P.R., Frederick, P., Subhash C.B. (2005). Methylphenitadate may treat apathy indipendent of depression. The annals of Pharmacotherapy, nov., vol. 39, 1947.

Perri R., Turchetta C.S., Caruso G., Fadda L., Caltagirone C., Carlesimo G.A. (2018). Neuropsychological correlates of cognitive, emotional-affective and autoactivation apathy in Alzheimer's disease. Neuropsychologia, 118(Pt B):12-21

Petersen R.C. 1995. Normal aging, mild cognitive impairment, and early Alzheimer's disease. Neurologist, 1, 326-344.

Petersen R.C. 2004. Challenges of Epidemiological Studies of Mild Cognitive Impairment. Alzheimer Disease and Associated Disorders, 18, 1, 3-10.

Petersen, R. C. (2004). Mild cognitive impairment as a diagnostic entity. Journal of internal medicine, 256(3), 183-194.

Petersen, R. C. (2010). Alzheimer's disease: progress in prediction. The Lancet. Neurology, 9(1), 4-5.

Petersen, R. C., Caracciolo, B., Brayne, C., Gauthier, S., Jelic, V., & Fratiglioni, L. (2014). Mild cognitive impairment: a concept in evolution. Journal of internal medicine, 275(3), 214-228.

Petersen, R. C., Roberts, R. O., Knopman, D. S., Boeve, B. F., Geda, Y. E., Ivnik, R. J., ... & Jack, C. R. (2009). Mild cognitive impairment: ten years later. Archives of neurology, 66(12), 1447-1455.

Pink, A. et al. (2015). Neuropsychiatric symptoms, APOE ε4, and the risk of incident dementia. A population-based study. American Academy of Neurology, March 03, 84 (9)

Pinto T.C.C., Machado L., Bulgacov T.M., Rodrigues-Júnior A.L., Costa M.L.G., Ximenes R.C.C., Sougey E.B. (2019). Is the Montreal Cognitive Assessment (MoCA) screening superior to the Mini-Mental State Examination (MMSE) in the detection of mild cognitive impairment (MCI) and Alzheimer's Disease (AD) in the elderly? Int Psychogeriatr, (4):491-504.

Pirani A., Antonelli Incalzi R., Biggio G. et al. (2020). L'approccio al paziente con declino cognitivo lieve: risultati di un'indagine in Medicina Generale. Rivista SIMG, 27(5):9-18.

Rabbito, A., Dulewicz, M., Kulczyńska-Przybik, A., & Mroczko, B. (2020). Biochemical markers in Alzheimer's disease. International journal of molecular sciences, 21(6), 1989.

Randolf, C. et al. (1998) The Repeteable Battery for the Assessment of Neuropsychological Status: Preliminary Clinical Validity. Journal of Clinical and Experimental Neuropsychology, vol. 20, 3, 310-319.

Raven J.C. 1947. Progressive Matrices 1947, H.K. Lewis, London. Tr. it. Progressive Matrices 1947, Serie A, Ab, B. O.S., Firenze, 1954 (ed. rev. 1984)

Raven J.C. 1954. Guide to using Progressive Matrices. H.K. Lewis, London.

Ready, R. E., Ott, B. R., Grace, J., & Fernandez, I. (2002). The Cornell-Brown scale for quality of life in dementia. Alzheimer Disease & Associated Disorders, 16(2), 109-115.

Resnick, B.; Zimmerman, S.I.; Magaziner, J.; Adelman, A. Use of the Apathy Evaluation Scale as a Measure of Motivation in Elderly People. Rehabil. Nurs. 1998, 23, 141–147.

Rey A. (1958). L'examen clinique en psychologie, Presses Universitaires de France, Paris.

Rey A. (1959). Test de copie d'une figure complexe. Paris: Presses Universitaires de France. Tr.it. Reattivo della figura complessa. O.S., Firenze, 1968.

Robert, P et al. (2009). Proposed diagnostic criteria for apathy in Alzehimer's disease and other neuropsychiatric disorders. European Psychiatry, 24, 98-104.

Robert, P., Ferris, S., Gauthier, S., Ihl, R., Winblad, B., & Tennigkeit, F. (2010). Review of Alzheimer's disease scales: is there a need for a new multi-domain scale for therapy evaluation in medical practice?. Alzheimer's research & therapy, 2(4), 1-13.

Roberts R.O., Knopman D.S., Geda Y.E., Cha R.H., Roger V.L., Petersen R.C. (2010). Coronary heart disease is associated with non-amnestic mild cognitive impairment. Neurobiol Aging,31(11):1894-902.

Roberts, R., & Knopman, D. S. (2013). Classification and epidemiology of MCI. Clinics in geriatric medicine, 29(4), 753-772.

Rosenberg, P.B. (2013). Safety and Efficacy of Methylphenidate for Apathy in Alzheimer's Disease: A Randomized, Placebo-Controlled Trial. The Journal of Clinical Psychiatry, 74(8):810-816.

Rountree SD, Atri A, Lopez OL, Doody RS. Effectiveness of antidementia drugs in delaying Alzheimer disease progression. Alzheimers Dement. 2013;9: 338-345.

Ruslan, L. et al. (2013). More insight into the concept of apathy: a multidisciplinary depression management program has different effects on depressive symptoms and apathy in nursing home. International Psychogeriatric Association, 25:12, 1941-1952.

Ruthirakuhan MT, Herrmann N, Abraham EH, Chan S, Lanctôt KL. (2018) Pharmacological interventions for apathy in Alzheimer's disease. Cochrane Database Syst Rev, May 4;5:CD012197.

Sadigh-Eteghad, S., Sabermarouf, B., Majdi, A., Talebi, M., Farhoudi, M., & Mahmoudi, J. (2015). Amyloid-beta: a crucial factor in Alzheimer's disease. Medical principles and practice, 24(1), 1-10.

Salomone, S., Caraci, F., Leggio, G. M., Fedotova, J., & Drago, F. (2012). New pharmacological strategies for treatment of Alzheimer's disease: focus on disease modifying drugs. British journal of clinical pharmacology, 73(4), 504-517.

Santangelo, G., Siciliano, M., Pedone, R., Vitale, C., Falco, F., Bisogno, R., ... & Trojano, L. (2015). Normative data for the Montreal Cognitive Assessment in an Italian population sample. Neurological Sciences, 36(4), 585-591.

Scheltens P, Blennow K, Breteler MMB, et al. Alzheimer's disease. Lancet. 2016;388:505-517.

Selkoe, D. J. (1994). Normal and abnormal biology of the beta-amyloid precursor protein. Annual review of neuroscience, 17(1), 489-517.

Selkoe, D. J., & Hardy, J. (2016). The amyloid hypothesis of Alzheimer's disease at 25 years. EMBO molecular medicine, 8(6), 595-608.

Sica, C. et coll. (2008). Coping Orientation to Problems Experienced - Nuova Versione Italiana (COPE-NVI): uno strumento per la misura degli stili di coping. Psicoterapia cognitiva e comportamentale, 1, 27-53.

Simić, G., Babić Leko, M., Wray, S., Harrington, C., Delalle, I., Jovanov-Milošević, N., ... & Hof, P. R. (2016). Tau protein hyperphosphorylation and aggregation in Alzheimer's disease and other tauopathies, and possible neuroprotective strategies. Biomolecules, 6(1), 6.

Song D., Zhou J., Ma J., Chang J., Qiu Y., Zhuang Z., Xiao H., Zeng L. (2021). Sleep disturbance mediates the relationship between depressive symptoms and cognitive function in older adults with mild cognitive impairment, Geriatric Nursing, 42(Issue5):1019-1023

Sperling et al. (2011). Toward defining the preclinical stages of Alzheimer's disease: Recommendations from the National Institute on Aging-Alzheimer's Association workgroups on diagnostic guidelines for Alzheimer's disease. Alzheimer's & Dementia, 7, 3, May, 280-292

Spìndola L., Brucki S.M. (2011). Prospective memory in alzheimer's disease and mild cognitive impairment.Dement Neuropsychol,5:64–8.

Spinnler H., Tognoni G. (1987). Standardizzazione e taratura italiana di test neuropsicologici. Ital J Neurol Sci, 8[Suppl]:1–120.

Subramanyam A., Singh S. (2016). Mild cognitive decline: Concept, types, presentation, and management. J. Geriatr. Ment. Health, 3:10–20.

Szeto, YY., J., & JG Lewis, S. (2016). Current treatment options for Alzheimer's disease and Parkinson's disease dementia. Current neuropharmacology, 14(4), 326-338.

Taylor, W. D. (2014). Clinical practice. Depression in the elderly. N. Engl. J. Med. 371, 1228–1236. doi: 10.1056/NEJMcp1402180

Tiwari, S., Atluri, V., Kaushik, A., Yndart, A., & Nair, M. (2019). Alzheimer's disease: pathogenesis, diagnostics, and therapeutics. International journal of nanomedicine, 14, 5541.

Tricco AC, Ashoor HM, Soobiah C, et al. Comparative effectiveness and safety of cognitive enhancers for treating Alzheimer's disease: systematic review and network metaanalysis. J Am Geriatr Soc. 2018;66:170-178.

Trosi A. et al. (1993). Assessment of depression in Alzheimer's disease: symptoms, syndrome, and computed tomography findings. Dementia and Geriatric cognitive disorders, 4:87-93.

Vaughan, L., Corbin, A. L., and Goveas, J. S. (2015). Depression and frailty in later life: a systematic review. Clin. Intervent. Aging 10:1947.

Villemagne, V. L., Burnham, S., Bourgeat, P., Brown, B., Ellis, K. A., Salvado, O., ... & Masters, C. L. (2013). Amyloid β deposition, neurodegeneration, and cognitive decline in sporadic Alzheimer's disease: a prospective cohort study. The Lancet Neurology, 12(4), 357-367.

Waldermar, G. et al. (2011). Effect of donepezil on emergence of apathy in mild to moderate Alzheimer's disease. International Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry. 26, 2, February, 150-157.

Wang, B., Guo Q., Zhao Q., Hong Z. (2012). Memory deficits fornon-amnestic mild cognitive impairment. J Neuropsychol, 6:232–41.

Wechsler D. (1981), Manual for the Wechsler Adult Intelligence Scale- Revised. Psychological Corporation, New York.

Winblad, B., et al. (1999) Donepezil enhances global function, cognition and activities of daily living compared with placebo in a one-year, double-blind trial in patients with mild to moderate Alzheimer's disease. Paper presented at: Ninth Congress of the International Psychogeriatric Association. Vancouver, Canada; Aug;:15–20.

Winblad, B., Frisoni, G. B., Frolich, L., Johannsen, P., Johansson, G., Kehoe, P., Lovestone, S., Olde-Rikkert, M., Reynish, E., Vasser, P.J., & Vellas, B. (2008). EADC

(European Alzheimer Disease Consortium) recommandations for future Alzheimer disease research in Europe. Journal of Nutrition, Health and Aging; 12: 10; 683-684.

Yaffe K. (2018). Modifiable Risk Factors and Prevention of Dementia: What Is the Latest Evidence? JAMA Intern Med, 178(2):281-282.

Yiannopoulou KG, Papageorgiou SG. Current and future treatments for Alzheimer's disease. Ther Adv Neurol Disord. 2013;6:19-33.

Yiannopoulou, K. G., & Papageorgiou, S. G. (2020). Current and future treatments in Alzheimer disease: an update. Journal of central nervous system disease, 12, 1179573520907397.

Zeisel, J., Reisberg, B., Whitehouse, P., Woods, R., & Verheul, A. (2016). Ecopsychosocial inter-ventions in cognitive decline and dementia: a new terminologyand a new paradigm. Am J Alzheimers Dis Other Demen; 31: 502–507.

Zuchella, C., Sinforiani, E., Tamburin, S., Federico, A., Mantovani, E., Bernini, S., Casale, R., & Bartolo, M. (2018). The multidisciplinary approach to Alzheimer's disease and dementia. A narrative review of non-pharmacological treatment. Front Neurol; 13; 9:1058